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This year has been one of tremendous achievement in the face 
of unprecedented challenges. Never before in its history has the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts experienced such dynamic growth:

ፚፚ spectacular increase in attendance (two consecutive years with 
more than 700,000 visitors);

ፚፚ a record number of members (more than doubled in 30 months, 
from 36,000 in January 2011 to 65,794 members as of March 31, 
2013, and more than 75,000 members at the time this report was 
written – the largest in Quebec and second-largest in Canada);

ፚፚ enthusiastic response to the Museum’s expanded and renovated 
Studios Art & Education Michel de la Chenelière – 20,000 parents 
and children flocked to our new Family Lounge (whereas 5,000 
took part in our educational activities the previous year); and 
60,000 students participated in our programme versus 45,000 
students before the opening of the Studios, representing 70% of 
the attendance goals set in our development plan for 2017;

ፚፚ and 165,180 people took part in our educational programmes and 
activities, compared to 130,063 in 2011-2012, a 28% increase;

ፚፚ a strong presence on the international scene, with the exhib-
ition The Fashion World of Jean Paul Gaultier presented in three 
European and North American cities and three new scholarly 
publications distributed at home and around the world;

ፚፚ and the addition to our collection of close to 900 works with a 
value of close to $19 million.

These achievements are the result of the hard work and creativity 
of the Museum team, led by Nathalie Bondil, supported by Paul 
Lavallée, Danielle Champagne and other dedicated members of 
the Museum family. On behalf of the Museum’s members and the 
Montreal community I want to thank and congratulate them for 
what they have accomplished.

I would also like to acknowledge the unstinting commitment of 
our more than 400 volunteers, who are an integral part of the 
Museum’s success. In particular, I wish to recognize the members 
of the Volunteer Association, whose annual Ball this year generated 
net proceeds of $1.1 M; our 157 active Volunteer Guides, who this 
year provided guided tours to 44,831 visitors, a number which grew 
by 25% from the prior year; and my fellow Trustees, who support the 
Museum in so many ways.

The collectors who donate their works to the Museum so that the 
public can enjoy them deserve special mention. There are too many 
to name individually, but to all of them, my sincere thanks. The Museum 
has extremely limited funds available for acquisitions. Gifts of works of 
art represent the sole avenue for enriching the Museum’s collection.

A highlight of this year was the finalization of the generous gift 
by Michal and Renata Hornstein of their magnificent collection 
which covers several centuries from the Renaissance to the dawn 
of modern art, a remarkable group of works, mainly from the Golden 
Age of Dutch and Flemish paintings (seventeenth century). The other 
highlight was the unveiling of the design of a pavilion to house 
the Hornstein collection, by Quebec Premier Pauline Marois, who 
said, “An incredible jewel is being added to our city’s cultural crown 
with the decision of Michal and Renata Hornstein to offer the MMFA 
their collection of Old Masters. I would like to thank Michal and Renata 
for giving Montrealers and Quebecers of all ages and all walks of life ac-
cess to these works….” This donation, valued at almost $75 million, is 
the largest private donation in the modern history of Quebec museums 
and one of the largest ever in Canada. Recognized by international 
specialists, it is an unequalled national treasure. A special thank you!

Manon Asselin Architecte in consortium with Jodoin Lamarre 
Pratte & Associés will design the new pavilion. The design has 
already had the honour of being selected for the international 
exhibition Atlas of the Unbuilt World, organized by the British 
Council and held during the 2013 London Festival of Architecture 
at the Bartlett School of Architecture this past June. We are grateful 
to the Quebec government for supporting the pavilion by agreeing 
to grant the MMFA $18.5 million in the context of celebrations for 
Montreal’s 375th anniversary in 2017. The Quebec government’s con-
tribution will pay for construction costs; the new pavilion’s additional 
operating costs will be assumed entirely by the private sector, using 
the same model as for the Claire and Marc Bourgie Pavilion of Quebec 
and Canadian Art. Including the value of the Hornstein donation, the 
private sector is assuming more than 85% of the total project cost.

The new pavilion will be built on Bishop Street, south of the Jean-
Noël Desmarais Pavilion, to which it will be linked. The estimated 
gross surface area is approximately 3,400 m2. It will also feature an 
entrance for adult and school groups where access will have been 
designed especially for these types of visitors and where wider side-
walks will be installed to accommodate the many school buses.

A HISTORIC 
DYNAMISM

Brian M. Levitt
Chairman of the Board
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The new pavilion will enable the Museum to further expand 
its educational facilities, thanks to a further generous gift by 
Michel de la Chenelière. The Museum’s focus on development and 
expansion of its educational programming exemplifies its sense of 
responsibility as a civic institution towards the community in general 
and youth and special needs groups in particular. 

To carry out all of these projects, which contribute to the vitality 
and well-being of the Montreal community and Quebec society, the 
Museum must be able to rely on the generosity of all of its partners 
if it is to make a real difference – and this includes governments. We 
rely on government for about 50% of our operating revenues, far and 
away the lowest portion of any large museum in Quebec and one of 
the lowest in Canada. After decades of stagnation, the level of sup-
port from Quebec was cut by over half a million dollars this year (and 
a cut of $760,000 already announced for 2013-2014), an amount 
which caused us to incur a material operating deficit for the first time 

in many years. For fiscal 2012-2013, the deficit is $557,446 (given the 
December 2012 announcement, four months before the end of the 
fiscal year, of a $550,000 cut to the grant). In addition, $2 million of 
grant revenues for specific projects, such as maintaining our assets 
and reinstalling the permanent collection, were not renewed. These 
budget cuts “cancel out” the fund-raising carried out for the operating 
costs of the new Claire and Marc Bourgie Pavilion. After decades of 
belt-tightening and staff reductions, there is no further opportunity for 
the Museum to absorb these cuts without major reductions in the con-
tribution it makes to Montreal and Quebec society through its exhib-
itions, educational activities and permanent collection. We are actively 
working to make our case with the Quebec Government to avoid this.

Every year, the Museum is a source of civic pride, enjoyment and edu-
cation to the hundreds of thousands of Montrealers associated with 
it as members, employees, volunteers and visitors. We are committed 
to see that this continues.  ■

▲
The Fifth Pavilion Project
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During this fiscal year, in December 2012, in the presence of Maka 
Kotto, Quebec Minister of Culture and Communications, the Museum 
invited the architects of Quebec to participate in an architectural 
competition for the future pavilion of international art. The Minister 
said that the Museum was looking for “Quebec creators who would 
be able to respect museological imperatives of conservation and 
presentation while developing an original proposal that respected 
the technical, environmental and budget constraints.”

Twenty architectural firms with a Montreal office took part in the 
competition. The jury included three members of the MMFA (Brian 
M. Levitt, Chairman of the Board; Nathalie Bondil, Director and Chief 
Curator; and Bruce McNiven, Chairman of the Buildings, Maintenance 
and Security Advisory Committee) and five independent architects 
(Clément Demers, Thomas Fontaine, Jean Claude Marsan, Philippe 
Poulin and Mario Saïa, who acted as chairman). The jury selected 
three finalists based on the evaluation of their files. The main selection 
criteria evaluated at this first stage were the candidate’s design skills 
and the experience of his or her team and proven ability to adhere to 
budgets. Through this competition, the MMFA wishes to contribute to 
the architectural quality of Montreal, a UNESCO City of Design. 

The jury unanimously selected Manon Asselin Architecte, and Jodoin 
Lamarre Pratte & Associés in consortium, whom we congratulate for 
this project that will enhance our city’s beauty. The Museum would 
also like to underscore the professionalism of the architectural firms 
FABG and Saucier + Perrotte, the other finalists of this architectural 
competition, who also presented very imaginative projects during the 
second part of the competition.

፛፛ MANON ASSELIN, ARCHITECT
Manon Asselin is co-founder of the young Montreal-based archi-
tectural firm Atelier TAG with her partner, Katsuhiro Yamazaki. The 
agency is particularly interested in space that generates experiences 
and in the potential of the material culture to stimulate the collective 
imagination. Their work has garnered awards for merit with envi-
able regularity both nationally and internationally: two Medals from 
the Governor General of Canada (2006), the Prix de Rome from 
the Canada Council for the Arts (2008), the New York League of 
Architecture Emerging Voices Award (2012) and a recent nomination 
for the International Iakov Chernikov Prize in conceptual architec-
ture (2013). Through its participation in architectural competitions 
since 1997, Atelier TAG has become a major actor in the culture of 
architecture in Quebec. Manon Asselin also pursues her research and 
creations as a professor of architecture at the Faculty of Design at the 
University of Montreal.

፛፛ PAULINE MAROIS, QUeBEC Premier
	 Excerpts from the Speech Given at the Project Unveiling 
	 (MMFA’s translation)
“An incredible jewel is being added to our city’s cultural crown with 
the decision of Michal and Renata Hornstein to offer the MMFA their 
collection of Old Masters. I would like to thank Michal and Renata 
for giving Montrealers and Quebecers of all ages and all walks of life 
access to these works… Today, the long-awaited moment is finally 
here. We will discover a new building that will soon be part of our 
Montreal cityscape… People will walk in front of it, sometimes with-
out even realizing it, children will come here to discover magnificent 
works, all this for decades to come. I would like to salute all those 
talented firms who presented a concept. But above all, I would like 
to congratulate Manon Asselin and her colleagues. You have created 
a very prestigious building. It is spectacular, but elegant. Daring, but 
noble. I would like to tell you, in fact, that the images alone of this 
new pavilion moved me. You have designed a building that will let 
the seasons in. People will be able to discover and rediscover the 
magnificent works of foreign painters under the subtle lighting of 
our winters and the bright sunlight of our summers. In this place, 
the genius of the Old Masters of painting will meet the vision of 
Quebec masters of architecture. I cannot imagine a more beautiful 
celebration of the human spirit! I am proud, very proud that this 
construction project is being made possible through a contribution 
of the Quebec government.”

SOON TO BE THE LARGEST  
ART MUSEUM COMPLEX IN QUEBEC

With the addition of the Fifth Pavilion, the MMFA will cover 
a very large area totalling 48,527 m2, including 13,000 m2 of 
exhibition space. It will thus become the eighteenth largest art 
museum in North America, according to statistics compiled in 
2013 by the Association of Art Museum Directors (AAMD).

Total surface area: 522,342 sq. ft. (48,527 m2)
Total exhibition area: 140,000 sq. ft. (13,000 m2)

ፚፚ Michal and Renata Hornstein Pavilion (1912) 
59,696 sq. ft. (5,546 m2)

ፚፚ Liliane and David M. Stewart Pavilion (1976) 
103,441 sq. ft. (9,610 m2)

ፚፚ Jean-Noël Desmarais Pavilion (1991) 
241,316 sq. ft. (22,419 m2)

ፚፚ Claire and Marc Bourgie Pavilion (2011)  
58,760 sq. ft. (5,460 m2)

ፚፚ Fifth Pavilion (2017) 
37,246 sq. ft. (3,460 m2)

ፚፚ Sculpture Garden 
21,883 sq. ft. (2,033 m2)

AN ARCHITECTURAL COMPETITION FOR THE FIFTH PAVILION

▲
1. 
Brian M. Levitt, Nathalie Bondil, 
Michal Hornstein and Maka Kotto.
Photo Pierre Longtin
2. 
Pauline Marois and Manon Asselin.
Photo Pierre Longtin

1. 2.
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፛፛ THOMAS BAILLAIRGÉ AWARD 
FROM THE ORDRE DES ARCHITECTES DU QUÉBEC
The Museum was recognized for improving the city’s architectural and cultur-
al framework, notably the preservation of the Erskine and American Church, 
which has become the Claire and Marc Bourgie Pavilion.

፛፛ THE ONTARIO ASSOCIATION OF ARCHITECTS AWARD 
The Museum’s Claire and Marc Bourgie Pavilion was honoured with an Ontario 
Association of Architects’ 2013 Design Excellence Award. Fifteen newly built pro-
jects in Toronto, Montreal, Los Angeles, Tel Aviv, Waterloo and Vancouver were 
selected from among more than 170 candidates. The winning projects were 
chosen by a jury of peers from the design community according to the following 
criteria: creativity, context, sustainability, good design/good business and legacy.

፛፛ ARCHITECTURAL HERITAGE AWARD  
FROM THE CITY OF MONTREAL
The MMFA and the firm of Provencher Roy + Associés Architectes received the 
prize for architectural integration for the new Claire and Marc Bourgie Pavilion.

፛፛ CANADIAN MUSEUMS ASSOCIATION (CMA) AWARD
The Museum won the Award of Outstanding Achievement in Facility Development 
and Design at the Canadian Museums Association’s annual National Conference.

፛፛ AWARD FOR EXCELLENCE  
FROM THE SOCIÉTÉ DES MUSÉES QUÉBÉCOIS (SMQ)
The SMQ’s prizes are intended to acknowledge, stimulate and reward exellence 
in museum practices in Quebec. The MMFA was awarded the 2012 Award for 
Excellence in Group 1 of the institutional category for the new Claire and Marc 
Bourgie Pavilion of Quebec and Canadian Art.

፛፛ Award for International Influence 
Tourisme Montréal
Tourisme Montréal’s Award for International Influence acknowledges a cultural 
organization or an artist whose activities contribute substantially to Montreal’s 
international reputation. A jury awards this prize each year to a cultural organiz-
ation or an artist whose activities contribute substantially to persuading tourists 
from around the world to come and spend time in our city.

THE CLAIRE AND MARC BOURGIE PAVILION OF QUEBEC AND CANADIAN ART garners acclaim…

The construction of the new Claire and Marc 
Bourgie Pavilion of Quebec and Canadian Art 
at the Museum of Fine Arts is an opportunity 
to create a public space of exemplary quality 
that will unify the three pavilions… The idea is 
to view the street and the sidewalks as another 
gallery, a “white backdrop” that highlights the 
works on display. In the disparate, fragmented 
and fast-paced urban environment, the pale 
shade and smooth finish of the widened 
concrete sidewalks, the light colour of the 
furnishings and the white glow of streetlights 
combine to herald the distinct presence of this 
unique part of Sherbrooke Street.

– Architecture Québec

The Montreal Museum of Fine Arts Pavilion of Canadian Art is the ideal place to spend a sweltering 
summer afternoon. Not only is the building, inaugurated less than two years ago, magnificent, but the 
collection, which ranges from Inuit art to the Automatistes by way of Ozias Leduc, Marc-Aurèle Fortin and 
Jean-Paul Riopelle, is absolutely sublime and beautifully displayed. A must for all Montrealers. To be visited 
and revisited, since admission is free.

– La Presse

The architects at Provencher Roy + Associés have come up with a remarkable conversion for a heritage 
church. At a time when the preservation of religious heritage buildings is a challenge all over the world, 
this architectural initiative is exemplary in its field. The challenge was to create a building that would be 
able to display the collections of Quebec and Canadian art, while at the same time establishing a three-
way dialogue – with the church, the Museum’s other pavilions and the city.

– v2com, Montreal

IN THE PRESS…

and articles in specialized publications

REAPING THE REWARDS OF OUR EFFORTS

▶
The Claire and Marc Bourgie Pavilion  

of Quebec and Canadian Art.  
Photo Denis Farley

■	 Jacques Des Rochers. ” Sulpician Cultural Strategies: The Fine Arts .“ In 
Dominique Deslandres, John A. Dickinson, Ollivier Hubert, eds., The Sulpicians 
of Montreal: A History of Power and Discretion, 1657-2007, pp. 549-580. 
Montreal: Wilson & Lafleur, 2013.

■	 Jacques Des Rochers. “Deux œuvres inédites de Frère Luc.” Cap-aux-Diamants, 
Spécial Nouveau coup d’œil sur les arts en Nouvelle-France, no. 110 (summer 
2012), pp. 20-22.

■	 Jacques Des Rochers. “La conversion à la mesure du converti : un cas de figure 
exemplaire dans la Cité, le Musée des beaux-arts de Montréal à son 150e anni-
versaire.” Actes du Colloque Démolition et renouvellement urbain. Congrès 
de l’ACFAS 2012, forthcoming.

■	 Alessandra Mariani. “Dialogue un” [Interview with Nathalie Bondil]. Muséologies, 
vol. 6, no. 1 (2012), pp. 77-99.
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▲
Photo © André Tremblay

▶
The Promenade of the Studios Art & 

Education Michel de la Chenelière,  
with its colourful mobiles designed 

by Paprika and Jim Dine’s sculpture, 
The Heart Called “After the Flood.”

© Jim Dine / SODRAC (2013).  
Photo Denis Farley

The events surrounding the opening of the Claire and Marc Bourgie 
Pavilion of Quebec and Canadian Art and the Bourgie Concert Hall 
were hardly over when, in the spring of 2012, the Museum an-
nounced the major donation by Michal and Renata Hornstein of their 
collection of Old Masters and the building of a new pavilion, the 
fifth, to accommodate these works. Quite the news, in light of the 
reinstallation of the Museum’s collection, beginning in 2009 and in-
volving 43,587 works (including 15,000 graphic works in the new 
reserve that has been accessible to specialists since the summer of 
2009). It all required considerable effort, provided by our team alone, 
who, in addition to the reinstallation, still had to handle all the exhib-
itions and special events. Not once did the Museum close its doors 
to the public, and it continued designing, producing and circulat-
ing its exhibitions. Fiscal 2012-2013 turned out once again to be a 
year of extraordinary activity. First of all, I wish to thank the Museum 
teams, without whom nothing would have been possible. Let us say 
it once again: both personnel and management staff worked so hard 
to achieve these exceptional results at the end of many difficult years, 
during a period of economic slowdown. Thank you to the Directors, 
Danielle Champagne, Paul Lavallée and Jean-Luc Murray, to the ex-
cellent department heads, to the numerous experts and professionals 
who back up our talents and of course to our volunteers, who give 
of their time and expertise with Museum visitors, in the organization 
of fund-raising events and committee work, with Brian M. Levitt, our 
enlightened Chairman of the Board, leading the way.

፛፛ GROWTH FIGURES
Here are a few figures for the exhibitions, in respect of which the load 
continues to increase, along with the pressure on the Museum to be 
self-funding. Our success depends increasingly on the innovation and 
attractiveness of our exhibitions. Since admission to the collection 
remains free, it is up to the major temporary exhibitions to generate 
revenue by selling subscriptions, keeping ticket sales up and main-
taining other services: 

ፚፚ 4 major international exhibitions were presented by the Museum: 
Feininger, Wesselmann, the Clark collection and Peru;

ፚፚ 2 major international exhibitions, initiated and produced by the 
MMFA, opened in Montreal: Wesselmann and Peru;

ፚፚ the Museum directly exported one major production to three 
international metropolises: Jean Paul Gaultier to San Francisco, 
Madrid and Rotterdam (in 2012-2013 alone – a total of ten cities 
will host the show in all);

ፚፚ 7 small and medium-sized exhibitions were presented in our 
galleries;

ፚፚ for a total of 14 productions developed, installed, taken down 
and circulated, for 7 major and 7 mid-sized exhibitions, not 
counting educational presentations.

Several results provide an indicator of remarkable performance, 
growth and productivity, consistent with prior strategic decisions, ef-
forts to accommodate expansion while keeping the Museum open to 
visitors with the same in-house team handling the colossal reinstalla-
tion undertaken (curatorial, archival, conservation, production, main-
tenance and communications), all without additional staff:

ፚፚ For the past five years, the net cost of exhibitions for the 
Museum has dropped by $1 million a year, going from an 
average of $1.8 million a year to some $800,000, a 55% 
decrease. These are the best results in recent decades in terms 
of performance, thanks to the efforts made by the Curatorial 
Department in the design, production and export of our own ex-
hibitions, which have increased in number. It should also be noted 
that exhibition sponsorships in recent years have decreased. This 
is due largely to the donations made by Montreal businesses to 
the Major Fund-raising Campaign run by the Museum for the 
construction of the Pavilion of Quebec and Canadian Art;

ፚፚ In 2012-2013, the net cost of exhibitions was $840,000, which 
is consistent with the remarkable average established over the 
past five years. The budgets for temporary exhibitions are rigor-
ously observed by the Administration Division and the Exhibitions 
Production and Curatorial Departments;

ፚፚ Proactive efforts to seek out partnerships with other museums 
have contributed greatly to improvements in the financial results 
of temporary exhibitions, particularly in the difficult economic 
context of the past year for all museums hit hard by a much 
more competitive market; 

ፚፚ There has been an 82% increase in the number of memberships, 
which rose from 36,000 as of January 4, 2011, to 65,794 as of 
March 31, 2013. At the time of writing this report, there has 
been an increase of over 100%, with a total of 75,000 members; 

ፚፚ For the second year in a row, the Museum has had more than 
700,000 visitors. This past year, 703,539 people crossed the 
Museum’s threshold, for the second highest attendance in its 
history (the record is held by the previous year with 767,098 
visitors). This result was obtained in spite of there being fewer 
downtown visitors due to the disruptions caused by the Maple 
Spring, which affected the first two months of the summer ex-
hibition (June and July); 

ፚፚ Records in education were also shattered, with 59,857 schoolchil-
dren and students, who are increasingly drawn to the Museum’s 
collection (1/3 of overall visitors today versus 1/4 previously);

ፚፚ Accordingly, our Volunteer Guides recorded an increase of 25% 
in their visitors.

The Museum is currently facing a growth challenge requiring har-
monious progression in the management of its human resources 
and the organization of its tasks, particularly since the institution, 
already at full throttle, paradoxically had to absorb a significant 
budget cut in its 2012-2013 budget. The funds associated with the 
operation of the new Claire and Marc Bourgie Pavilion will not be re-
ceived in full until 2017, since many donors to the major campaign 
chose to spread out their payments in light of the economic situation. In 
the meantime, the Museum has compensated, while dealing with larger 
spaces and increased activities. Furthermore, the large increase in the 
number of memberships forces the Museum to resort to other sales and 
communications strategies, in view of the decreased revenue from ticket 
sales for exhibitions. In order to counteract this indirect effect, action has 
been taken to better support communications for our major exhibitions 
– new media and website – whose receipts are essential to the sound 
health of the MMFA in an ever more competitive environment.  ►

Nathalie Bondil
Director and Chief Curator

THE MUSEUM  
(R)EVOLUTION GOES ON 
THE CHALLENGES OF EXCEPTIONAL GROWTH
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EDUCATION Continues to flourish 
CONSOLIDATING MUSEUM GROWTH
Educational offerings DOUBLED TODAY, TRIPLED TOMORROW 

፛፛ AN OUTSTANDING PATRON OF THE ARTS
Just two years ago, the Museum could no longer meet the demand 
from schools and families, for lack of means and space. So we cre-
ated an Education Committee to which we assigned the “twelve 
labours of Hercules.” One year later, Michel de la Chenelière became 
our saviour when, in his words, he decided to “get education out of 
the Museum’s basement.” The Founder of Chenelière Éducation, a 
textbook publisher, he explained, “At school I didn’t get a chance to 
study art. After a long professional career in the world of textbook 
and academic publishing, I felt the need to catch up in the world of 
fine art and try and make up for some of the shortcomings in school 
programmes. The Montreal Museum of Fine Arts seemed to me to 
be an ideal playing field to help provide children and teenagers with 
better access to the exceptional works of a magnificent encyclopedic 
collection. Access to works of art fosters reflection and imagination, 
sources of balance and self-confidence that are also important fac-
tors in academic success.”

As the new Chairman of the Education Committee, created in 2011, 
he replaced Isabelle Marcoux, who first chaired the Committee and 
whom we warmly thank. An exceptional patron of the arts and an 
enthusiastic expert in the school environment, Mr. de la Chenelière 
has undertaken to remain at our side for the long haul. Thanks to 
his decisive support, we were able to start construction of our new 
educational facilities and development of our new programmes in 
September 2011.

፛፛ THE NEW STUDIOS ART & EDUCATION  
MICHEL DE LA CHENELIÈRE

Inaugurated in September 2012, these new facilities have al-
most doubled the space (from 900 m2 to 1,500 m2) allocated to 
educational activities and presentations. Access to them is free 
of charge at all times. They have been entirely rethought, renovat-
ed, re-equipped and refurnished, and now include a Family Lounge, a 
Promenade and seven joyful studios – four more than before – each 
identified by a different colour, plus an exhibition space, a lunchroom 
and a cloakroom for school groups. Strategically located, they ensure a 
smooth link between our two educational levels. This architectural re-
configuration was designed with Sandra Gagné and Jean-Luc Murray in 
collaboration with the agency Provencher Roy + Associés Architectes.

Thanks to the contribution of Montreal talent – street artists from the 
En Masse initiative, designers from Paprika for the multi-coloured and 
multilingual signage, and Collectif Rita for the exclusive and playful 

furniture for the Lounge manufactured by Periphere – these facilities 
are charming, in addition to being animated by some newly acquired 
works of art, including a rainbow of stuffed toys by Claude Cormier, 
an emblematic heart by Jim Dine and an enchanted aquarium by 
Pierrick Sorin. In the Lounge, some twenty artists associated with 
the En Masse initiative painted a spectacular mural that extends 
beyond the boundaries of the educational facilities out into the 
street. This mural blends together the various sensibilities of tattoo 
artists, graffiti artists, cartoonists and illustrators – all in black and 
white. This original creative approach works like a performance, in 
which drawings and styles overlap, combine and transform, produ-
cing a co-operative dialogue.

፛፛ THE EDUCATION COMMITTEE’S EFFORTS BEAR FRUIT 
Within a few months of the new spaces being inaugurated, the 
Museum had welcomed close to 60,000 elementary and sec-
ondary schoolchildren to take part in an educational activity at 
the Museum, compared to 38,000 two years ago. This num-
ber accounts for 70% of our main objective for 2017! Almost 
1,000 teachers and future teachers took training on how to use the 
Museum’s resources in their teaching. Over 20,000 parents and chil-
dren (compared to 5,000 last year) visited the new family spaces, in 
which free activities are offered on Saturdays and Sundays. This amaz-
ing response and the waiting lists show there is a real need. In light of 
the major development in Education and Community Programmes, 
Jean-Luc Murray was promoted from Department Head to Director.

The addition of studios, programmes and educational tools will en-
able the Museum to achieve, and even exceed, its ambitious goals 
with attendance projections that will double our clienteles in the next 
five years, that is, from 110,000 to 220,000 people, supported by 
Education and Community Programmes. School groups will increase 
from 50,000 to 100,000 people a year. And family attendance will 
rise to 28,000 people annually, including the increase expected for 
community groups from 12,000 to 15,000 people. These goals al-
ready need to be revised upward in view of future expansion with 
the Fifth Pavilion.

The Museum is pursuing its Herculean task with the help of num-
erous individuals, volunteers, businesses and institutions – there is 
so much to do! In addition to Michel de la Chenelière, we wish to 
thank the Arte Musica Foundation, BMO Financial Group, CIBC, CN, 
the Desjardins Group, the Estate of Anne D. Fish, the Fondation Jacques 
et Michel Auger, the Fondation J. A. DeSève, the Fondation René Malo, 

Jean-Luc Murray, Director of Education and Community Programmes,  
and Michel de la Chenelière. Photo Natacha Gysin

The educational exhibition 
A Flower = A Human Being 
featured recent works created 
by artist and artistic director 
Danielle Roy in collaboration 
with English- and French-
speaking students at Jules 
Verne and Gerald McShane 
schools in Montréal-Nord 
aimed at fostering tolerance 
among children. For the 
duration of the exhibition, 
the work Cherry Rose (above) 
welcomed visitors. 

Émilien Néron is shown with Claude Cormier’s work Stuffed Animals.  
Photo Natacha Gysin
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the Fournelle Family, Renata and Michal Hornstein, Michaels, the 
Molson Foundation, TD and the Trottier Family Foundation for their 
generous support of this educational mission. The Museum has 
continued to develop around the “twelve labours of Hercules,” 
offering new services and improved programmes, most of them 
free of charge, for ever larger audiences: 

1.	 The school programme: the establishment of a fund designed to 
welcome students from schools in underprivileged areas made 
it possible to offer free activities to almost 2,000 young people. 
Alas, the demand is so great that the spots available must be 
distributed among the schools by the drawing of lots through 
our partner, the agency Une école montréalaise pour tous. This 
access policy has to be strengthened when we realize that even 
the modest cost of bus transportation is a deterrent to the less 
well-off schools. Some 90% of children make their first trip to the 
Museum as part of a school outing;

2.	 The “Sharing the Museum” programme offers free activities 
through over 300 community organizations to people with spe-
cial needs;

3.	 The refitting of the facilities and studios designed for groups;
4.	 More community programmes for adults;
5.	 The new Family Lounge and the many new activities offered to 

families;
6.	 Educational games and products linked to the collection, such 

as free posters distributed to schools for the third time: after 
ecology and child exploitation, this year we raised awareness of 
school bullying with help from the Fondation Jasmin Roy;

7.	 Two musical audioguides for Canadian Art and European Art, free 
of charge thanks to the support of Hydro-Québec;

8.	 A pilot project with Montreal universities to encourage research 
in Canadian art history; 

9.	 An educational interface optimized with the new website; 
10.	Music at the Museum, thanks to the partnership with the Arte 

Musica Foundation (a special thank you to Pierre Bourgie and 
Isolde Lagacé);

11.	Films at the Museum with an enhanced future FIFA partnership;
12.	A programme of educational presentations.

፛፛ AND SOON, TWO ADDITIONAL LEVELS  
IN THE FIFTH PAVILION 

The building of the Fifth Pavilion will make it possible to add two 
more levels devoted to education and community programmes linked 
to current facilities and to create a safer reception area for groups. 
By adding 1,500 m2 to the existing 1,500 m2 (and 900 m2 barely 
a year ago), the Museum is undergoing exceptional growth in 
tripling the space dedicated to education. This will enable it to 
increase and improve its capacity to receive visitors and finally to cre-
ate or consolidate programmes in four spheres, namely under-fives, 
seniors, diversity and art therapy. 

The reinvention of the Museum gets us halfway to our destination. 
Lots of progress still needs to be made to reach more school and 
university groups, and family and community clienteles. Our goals are 
ambitious; we hope they will be equally ambitious in the action plans 
of the Ministries of Culture and Education, in order to better promote 
the arts, history and cultural diversity among schoolchildren.

Since the creation of a new Education Committee in 2011, we have 
stated our intention to consolidate educational activities, which already 
have a firm footing; this is the sustainable development of minds.

In a world in which people are manipulated by the tyranny of 
images, the role of museums is more than ever essential and 
positive in developing critical perception and learning “how-to-
be” rather than “how-to-do.” An increasing number of studies 
demonstrate how familiarity with culture improves chances of 
success, reduces school failure and is part of a person’s well-be-
ing every bit as much as sport is.

When dealing with diversity, integration and dialogue among cultures, 
the knowledge of physical, artistic and symbolic culture is a power-
ful, effective and flexible tool for better understanding local and world 
civilizations. With spaces open to educational and social problems, 
museums can support the learning of history and civilization, at home 
and abroad, and open us up to other fields. For what is the point of art 
galleries and scholarly books if there are no visitors or readers?

The needs are huge; education cannot wait.  ■

Nathalie Bondil

GREAT IDEAS 
The children’s area at the Montreal Museum of Fine Arts (Studios Arts & Education 
Michel de la Chenelière) is enhanced with contemporary art works. Access to the 
permanent collections is free, and the temporary exhibitions are not to be missed.

 – Marie-Claire Italia

A PLACE FOR CHILDREN AT THE MUSEUM OF FINE ARTS 
A riot of colours, twice the space, playful works of art: the Montreal Museum 
of Fine Arts (MMFA) has opened the equivalent of a little paradise for budding 
museophiles in its brand new educational area. The space is inspiring indeed…

– Le Devoir

ART AGAINST BULLYING 
The Fondation Jasmin Roy and the Montreal Museum of Fine Arts are joining forces 
and banking on the effectiveness of using art to fight bullying at school.… Artistic 
creation also proves to be an invaluable ally in the rehabilitation process.

– Canoe.ca

mbam.qc.ca

heart and soul aGainst bullYinG
the museum: brinGinG art to the schools

a maJor work from the montreal museum of fine arts’ collection of contemporarY art
Jim dine (born in 1935), The Heart Called “After the Flood,” 2011, bronze, alkyd-enamel paint. 
mmfa, purchase, the montreal museum of fine arts’ volunteer association fund and gift in memory of claire Gohier, from her friends. © Jim dine/sodrac (2013)

this sculpture by the american pop artist Jim dine greets school groups when they arrive at the museum. to make this playful bronze heart, the artist 
included objects that are familiar to him as well as depictions of pinocchio. Just like the story of the famous marionette, this sculpture evokes the 
magic and beauty of childhood, but also its cruelty. in Quebec, ten percent of students are victims of bullying in various forms. to fight exclusion and 
violence, art is an incredible ally, as it promotes values like tolerance and peace. 

For information and resources on bullying, see the website of the Fondation Jasmin Roy, which is devoted to fighting discrimination, bullying and violence against 
kids in elementary and high schools.  fondationjasminroy.com

For a free copy of this poster, please call 514-285-2000, option 3.

access to tHe museum’s coLLection is FRee oF cHaRge at aLL times.

25-Apr-2013 09:21:47
022658C MBAM 022658C Affiche 2.p1.pdf
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Lyonel Feininger
FROM MANHATTAN TO THE BAUHAUS
SPRING

This was our first exhibition programmed with the new Bourgie 
Concert Hall in mind – which has been our aim since musical pro-
gramming was initiated in 2008. The exhibition attracted a total of 
56,160 visitors. Well received by the critics, the exhibition was para-
doxical in that it featured an artist both known and unknown. Born in 
the United States, Feininger was a leader in the birth of the comic strip, 
Expressionism and the Bauhaus movement during an almost fifty-year 
career in Germany.

Significantly enriched by some 130 works in Montreal (illus-
trations, photographs by Lyonel and 90 photographs by Andreas 
Feininger, thanks to the generous bequest of Wysse E. Feininger), this 
major solo exhibition, initiated by the Whitney Museum of American 
Art, was an opportunity to discover the sensitive and musical tal-
ent of this versatile artist. A musician and composer, he dreamed of 

transposing the fugue into painting, as shown by the music salon we 
imagined. Barbara Haskell was the general editor of Lyonel Feininger: 
At the Edge of the World, a fascinating work, which we published 
in French, and the first monograph about the artist published in that 
language, for international distribution, with the support of the Terra 
Foundation for American Art. In Montreal, this major retrospective 
was presented under the direction of Anne Grace, Curator of Modern 
Art, who worked with Nathalie Crinière, designer.

We thank our exhibition partners: Sun Life Financial (presenting 
sponsor), the MMFA Volunteer Association, Terra Foundation for 
American Art, Moeller Fine Art, Astral Media, La Presse, The Gazette, 
Air Canada, and Canadian Heritage, under the Canada Travelling 
Exhibitions Indemnification Program.  ►

FOUR SEASONS  
OF MAJOR EXHiBITIONS

With this retrospective, the largest in North America, 
Montreal is righting a wrong against a fascinating German 
artist from the 1920s.

– Libération, Paris

The Montreal Museum of Fine Arts chose a spectacular 
layout to showcase Lyonel Feininger, giving pride of place 
to music, including Feininger’s own compositions, from his 
beginnings as an illustrator to his son’s photographic work.

– L’œil, Paris

Feininger’s multidisciplinary output is presented in a rather 
bold exhibition layout: from the turbulent world of the 
1920s past highly colourful paintings to a large gallery 
that evokes the purity of the Bauhaus aesthetic, and an 
original “music room”… where Lyonel Feininger’s violin is 
prominently displayed.

– Le Monde, Paris

LYONEL FEININGER:  
SEEING FROM A DIFFERENT ANGLE 
Most significant is the emphasis the MMFA is placing on 
Feininger’s musical composition.

– Canadian Art

EDUCATIONAL OVERVIEW OF MODERN ART  
IN THE FIRST HALF OF THE 20TH CENTURY 
The MMFA has pulled out all the stops. The exhibition’s 
presentation is superb (the music room dedicated to 
landscapes is particularly well laid out), the explanatory 
panels are very interesting and the video on the Bauhaus, 
particularly instructive.

– Voir

The exhibition dedicated to him currently at the Montreal 
Museum of Fine Arts, in collaboration with the Whitney 
Museum of American Art (New York), explores every aspect 
of his creative output…

– La Tribune de l’Art, Paris

MAJOR RETROSPECTIVE 
It’s rare in modern art to see this type of eclecticism in a 
Plasticien. And yet, Lyonel Feininger is not a universally 
acclaimed artist.

– La Presse

The Montreal Museum of Fine Arts presents an exhaustive 
panorama of [Feininger’s] work.

– Connaissance des arts, Paris
HASKELL

Lyonel FeiningerBarbara Haskell est conservatrice au Whitney 

Museum of American Art de New York. John Carlin 

est écrivain et commissaire d’exposition indépendant 

ainsi que président et directeur général de Funny 

Garbage. Bryan Gilliam est Frances Hill Fox  

Professor in Humanities à la Duke University  

de Durham, en Caroline du Nord. Ulrich Luckhardt  

est conservateur à la Kunsthalle de Hambourg.  

Sasha Nicholas est assistante senior  

de conservation au Whitney Museum of American  

Art de New York.

Publié par le Musée des beaux-arts de Montréal  

et Somogy éditions d’art, Paris, en collaboration  

avec le Whitney Museum of American Art, New York.

256 reproductions en couleurs et 12 reproductions en noir et blanc.

Première de couverture : Rue jaune II, 1918 (fig. 89, détail)
Quatrième de couverture : Vélocipédistes (Draisinenfahrer),  
1910 (fig. 44)

Lyonel Feininger 

Barbara Haskell

Textes de John Carlin, Bryan Gilliam,  

Ulrich Luckhardt et Sasha Nicholas

Né à New York, Lyonel Feininger (1871-1956) part à l’âge de seize ans pour l’Europe.  

Il réside à Berlin, Paris, Weimar, Dessau. Illustrateur, peintre, photographe, compositeur et 

musicien, il devient l’une des figures majeures de l’expressionnisme et du Bauhaus. À la 

fin des années 1930, la campagne nazie contre l’art moderne le force à retourner à New 

York, après une absence de cinquante ans, où il retrouve le succès avec ses œuvres entre 

figuration et abstraction.

Première monographie en français, ce livre examine l’ensemble de l’œuvre très diversifiée 

de Feininger : caricatures et bandes dessinées au tournant du siècle, compositions 

expressionnistes carnavalesques, scènes architecturales cristallines, figurines-jouets en 

bois sculpté, jusqu’aux dernières peintures exécutées à Manhattan. Le texte de Barbara 

Haskell approfondit la vie de Feininger, ses liens avec les groupes et les institutions qui 

ont infléchi le cours de l’art moderne, notamment le cubisme, le Blaue Reiter, les Blue Four, 

le Bauhaus et le Black Mountain College. Son œuvre d’illustrateur, de photographe et de 

compositeur, ainsi que la réception de son œuvre en Allemagne font également l’objet 

d’études inédites.

Ce livre accompagne l’exposition sur Lyonel Feininger au Whitney Museum, New York et 

au Musée des beaux-arts de Montréal.

9 782757 204832

ISBN 978-2-7572-0483-2    38 €
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◀
The new Family Lounge  
in the Studios Art & Education  
Michel de la Chenelière.
Photo Denis Farley
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Tom Wesselmann (1931-2004), Sunset Nude, Floral Blanket [Nu au crépuscule, couverture à motifs floraux], 2003. New York, Succession Tom Wesselmann. © Succession Tom Wesselmann / SODRAC, Montréal / VAGA, New York (2012). Photo Jeffrey Sturges

Cette exposition est organisée par le Musée des beaux-arts de Montréal, avec le soutien de la Succession Tom Wesselmann, New York.

19 MAI – 7 OCTOBRE 2012

AU-DELÀ DU
POP ART
TOM WESSELMANN

mbam.qc.ca/popart

Tom Wesselmann (1931-2004), Sunset Nude with Wesselmann [Nu au crépuscule avec Wesselmann], 2003. Houston, Sanders Collection, avec l’aimable concours de la McClain Gallery. © Succession Tom Wesselmann / SODRAC, Montréal / VAGA, New York (2012). Photo Rick Gardner

Cette exposition est organisée par le Musée des beaux-arts de Montréal, avec le soutien de la Succession Tom Wesselmann, New York.

19 MAI – 7 OCTOBRE 2012

AU-DELÀ DU
POP ART
TOM WESSELMANN

mbam.qc.ca/popart

Tom Wesselmann (1931-2004), Sunset Nude with Big Palm Tree [Nu au crépuscule avec grand palmier], 2004. New York, Succession Tom Wesselmann. © Succession Tom Wesselmann / SODRAC, Montréal / VAGA, New York (2012). Photo Jeffrey Sturges

Cette exposition est organisée par le Musée des beaux-arts de Montréal, avec le soutien de la Succession Tom Wesselmann, New York.

19 MAI – 7 OCTOBRE 2012

AU-DELÀ DU
POP ART
TOM WESSELMANN

mbam.qc.ca/popart

BEYOND POP ART
Tom WesselmanN
SUMMER

The Museum brought to our attention another illustrious though 
little-known artist from the American scene. Tom Wesselmann is 
at once a must for anyone interested in Pop Art, highly appreciated in 
the art market and paradoxically overlooked by museums, while his 
contemporaries, such as Warhol, Lichtenstein and Rosenquist, have 
been the subject of countless retrospectives. Still, he is definitely one 
of the great American painters, his large nudes having become clas-
sics. Inspired by Matisse, as well as by de Kooning, his art evolves 
intelligently between free figuration, with a rereading of art history 
genres, and abstraction, between form and content, and colour and 
line. In short, it is surprising that we should be the first since his 
death in 2002 to present a retrospective of his work and also the 
first major exhibition of his work in North America.

Proposed by Stéphane Aquin, who has been interested in the Pop 
movement for many years (Global Village and Warhol Live), this ex-
hibition benefited from the collaboration of Marco Livingstone, a top 
specialist on the artist, whom the Museum invited back after his pre-
vious collaborations with Pierre Théberge. In addition to loans from 
the leading institutions, this major one-man show took advantage 
of the exceptional archives and expertise of the estate established 

in New York under the stewardship of his wonderful partner, Claire 
Wesselmann. This retrospective, featuring 196 works, revealed the 
creative process of this conscientious and inventive artist, as well as 
his genuine passion for country music. This tip of the hat to music 
was important to us in light of our own interest in music.

The elegant catalogue published by the Museum was designed by 
Paprika, while the exhibition layout was designed by Ædifica – two 
well-known Montreal design agencies. Initiated and produced in 
Montreal, the exhibition garnered excellent international reviews be-
fore being exported to our loyal partners at the Virginia Museum of 
Fine Arts, Richmond, from April 6 to July 28, 2013, where the Lewises 
have been longstanding collectors and friends of the artist. While 
the Wesselmann exhibition did not draw the crowds hoped for, the 
downtown area having been affected by the chill felt by tourists as a 
result of the Maple Spring demonstrations, attendance was respect-
able, with 63,000 visitors.

We thank our exhibition partners: Metro, Astral Media, the MMFA 
Volunteer Association, La Presse, The Gazette, Air Canada and RSM 
Richter Chamberland.  ►

FOUR SEASONS OF MAJOR EXHiBITIONS

Originally organized by the 
MMFA, “Pop Art and Beyond: 
Tom Wesselmann” is billed as the 
first major retrospective in North 
America of one of the seminal 
pop art pioneers. The exhibition, 
which was a critical success when 
first seen in Canada, goes well 
beyond Wesselmann’s signature 
style, the candy-colored, 
steel-edged representation of 
commodity objects, to explore 
his larger career and debt to 
historical painters as far afield as 
Ingres and Matisse.

– Washington Post

Complete and dense, this 
consubstantially colourful 
journey… follows a 
chronological logic that… 
illustrates the consistency of a 
message saturated with quotes 
and borrowings, as if to better 
reveal the personality of a 
style that no one disputes.

– Libération, Paris

The comprehensive exhibition 
dedicated to Tom Wesselmann, 
Pop Art’s fourth musketeer, is 
quite simply captivating.

– L’œil, Paris

Well beyond Pop Art… Tom 
Wesselmann is a giant. Finally,  
a superb exhibition that does  
him justice.

– Art Actuel

Don’t Miss: American pop artist 
Tom Wesselmann’s work goes 
far beyond his well-known 
Great American Nudes series.

– The Wall Street Journal

In Montreal, the coherence, originality 
and impact of Wesselmann’s work 
are incontestable.

– Le Journal des Arts, Paris

Incredible but true! Unlike 
Andy Warhol, Roy Lichtenstein, 
Claes Oldenburgh or Jim Dine, 
Tom Wesselmann (1931-2004)  
has not yet had a real 
retrospective in North America. 
A reading of his work beyond 
the icons.

– Connaissance des arts, Paris

The Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 
exhibition – the first retrospective 
ever presented in North America 
– corrects a major oversight 
and broadens perspectives by 
demonstrating with rigour the 
development of his oeuvre.

– Beaux-Arts Magazine, Paris

The great master rediscovered… 
one of the top artistic events  
in the summer of 2012.

– Vie des Arts

Nude Awakening. Pop Artist 
Tom Wesselmann finally gets 
his due with a major Montreal 
retrospective.

– National Post

When all is said and done in this 
extensive exhibition, chalk up one 
more impressive Musée des beaux-
arts de Montréal exploration of 
the legacies of the 1960s. Here’s a 
museum laying curatorial claim to 
a decade.

– Canadian Art

▶
© Estate of Tom Wesselmann / SODRAC, 

Montreal / VAGA, New York (2013). 
Photos Denis Farley
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With his rivals, Albert Barnes in Philadelphia, and Duncan Phillips in 
Washington, Robert Sterling Clark, nicknamed Mr. Anonymous be-
cause of the great discretion with which he assembled his collection, 
indisputably assembled one of the three finest bodies of Impressionist 
art in North America. So it was a rare privilege to be able to welcome 
those works. In the past, Quebec had presented single-artist exhib-
itions of works from the Post-Impressionist and modern period or 
others consisting of collections that included Impressionist paintings, 
but this selection focussed entirely on the Impressionist movement – 
its genesis, context and legacy.

How should we look at Impressionism today? Having become the 
most enjoyed and most popular painting movement of all time, 
Impressionism nevertheless upset the western art world and reshaped 
it in its present form. Much more than a painting style, it crystallized 
the aspirations of an era of profound social change. The wealth of 
the Clark collection gave us an opportunity to study this revolutionary 
movement from its beginnings to its legacy, about the Impressionists 
themselves and even their enemies, the academic painters. In the 
light of recent historiographical research, I wanted to consider some 
lesser-known, sometimes surprising, aspects of Impressionism: the 
environment and optical science, performance of the gesture and 
the speed of the modern world, the new market reign, art as a 
speculative value, the appearance of the avant-garde system and the 
merchant-critic combination, artistic subversion as a value of polit-
ical progress, female Impressionists and the emancipation of women, 

fashion as a vector of modernity, the death of the Salon and the 
emergence of the artist we know today. The presentation of the 
Montreal exhibition, designed by Architem, was enriched by an ex-
ceptional loan: one of the earliest cast versions by Hébrard of Degas’s 
sculpture Little Dancer Aged Fourteen.

Over one million visitors had already admired the Clark Collection 
during its international tour to Madrid, Milan, Giverny, Barcelona, 
Fort Worth and London. This unique initiative by the Clark’s director, 
Michael Conforti, supported by Tom Loughman and Richard Rand, 
whom we thank, was made possible by the major expansion project 
taking place at the Francine and Sterling Clark Art Institute, which, 
instead of simply storing its works, chose to share this famous col-
lection on generous terms with Montreal – the exclusive Canadian 
venue on the tour.

In Montreal, the exhibition had remarkable results with 184,504 
visitors, thus becoming one of the top five of the best exhib-
itions in the past ten years at the Museum and the top three 
in terms of attendance, with an average of 2,097 visitors daily.

We thank our exhibition partners: Scotiabank (presenting sponsor), 
Metro, Astral Media, the MMFA Volunteer Association, Le groupe Jean 
Coutu, STM, the Montreal Borough of Ville-Marie, the Consulate General 
of the United States in Montreal, the Consulate General of France in 
Quebec City, La Presse, The Gazette, RSM Richter, Air Canada.  ►

ONCE UPON A TIME…  
IMPRESSIONISM
GREAT FRENCH PAINTINGS  
FROM THE CLARK
FALL

▶
Photos Christine Guest

FOUR SEASONS OF MAJOR EXHiBITIONS

Yes, there’s scope for revitalizing 
the approach to Impressionism.

– L’œil, Paris

One of the year’s biggest successes 
on the Quebec museum scene…

– La Presse

Montreal exhibit offers new 
perspective on impressionist 
movement. Breathtaking new show 
at the Montreal Museum of Fine Arts.

– The Canadian Press

Let’s be honest: some of the works 
presented in the exhibition Once 
Upon a Time… Impressionism: Great 
French Paintings from the Clark are 
genuine icons in the history of art.

– Journal Métro

The Montreal Museum of Fine 
Arts gives a whimsical title to the 
charming exhibition it opened 
on Saturday: Once Upon a Time… 
Impressionism. It frames the most 
popular art movement of the 19th 
century as a narrative of a special 
kind, a fairy tale.

– The National Post

Degas’s little dancer took a first 
noteworthy step Tuesday in Montreal, 
where she announced the arrival 
of masterpieces from the Clark Art 
Institute at the Montreal Museum of 
Fine Arts… The centrepiece of the 
upcoming exhibition.

– Le Devoir

The first opportunity to see works 
by such artists as Renoir, Monet, 
Degas, Pissarro and Manet 
presented in Quebec, the exhibition 
Once Upon a Time… Impressionism is 
a chance to admire a collection of 
75 masterpieces of French painting 
and understand part of the 
evolution of western society, at the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts.

– Échos Montréal

Clark exhibition can change 
impression of movement.

– The Gazette

Une présentation de 

MD

Chefs-d’œuvre de 
la peinture française du Clark

13 octobre  2012 – 20 janvier 2013

Cette exposition est organisée par le Sterling and Francine Clark Art Institute, Williamstown, Massachusetts. La présentation canadienne est produite en collaboration avec le Musée des beaux-arts de Montréal.
Auguste Renoir (1841-1919), Une loge au théâtre (Au concert) (détail), 1880. © Sterling and Francine Clark Art Institute, Williamstown, Massachusetts, USA
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Cette exposition est organisée par le Sterling and Francine Clark Art Institute, Williamstown, Massachusetts. La présentation canadienne est produite en collaboration avec le Musée des beaux-arts de Montréal.
Edgar Degas (1834-1917), Danseuses au foyer (détail), vers 1880. © Sterling and Francine Clark Art Institute, Williamstown, Massachusetts, USA
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PERU
KINGDOMS OF THE SUN AND THE MOON
WINTER

This exhibition, initiated, designed, produced and circulated by 
the Museum, will be remembered for the complexity of its or-
ganization, the selection of 370 remarkable objects, many of 
them never before exhibited, the beauty of their presentation 
and the exhibition’s vast scope. Following the exhibition ¡Cuba! Art 
and History from 1868 to Today, our first exploration of American 
identities, we wished to take a different approach. The historical 
perspective of Peru is a fascinating one since, in only two centuries, 
it went from being a colony on the edges of a Eurocentric map of 
the world to being regarded as one of the six cradles of civilization. 
A century of archaeological exploration helped define the notion of 
Peruanidad, some of whose rites have crossed the ages from the 
pre-Hispanic period, through hybridization and assimilation, to the 
Indigenist modernity of the twentieth century.

We chose to begin this vast retrospective with the discovery of Machu 
Picchu in 1911, the symbolic cornerstone of a patriotic collective mem-
ory (the Yale collection was entirely returned in 2012), and to end on 
a strong statement against pillaging, with a spectacular Mochica 
forehead ornament in gold, representing a terrifying, decapitating 
god, which was exceptionally allowed out of the country on loan. 
Intercepted in a London gallery by Scotland Yard in 2004, this unique 
work came from an illegally excavated tomb in 1988 and was then 
returned to Lima in 2006. It has become a symbol of the Peruvian 
identity and the struggle against illicit trafficking.

This complex project is, as always, the result of a large team effort, 
put in over only two years with, in particular, Pascal Normandin, 
Sandra Gagné, Francine Lavoie and Richard Gagnier. Victor Pimentel, 
Peruvian archaeologist and MMFA Curator of Pre-Columbian Art, 
curated this, his first exhibition, supported by an excellent scholar-
ly committee (Walter Alva, Ulla Holmquist, Natalia Majluf and Luis 
Eduardo Wuffarden) and our seasoned professionals. Without Mr. 

Pimentel’s in-depth knowledge 
of the field, the Museum would 
never have been able to bring 
together so many masterpieces. 
The layout was designed by the 
agency Projectiles, Paris. Dealing 
with the thirty lenders from Peru 
was very demanding; the coun-
try’s bureaucratic rules are very 
complex, with fourteen signing 
stages required, right up to the 
President of the Republic, who 
signs the temporary export pa-
pers for all works.

The object of much praise, the 
ambitious book on the exhibition also includes essays by a number of 
specialists, as well as interviews with such important figures as Mario 
Vargas Llosa. Two audioguides (adults and children) in three languages 
– English, French and Spanish – were available for downloading for 
the first time onto smart devices. Also noteworthy: a superb set of 
textiles from the Museum’s collection, rarely if ever exhibited, includ-
ing some made of multi-coloured feathers, were restored with the 
invaluable help of the Centre de Conservation du Québec. The exhib-
ition was exported by the MMFA to the Seattle Art Museum in the fall.

During the opening events in Montreal, the legendary archaeologist 
Walter Alva jokingly said to us, “But Peru’s National Museum is here!”

We thank our exhibition partners: Scotiabank (presenting sponsor), 
Barrick Gold Corporation, the Government of Peru – Ministry of Foreign 
Trade and Tourism (MINCETUR), Astral Media, the MMFA Volunteer 
Association, STM, La Presse, The Gazette, Richter, Air Canada.  ►

FOUR SEASONS OF MAJOR EXHiBITIONS

Much more than just another display of the ornaments and 
stunning gold masks discovered in the past few years… 
Spectacular, scholarly and thoroughly ambitious in scope, 
the MMFA exhibition is a complete success.

– Religions et Histoire, Paris

The 370 exhibited works, of outstanding quality, chronicle 
the breathtaking trajectory of Peruvian art… With its subtle 
layout, made of stucco and metal, the exhibition design 
and media were designed to appeal to all audiences.

– Le Journal des Arts, Paris

A national identity featured  
in an ambitious show at  
Montreal’s Museum of Fine Arts.

– Artnews, New York

The identity of the Machu Picchu 
region transcends time. Proof 
positive can be seen at the 
beautiful exhibition in Montreal.

– Le Monde, Paris

Never before has an exhibition 
covered several millennia of Peru’s 
art and history in this way…

– L’œil, Paris

▶
Photos Denis Farley

Beyond this highly original 
viewpoint, the exhibition… provides 
powerful aesthetic experiences.

– L’objet d’art, Paris

Indigenous arts did not die with the 
Incas. For the first time, a museum 
highlights their vitality in the 
colonial and modern eras.

– Le Figaro, Paris

Outstanding objects are also what 
you want in a museum show 
besides a compelling story. Luckily 
there are dozens of them here…

– Art & Antiques, New York

Une présentation de

2 février – 16 juin 2013

Une exposition conçue, produite et mise en tournée par le Musée des beaux-arts de Montréal. 

Mochica, côte nord, peut-être La Mina, Ornement frontal en forme de tête de félin et tentacules de pieuvre se terminant en têtes 
de poisson-chat (détail), 100-800 apr. J.-C. Lima, Museo de la Nación. Photo Daniel Giannonimbam.qc.ca/perou
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After Quebec and Canadian Art, Decorative Arts and Design, and 
international art from the Old Masters to Contemporary Art, the 
fourth phase in the reinstallation of some 4,000 pieces in our collec-
tion came to a close with the opening of the Asian and Islamic Art 
galleries and a new presentation of African works from the collection 
of Cirque du Soleil. In the spirit of a fine arts – and civilization – mu-
seum, we took an in-depth look at these collections with the help of 
our curators, Victor Pimentel and Laura Vigo, and our consultants, 
Valerie Behiery and Jacques Germain.

The new Asian art galleries present one of the oldest collections in 
Canada, including numerous acquisitions made by Sir William van 
Horne and F. Cleveland Morgan, the first curator of our “museum.” 
The search revealed a few pieces such as a marvellous “dragon” robe 
and an exceptional lacquered chair from the Qing dynasty (1644-
1911), which is being restored. These galleries have been enriched 
by loans granted by the Arthur M. Sackler Foundation of New York 
and by some Montreal collectors, Blema and Arnold Steinberg, and 
Nicol Guérin.

The new location of the galleries, in visual and spatial dialogue with the 
European Decorative Arts, “recognizes the cross-culturality inherent in 
every artistic tradition and testifies to a more globalized approach,” as 
pointed out by Valerie Behiery. We wanted there also to be contem-
porary works and design so that we could go beyond the obsolete 
frontiers of designating things in ancient cultures. Rather than a mosai-
culture, we are seeking a crossroads of exchanges of civilizations and 
values that we hope to organize. With this goal in mind, we held a 
cocktail party for Handicap International to celebrate its 30th anniver-
sary and highlight the 15th anniversary of the Ottawa Mine Ban Treaty. 
The event was organized around Rug, a contemporary Afghan rug by 
Dominique Blain exhibited in the gallery of Islamic Art. Nobel prizewin-
ner Jean-Baptiste Richardier attended this special event.

WORLD CULTURE COLLECTIONS RECONSIDERED

As part of the research into our World Culture collections, in November 
2012, we handed over a Toi Moko to a delegation from the Museum 
of New Zealand Te Papa Tongarewa in Wellington, during a moving 
official ceremony. The restoration to New Zealand of this Maori head 
came further to a request from the indigenous Polynesian peoples 
who, for two decades now, have been taking action to repatriate 
some 500 remains or heads, tattooed and mummified, dispersed 
among public and private collections around the world. This gift from 
F. Cleveland Morgan, acquired in 1949 from the Berkeley Galleries in 
London, had been on display in our galleries from 1982 to 1984, and 
since then kept in storage.

It is a relief to know that these human remains will now rest in the 
land of their ancestors. It is good to think that they will never again 

be subjects of curiosity for the public or stored in museum reserves 
like artifacts. It is a pleasure to see the extent to which our minds have 
been educated so that today respect for human dignity is the norm, 
even though there remain questions of ethics about what we offer to 
look at, particularly in connection with some exhibitions of corpses: 
this problem is still very much with us. In 2011, I put this motion 
before the Museum’s Board of Trustees, and they were unanimous in 
supporting this request, specifying that, in their opinion, “this is not 
really a restitution, or a transfer of property, since ownership of the 
human body is inalienable.”  ■

Nathalie Bondil

OUR Toi Moko RETURNS TO ITS ANCESTRAL LANDS

WORKS FROM  
THE COLLECTION  
ON THE MOVE

Following a stately ceremony marked by the richness of an ancestral culture, a mummified, 
tattooed Maori head was returned on Tuesday to representatives of New Zealand peoples 
and the Museum of New Zealand Te Papa Tongarewa by the Montreal Museum of Fine Arts 
(MMFA). At the end of the ceremony, Nathalie Bondil, the MMFA’S director, and Rahui Papa, 
master of this sacred ritual and Maori culture specialist, exchanged hongi, a greeting performed 
by pressing noses together as a gesture of mutual respect and sharing. “This restitution comes 
with a growing awareness of world cultures. In the past, curiosity opened the door to looting 
and trafficking in such sacred objects as human remains. We need to change the way we see 
these objects—for sacred and spiritual reasons, but also because they touch deep political 
values associated with the recognition of minority cultures,” said Ms. Bondil on Tuesday. “In 
Maori culture, the head, which was felt to house the spirit, was tattooed and mummified after 
death. After being honoured, it was buried or hidden near the deceased’s village.” This Toi 
Moko, the fifth mummified head returned to the Maori people by a Canadian museum, will join 
the 320 remains repatriated from 14 countries by the New Zealand museum. 

– Le Devoir

Photo Pierre Longtin

Publication
Laura Vigo, “Asian Art at the Montreal Museum of Fine 
Arts – The Renaissance of a Historic Collection,” Arts of Asia, 
March-April 2012, pp. 124-133.

▶
New Galleries of  

Asian and Islamic Art.  
Photos Denis Farley
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SPOTLIGHT ON DESIGN

MARCH 24 — AUGUST 19, 2012

TICKETS: DEYOUNGMUSEUM.ORG

This exhibition is organized by the Montreal Museum
of Fine Arts in collaboration with the Maison

Jean Paul Gaultier. Sponsors are Yurie and
Carl Pascarella and Suzy Kellems Dominik.

OFFICIAL HOTEL PARTNER

MEDIA SPONSOR

LEAD SPONSOR

FINE ARTS MUSEUMS OF SAN FRANCISCO

de Young

William Baker, Kylie Minogue / Virgins (or Madonnas) collection, “Immaculata” gown Haute Couture Spring–Summer 2007 (detail) / © 2008, Darenote Ltd. / All Rights Reserved

Le recordamos que sus datos personales se encuentran incorporados a un fichero bajo la supervisión y con-
trol de FUNDACIÓN MAPFRE con domicilio en Paseo de Recoletos, n.º 23, 28004 Madrid. Dichos datos han 
sido recogidos directamente del interesado o de fuentes accesibles al público con la finalidad de gestionar 
el presente evento, así como de enviar información y/o convocatorias a otros eventos, incluso a través de 
medios electrónicos. Según la Ley Orgánica 15/1999, de 13 de diciembre, de Protección de Datos de Carác-
ter Personal y demás legislación aplicable, puede ejercitar sus derechos de acceso, rectificación, oposición 
y cancelación de sus datos dirigiéndose a FUNDACIÓN MAPFRE en la dirección anteriormente indicada.

De arriba a abajo y de izquierda a derecha:
•  Roberto Frankenberg, Jade Parfitt y Jean Paul Gaultier, The Observer Magazine, julio de 2005. 

Colección Le Dadaïsme Prêt-à-porter Mujer primavera-verano de 1983. © Roberto Frankenberg
•  Figurín de vestuario para el personaje de Roberto Álamo en La piel que habito, dirigida por Pedro 

Almodóvar, 2011. © Jean Paul Gaultier
•  Miles Aldridge, Inmaculada n.º 3. Numéro, mayo de 2007. Colección Les Vierges (o Les Madones), modelo 

Regina Maris. Alta costura primavera-verano de 2007. Cortesía: Miles Aldridge y Reflex Gallery. 
© Miles Aldridge / trunkarchive.com

•  Campaña publicitaria para la colección Hommage à Frida Kahlo (detalle), Prêt-à-porter Mujer primavera-
verano de 1998. Dirección artística y fotografía: Jean Paul Gaultier. © Jean Paul Gaultier

•  Herb Ritts, Jean Paul Gaultier, Tokio, 1990.
© Herb Ritts Foundation

•  Pedro Almodóvar, Victoria Abril y Jean Paul Gaultier en el estreno de Kika, dirigida por Pedro 
Almodóvar, 1993. © DR / Archivos de Jean Paul Gaultier

Esta exposición ha sido realizada por el Musée des beaux-arts de Montréal, 
en colaboración con la Maison Jean Paul Gaultier y FUNDACIÓN MAPFRE

Jean Paul
GAULTIER
Universo de la moda:
De la calle a las estrellas

The Fashion World of 
Jean Paul Gaultier
From the Sidewalk to the Catwalk

www.kunsthal.nl

1 0  f e b r u a r i  t / m  1 2  m e i  2 0 1 3

Miles Aldridge, Immaculate No.3, 2007, [Virgins] collection, photo Miles Aldridge, Haute couture 
spring/summer 2007, Courtesy Miles Aldridge and Reflex Gallery, Amsterdam, collection Alex Daniëls    

The exhibition is developed by the Montreal Museum of Fine Arts 
in collaboration with Maison Jean Paul Gaultier.

Dallas

San Francisco

Madrid

Rotterdam
▶

The Fashion World of Jean Paul Gaultier 
From the Sidewalk to the Catwalk, 

Kunsthal, Rotterdam 
© Nicolas Ruel 2013

AROUND THE WORLD WITH JEAN PAUL GAUlTIER

The street thus becomes an extension of the Museum, a work of art in its own right, contemporary and original, designed by a 
multidisciplinary team headed by the Atelier d’aménagement et de design urbain à la Ville de Montréal (AADU). Designed to be an 
outdoor gallery, the new space at Sherbrooke Street and Du Musée Avenue features outstanding works from the MMFA’s permanent 
collection: a successful example of urban design in Montreal and a substantial project that eloquently defines this particular 
downtown neighbourhood.

– Vie des Arts

Nothing seems to hamper this institution’s development or 
the success of its exports, some of which, like Cuba, Warhol, 
Tiffany and Jean Paul Gaultier, have gone around the world. 
It’s true that you don’t change a winning team. 

– Le français dans le monde, Paris

As the saviour of haute couture at the age of 60, the most 
iconoclastic of French designers is swapping the “rebel” 
label for “classic.” Madrid is presenting the retrospective that 
crowns him the maestro of the turn of the millennium.

– El Pais, Madrid

There is good reason to re-evaluate Mr. Gaultier,  
thanks in part to the popularity of an exhibition of  
his designs now touring museums in North America.  
It is a reminder of his influence.

– New York Times

At the initiative and under the direction of the Montreal 
Museum of Fine Arts, a travelling exhibition called The 
Fashion World of Jean Paul Gaultier: from the Sidewalk to the 
Catwalk is making its way around the world. After Montreal, 
Dallas, San Francisco and Madrid, the Kunsthal in Rotterdam 
is welcoming JPG’s creations.

– L’Officiel, Paris

The Fashion World of Jean Paul Gaultier took off on a phenomen-
al trajectory after leaving Montreal. After the Dallas Museum of Art, 
where it was inaugurated in the company of the Texan Dita von Teese, 
it was shown at the De Young Museum in San Francisco, where it 
closed with a total of 279,000 visitors. Then it travelled, with our cata-
logue translated into Spanish, to the Mapfre Foundation in Madrid, 
where the filmmaker Pedro Almodóvar attended the opening. Finally, 
it went to the Kunsthal in Rotterdam, where it was brilliantly combined 
with the iconic architecture of Rem Koolhaas and where, for the occa-
sion, the Eurostar train wore stripes and the trees were decked out in 
sailor shirts – all part of the event. This project is unprecedented in the 
history of fashion exhibitions. We will come back to this historical – or, 
as the couturier himself said tongue-in-cheek, “hysterical” – tour.

Realizing that every time the exhibition is put on, it is adapted, en-
riched, transported and installed by our teams, I wish to thank our 
collaborators and partners from home and abroad: Thierry-Maxime 
Loriot, Pascal Normandin, Sandra Gagné, Danielle Champagne, the 
entire team of the Maison Jean Paul Gaultier, the company Ubu and 
Mannequins Jolicoeur, as well as the directors of the institutions that 
made this tour possible: Olivier Meslay and Maxwell Anderson, John 
Buchanan, our sadly missed loyal “partner in crime,” as he used to say, 
and Diane B. “Dede” Wilsey, Pablo Jiménes Burillo and Emily Ansenk.

INAUGURATION OF our NEW SCULPTURE GARDEN
In celebration of design, the Museum, in May 2012, hosted 30 cities 
belonging to UNESCO’s Creative City Network, in co-ordination with 
the City of Montreal. The Mayor came to inaugurate our Sculpture 
Garden, enriched with 12 monumental sculptures recently lent, given 
or acquired by the Museum. With 22 sculptures, this is one of the 
largest collections of public art in the city, and visitors may now take 
a tour with our Volunteer Guides. The city finalized this project on the 
Museum’s property north of Sherbrooke Avenue with the help of Adad 
Hannah. Inauguration of the space, now a pedestrian precinct during 
the summer on Du Musée Avenue, made it possible for the Museum to 
affirm its presence with the immersive, poetic and playful installation 
of an urban field of daisies conceived by the artist Claude Cormier.   ■

Nathalie Bondil





LANDSCAPE, REVOLUTION, PEOPLE 
Aydin Matlabi
A Montreal artist of Iranian origin, Aydin Matlabi had his first museum exhibition showing 
his photographs of the East and its involvement in the Green Movement.

Chih-Chien Wang
The culmination of an innovative sponsorship, the exhibition featuring Chih-Chien Wang 
presented a poetry of daily life, both intimate and minimalist. The Museum became a 
patron of the arts by sponsoring an artist through use of the Director’s Discretionary Fund 
for acquisitions, to support not only an arts centre, but also an artist’s production for one 
year, while ultimately enriching our collection of contemporary art. Born in Taiwan, the 
artist was a resident at the excellent alternative visual arts centre, the Darling Foundry. An 
initiative to be repeated.

EXHIBITIONS OF 

From his residency at the Darling Foundry, the first event of this kind to be 
sponsored by a museum, Chih-Chien Wang exhibits the results of eighteen 
months of work at the Contemporary Art Square.

– Voir

2012-2013  
EXHIBITION  
CALENDAR

JEAN-NOËL DESMARAIS  
PAVILION

1980 to today*

Current Practices in the Quebec  

and Canada Art Scene

Since September 30, 2011

MMFA Production

Resolute Bay*

Night-for-Day Journey

November 6, 2011 – April 8, 2012

Co-production of the Moose Jaw Museum, 
Musée de Picardie and MMFA

From the 1220s  

to the Roaring ’20s*

Selections from the Museum’s 

Collection of European Master 

Drawings

February 13 – May 13, 2012

MMFA Production

Fragmentation*

Adaptation of the show LIPSYNCH 

directed by Robert Lepage 

April 18 – August 5, 2012

Production of the Biennale internationale d’art 
numérique and the MMFA

Beyond Pop Art 

Tom Wessselmann

May 19 – October 7, 2012

Production of the MMFA and  
the Estate of Tom Wesselmann, New York

Nineteenth-century British 

Photographs from the 

National Gallery of Canada*

May 29 – September 23, 2012

NGC Production

Dominique Blain  

Missa*

August 21 – October 14, 2012

MMFA Production

In Memoriam 

Antoni Tàpies*

September 18 – December 9, 2012 

MMFA Production

As Far as We Were,  

as Close as I Can*

Photographs by Chih-Chien Wang

December 18, 2012 – March 17, 2013

MMFA Production

Landscape,  

Revolution, People*

Photographs by Aydin Matlabi

December 18, 2012 – March 17, 2013

MMFA Production

Peru

Kingdoms of the Sun and the Moon

February 2 – June 16, 2013 

MMFA Production

MICHAL AND  
RENATA HORNSTEIN  
PAVILION

Lyonel Feininger

From Manhattan to the Bauhaus

January 21 – May 13, 2012

Production of the Whitney Museum of American 
Art in collaboration with the MMFA

Once upon a Time… 

Impressionism

Great French Paintings  

from the Clark

October 13, 2012 – January 20, 2013

Production of the Sterling and Francine Clark Art 
Institute in collaboration with the MMFA

LILIANE AND  
DAVID M. STEWART 
PAVILION – DESIGN LAB

Samare*

September 14, 2011 – August 19, 2012

MMFA Production

Piano Panier  

Piano Panier*

The Shopping Cart  

as Seen by Paprika

August 28, 2012 – May 12, 2013

MMFA Production

* Free admission

MUSEUM 
EXHIBITIONS  
ON TOUR

The Fashion World  
of Jean Paul Gaultier 
From the Sidewalk  
to the Catwalk

Fine Arts Museums of 

San Francisco – De Young

March 24 – August 19, 2012

Fundación Mapfre, Madrid

October 6, 2012 – January 6, 2013 

Kunsthal, Rotterdam

February 10 – May 12, 2013 

Production of the MMFA in collaboration with 
the Maison Jean Paul Gaultier, Paris

1. 
Aydin Matlabi, Child on Roof No. 2, from 
the series “Landscape, Revolution, People,” 
2009. Collection of the artist.
2. 
Chih-Chien Wang, Horse Looks Away, 2005.  
MMFA, purchase, thanks to the Montreal 
Museum of Fine Arts’ sponsorship of the 
artist’s studio in the Darling Foundry.
3. 
Dominique Blain, Missa, 1992. MMFA, 
purchase, Ultramar Collection of the MMFA. 
Photo © Meyers / Bloom Gallery, Los Angeles

4. 
Robert Lepage, Sarah Kenderdine and 
Jeffrey Shaw, Fragmentation, 2012.  
Image Volker Kuchelmeister
5. 
Oscar G. Rejlander, Poor Jo, before 1862, 
printed after 1879. Ottawa, National Gallery 
of Canada. Photo © NGC
6. 
Antoni Tàpies, Advance Proof 271, 1990. 
MMFA, gift of Yvon M. Tardif, MD
© Estate of Antoni Tàpies / SODRAC (2013) 

1.

2.



CONTEMPORARY ART AND GRAPHIC ARTS

Fragmentation – Robert Lepage
Mention should be made of the successful launch at the Museum of the first International Biennale 
of Digital Art with the inauguration of Fragmentation, an adaptation of three scenes from the 
show LIPSYNCH, directed by Robert Lepage for the ReACTOR 3D projection system designed by 
Sarah Kenderdine and Jeffrey Shaw.

DOMINIQUE BLAIN’S MISSA
To mark the first anniversary of the Claire and Marc Bourgie Pavilion of Quebec and Canadian 
Art, several activities were programmed, including Dominique Blain’s installation Missa, which 
was inaugurated in the Contemporary Art Square. This immobile piece of theatre consists of 
a hundred pairs of military boots suspended on wires and arranged in columns like a phan-
tom regiment of marionette soldiers. Acquired by the MMFA in 1994, Missa had never been 
exhibited at the Museum, even though it had toured the world since the time of its creation.

NINETEENTH-CENTURY BRITISH 
PHOTOGRAPHS
Organized by the National Gallery of Canada, this exhibition brought 
together some gems from the Gallery’s collection, including many rarely 
exhibited photographs.

In MemoriaM – Antoni Tàpies
This exhibition revealed several significant gifts made to the Museum to 
mark the death of the famous Catalan artist.

Twenty-five years after presenting the solo VINCI, the one-man show that launched 
him onto the international scene, Robert Lepage is back at the Montreal Museum of 
Fine Arts to present Fragmentation, a digital art installation that flirts with illusion 
using a sophisticated 3D imaging system.

– Le Devoir

The MMFA’s Graphic Arts Centre has some one hundred works 
by Antoni Tàpies. It has selected about thirty of them, dating 
from 1959 to 1998, for the exhibition In Memoriam. Most of the 
works were donated to the Museum by Yvon Tardif, a Quebec 
City physician, who has been passionate about this self-taught 
artist’s work ever since he first purchased a Tàpies in Mexico 
City in 1980.

– La Presse

3.

4.

5.

6.
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The catalogue included scholarly 
essays, testimonials by younger artists, 
and (most astonishingly) documents 
of Wesselmann’s forays into country 
music.

– Artforum, New York

The stunning book that was published 
for the recent retrospective in Canada 
deserves a place on our bookshelves.

– France Inter, Paris

 
 
 
 
204 pages, 193 illustrations.

The MMFA unravels the intricacies of the 
art object in a massive book featuring 
key works in its vast and polymorphic 
catalogue… a thoroughly detailed 
publication that traces the history of each 
object and explains why it was chosen.

– Le Devoir

Museum’s decorative arts and  
design book “totally sublime.”

– The Suburban, Montreal

 
 
 
 
400 pages, 750 photographs and illustrations.

This catalogue is a landmark work in the 
understanding of a nation in quest of its 
“Peruvianness”… Superbly documented 
with moving illustrations drawn from 
archival material, the book provides a 
comprehensive exploration of all aspects 
of Peruvian culture… A must-read.

– L’œil, Paris

Of note are the exceptional quality of 
the essays and the reproductions [in the 
catalogue], which makes you want to fly 
off to Montreal.

– Art Passions, Geneva

380 pages, over 450 illustrations.
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፛፛ Tom Wesselmann 
The Tom Wesselmann catalogue, the first monograph in French dedi-
cated to this artist, has won several prizes for its graphic quality. The 
graphics were designed by the Montreal agency Paprika. First, a prize 
was awarded by the prestigious California magazine Communication 
Arts. Every year since 1959, Communication Arts has published a 
“best of” for design, in a contest that awards prizes for the best pro-
ductions on the international scene. In 2012, Tom Wesselmann was 
selected in the “Catalogs” category. The publication also won a prize 
in the Coupe International Design + Image Competition, organized by 
the Toronto magazine Coupe, which is dedicated to graphic design. 
In addition, it won an award of excellence from Grafika, which for 
the past fifteen years has been awarding prizes to the best examples 
of graphic design in Quebec. This year, the catalogue was chosen to 
be among the top 100 projects of the year in Quebec, across all cat-
egories. This catalogue is a co-publication by the Montreal Museum 
of Fine Arts and Del Monico Books/Prestel (Munich, London, New 
York), which distributes the English and French editions worldwide.

፛፛ DECORATIVE ARTS AND DESIGN: THE COLLECTION 
OF THE MONTREAL MUSEUM OF FINE ARTS

The second volume of the ambitious “marathon” to publish works on 
the Museum’s collections, this time on the collection of Decorative Arts 
and Design, was completed with an original summary listing the works 
by the material they were made from. As a first for the Museum, it 

was launched at the Salon du Livre de Montréal and soon distributed 
internationally, like the first volume on the collections of Quebec and 
Canadian Art published last year, which is, for example, available in the 
Louvre bookstore. This superb, original and scholarly work, produced 
by our Publishing Department with support from Archives, with layout 
by the Montreal design firm orangetango, was placed under the gen-
eral editorship of Rosalind Pepall and Diane Charbonneau. We were 
delighted to win a prize in the “Outstanding Permanent Collection 
Catalogue” category from the Association of Art Museum 
Curators (AAMC) for this book, which was also selected as one of 
Quebec’s 100 best graphic projects by Grafika.

፛፛ Peru
Our Publishing Department also produced the catalogue Peru: 
Kingdoms of the Sun and the Moon. This work, which brings togeth-
er contributions by the most eminent specialists in Peruvian art and 
culture, including the Nobel prizewinner for literature Mario Vargas 
Llosa, retraces the founding images of modern Peru, today regarded 
as one of the world’s six cradles of civilization. The work is a co-publi-
cation by the Montreal Museum of Fine Arts/Éditions 5 Continents in 
Milan, which is also ensuring distribution in English and French on the 
international market.  ■

Francine Lavoie
Head of Publications

PRIZE-WINNING  
SCHOLARLY PUBLICATIONS

A NEW WEBSITE  
FOR THE MUSEUM 
Another major project the 
Museum completed this 
year was a total revamp of 
its website with the support 
of Bell, under the direction 
of Danielle Champagne and 
with the active participation 
of our teams in Archives 
and Computer Services. 
This user-friendly, fun site 
provides information and 
photos pertaining to 1,200 
works in the collection, with 
complete data. It also includes 
the exhibition calendar and 
information on the activities 
and services offered to our 
various audiences. Active 
development of social 
networks in the Museum’s 
communications strategy 
enabled it to find a firm footing 
in the new century while 
completing the polyptych of 
our reinvented Museum.
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CONSERVATION OF WORKS  
IN THE COLLECTION

▶
1.
Mattia Preti (1613-1699), Tobit Blessing 
Tobias, about 1660, oil on canvas, 
130.3 x 180.2 cm. 
Purchase, Horsley and Annie Townsend 
Bequest. Photos before and after 
conservation.
2.
Martin Honert (born in 1953), Linden, 
1990, metal, synthetic foam, plastic 
resin, paper, paint, 145 x 140 x 140 cm. 
Purchase, Camil Tremblay Estate and 
Horsley and Annie Townsend Bequest. 
© Martin Honert / SODRAC (2013). 
Photos during and after conservation at 
the Hamburger Bahnhof Museum, Berlin.
3.
Théophile Hamel (1817-1870), Jean 
Langevin, 1848, oil on canvas, 97.5 x 
77 cm. Gift of Langevin and Lise Coté in 
honour of the Montreal Museum of Fine 
Arts’ 150th anniversary. Photos before 
and after conservation.

The Conservation Department’s documentation activities for new 
acquisitions have increased significantly in recent years: among them 
is the development of holdings by Quebec photographers (G. Szilazi, 
C.  Gutsche, S. Clément, D. Cummings, C. Beaugrand-Champagne, 
etc.), to which 370 images were added in 2012-2013. In the decora-
tive arts, there was an important gift of Italian avant-garde objects 
from Joseph Menosky’s collection and a collection of Schneider glass, 
a gift of Sandra Black and Jeff Rose.

Loan requests for early paintings sometimes result in the develop-
ment of partnerships. With the loan of Mattia Preti’s Tobit Blessing 
Tobias to the Muscarelle Museum of Art, Williamsburg, for a mono-
graphic exhibition on the artist, restoration costs were shared equally. 
As well, we are very proud to have received a major grant from the 
Bank of America, which enables us to hire a conservator to do the 
research and major restoration of a darkened, overpainted canvas by 
Valentin de Boulogne, Abraham Sacrificing Isaac. The Louvre and 
the Metropolitan Museum of Art have already selected this work 
for inclusion in a major retrospective monograph in 2016. In collab-
oration with Elaine Tolmatch’s team, the search for funding to hire 
professional assistance is continuing, and BNP Paribas will in all prob-
ability contribute financially to the restoration of this painting and 
the replacement of the frame of Emanuel de Witte’s Interior with a 
Woman Playing a Virginal.

Plans are also under way for the conservation of frames in the col-
lection of European art. Major work has already been done on the 
original large frame of William Bouguereau’s Crown of Flowers and 

that of Cottage Interior by Jozef Israëls, a painting that is also under-
going restoration.

In Quebec and Canadian art, recently acquired paintings by Théophile 
Hamel, Jean Langevin, and Marc-Aurèle Fortin, Montreal Harbour, 
were restored along with their frames (solidification and repairs to 
the surface for the former and replacement for the latter).

Martin Honert’s Linden, an important sculpture in the international 
contemporary art collection, underwent an extensive, delicate struc-
tural restoration to re-establish the original shape of the tree, which 
had been altered by the weight of the materials used in the object. 
Following this successful project, a loan was authorized for the work 
to be presented in a retrospective on the artist at the Hamburger 
Bahnhof (Nationalgalerie, Staatliche Museen zu Berlin) and the 
Vancouver Art Gallery.

We are working on other collaborative projects, including one with 
the Centre de conservation du Québec, whose expertise in textile 
restoration enabled the stabilization and cleaning of seven textiles 
in our collections for inclusion in the exhibition Peru: Kingdoms of 
the Sun and the Moon. Lastly, the Canadian Conservation Institute 
has begun a major research project on the technology that will be 
used to restore an imperial Chinese throne (Qian Long dynasty, 1735-
1796), which will be featured in our galleries of Asian art.  ■

Richard Gagnier 
Head of Conservation

1.

2. 3.
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The Museum’s Works of Art  
Travel the World

1.

2.

3.

4. 7.

6.

5.

FPO
in Canada

1.  Paul-Émile Borduas
Saint-Hilaire, Quebec, 1905 – Paris 1960
Composition 40, 1958, oil on canvas, 130 x 97 cm 
Gift of Renée Borduas. 
© Estate of Paul-Émile Borduas / SODRAC (2013)

The Automatiste Revolution : Montreal, 1941-1960
Art Gallery of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta
June 23 – October 14, 2012
The Prairie Art Gallery, Grande Prairie, Alberta
February 15 – May 12, 2013

2.  Pierre Dorion
Born in Ottawa in 1959
Untitled, 1999, oil on canvas, 112 x 56 cm
Purchase, Hugh G. Jones Fund

Pierre Dorion
Musée d’art contemporain de Montréal, Québec
October 4, 2012 – January 6, 2013
Dalhousie Art Gallery, Halifax, Nova Scotia
March 15 – May 5, 2013

3.  Marc-Aurèle Fortin
Sainte-Rose, Quebec, 1888 – Macamic, Quebec, 1970 
The White House, about 1924-1925, oil on cardboard, 
32.3 x 40.6 cm. Gift of Geneviève Bazin in memory of 
her father, Jules Bazin. 
© Fondation Marc-Aurèle Fortin / SODRAC (2013)

Marc-Aurèle Fortin 
Paysages modernes du Québec traditionnel
Centre d’exposition de l’Université de Montréal, Québec
September 13 – December 9, 2012
Centre d’exposition de Rouyn-Noranda, Quebec
January 11 – April 21, 2013

4.  Claude Tousignant
Born in Montreal in 1932 
Latin Circle, 1969, acrylic on canvas, 244 cm (diam.)
Purchase, Horsley and Annie Townsend Bequest

Les Plasticiens et les années 1950-1960 
Musée national des beaux-arts du Québec, Quebec
February 7 – May 12, 2013

In the United States

5.  Valérie Blass
Born in Montreal in 1967 
She Was a Big Success, 2009, polystyrene, wood, 
synthetic hair, vinyl paint, 219 x 83.6 x 83.6 cm 
Purchase, the Canada Council for the Arts’ Acquisition 
Assistance Program and gift of Nick Tedeschi

Oh, Canada
MASS MoCA, North Adams, Massachusetts
May 27, 2012 – April 8, 2013

6.  Mattia Preti
Taverna 1613 – La Valette, Malta, 1699 
Tobit Blessing Tobias, about 1660 
Oil on canvas, 130.3 x 180.2 cm 
Purchase, Horsley and Annie Townsend Bequest

A Brush with Passion : Mattia Preti (1613-1699)
Paintings from North American Collections  
in Honor of the 400th Anniversary of his Birth
Muscarelle Museum of Art, Williamsburg, Virginia
February 9 – April 14, 2013

7.  Félix Vallotton
Lausanne 1865 – Paris 1925 
Vuillard Drawing at Honfleur, 1902 
Oil on cardboard, 81.7 x 59.9 cm 
Purchase, the Museum Campaign 1988-1993 Fund

The Draw of the Normandy Coast, 1860-1960
Portland Museum of Art, Maine
June 14 – September 3, 2012
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8.

9.

12.

11.

10. 13.

 
 
In Europe

8.  Otto Dix
Untermhaus, Germany, 1891 – Singen, Germany, 1969 
Portrait of the Lawyer Hugo Simons, 1925, tempera 
and oil on wood, 100.3 x 70.3 cm. Purchase, grant 
from the Government of Canada under the terms 
of the Cultural Property Export and Import Act, 
gifts of the Succession J.A. DeSève, Mr. and Mrs. 
Charles and Andrea Bronfman, Mr. Nahum Gelber 
and Dr. Sheila Gelber, Mrs. Phyllis Lambert, the 
Volunteer Association and the Junior Associates 
of the Montreal Museum of Fine Arts, Mrs. Louise 
L. Lamarre, Mr. Pierre Théberge, the Museum’s 
acquisition fund, and the Horsley and Annie 
Townsend Bequest. 
© Estate of Otto Dix / SODRAC (2013)

The Eye of the World : Otto Dix and New Objectivity
Kunstmuseum Stuttgart, Germany
November 10, 2012 – April 7, 2013

9.  Martin Honert
Born in Bottrop, Germany, in 1953 
Linden, 1990, metal, synthetic foam, plastic resin, 
paper, paint, 145 x 140 x 140 cm 
Purchase, Camil Tremblay Estate and Horsley and 
Annie Townsend Bequest. 
© Martin Honert / SODRAC (2013)

Martin Honert. Children’s Crusade
Nationalgalerie, Staatliche Museen zu Berlin, Germany
October 7, 2012 – April 7, 2013

10.  Jean-Paul Riopelle
Montreal 1923 – L’Isle-aux-Grues, Quebec, 2002 
Untitled, 1946, oil on paper mounted on canvas, 
27.6 x 21.6 cm. Gift of Hélène and Jean-Marie Roy. 
© Estate of Jean-Paul Riopelle / SODRAC (2013)

L’art en guerre, France 1938-1947
Musée d’Art Moderne de la Ville de Paris, France
October 12, 2012 – February 17, 2013
Guggenheim Museum, Bilbao, Spain
March 19 – September 8, 2013

11.  Matthias Stom
Amersfoort (?) about 1600 – Sicily (?) after 1652 
Christ and the Woman Taken in Adultery, , about 
1630-1633, oil on canvas, 101.6 x 137.2 cm
Purchase, Horsley and Annie Townsend Bequest and 
gift of Mr. and Mrs. Michal Hornstein

Corps et ombres. Le Caravagisme européen
Musée des Augustins, Toulouse, France
June 22 – October 14, 2012

 
 
 
 

12.  Giovanni Battista Tiepolo
Venice 1696 – Madrid 1770 
Apelles Painting the Portrait of Campaspe, about 1726
Oil on canvas, 57.4 x 73.7 cm
Adaline Van Horne Bequest

Giambattista Tiepolo
Azienda Speciale Villa Manin, Passariano, Udine, Italy
December 15, 2012 – April 7, 2013

13.  James Tissot
Nantes 1836 – Buillon (France) 1902 
October, 1877, oil on canvas, 216 x 108.7 cm
Gift of Lord Strathcona and family

L’impressionnisme et la mode
Musée d’Orsay, Paris, France
September 25, 2012 – January 20, 2013
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▶
Adriaen Isenbrandt

Antwerp (?) – Bruges 1551,  
Active in Bruges from 1510
The Adoration of the Magi

1520s (?)
Oil on wood

33.5 x 27.4 cm
Gift of Mr. and Mrs. Michal Hornstein

Acquisitions
Another Stellar Year

In 2012-2013, the Museum acquired 894 works, with a value of $18.8 
million, including $18.4 million in gifts. This is a second record for gifts 
since 2008-2009, when a total of $17 million in donated works was 
received – not to mention the integration of the Stewart collection 
into the Museum of Decorative Arts in 2000, with a value of $15 mil-
lion. The average value of gifts in the past five years is evaluated at 
$12 million per year, double that of previous years, which is a stellar 
performance. The collection will soon reach the symbolic milestone of 
40,000 works. The development of the collections has been especially 
remarkable in the past five years, during which time the collection has 
grown by one-seventh, or 5,053 works. With the Stewart donation of 
5,000 works in 2000, the Museum acquired one-quarter of its collec-
tion in just over a decade: this is spectacular growth. Thanks are due to 
our generous donors as well as to our experts on the committees and 
in the Curatorial, Archives and Conservation Departments, who han-
dle these countless files. Among our remarkable collectors, the names 
Michal and Renata Hornstein loom large.

Two extraordinary announcements ushered in the first day of spring in 
2012, as we realized a long-cherished dream: first, Michal and Renata 
Hornstein officially donated their superb collection of Old Masters to 
the Museum, and then the Quebec government announced a grant 
to build a new international pavilion named for our benefactors, as 
part of Montreal’s 375th anniversary celebrations.

The Hornsteins have donated numerous important works to our 
European collection. Michal, who was born in Poland, arrived in 
Montreal in 1950 and has been deeply committed to the Museum 
since 1970, where he has established solid ties of trust with Bernard 
Lamarre, Brian M. Levitt, Paul Lavallée, Hilliard T. Goldfarb, Michelle 
Prévost and Danièle Archambault. He has served as Vice-President of 
the Museum since 1979 and, since 1982, has chaired the Committee 
of Non-Canadian Art before 1900. These proud Montrealers support 
many causes, including healthcare and the arts. They are deeply at-
tached to their adopted city. With this gift of their collection, they are 
leaving a legacy to future generations of their commitment to a city 
that is embedded in their DNA. This collection tells the story of their 
lives: they are offering part of themselves.

We are delighted to welcome their collection, which has been sought 
after beyond our borders, and to keep it in Quebec. This major col-
lection, which consists primarily of paintings, spans several centuries, 
from the Renaissance to the advent of modern art. It includes a re-
markable group of paintings from the Dutch and Flemish Golden Age 

(seventeenth century), including masterpieces like Jan Steen’s Return of 
the Prodigal Son and Jan Lievens’s Elderly Scholar in His Study. Known 
to specialists around the world, it is an incomparable national treasure.

Because the Museum’s acquisition funds are financed entirely through 
our private funds, it would be impossible for the MMFA – or any other 
Canadian museum – to assemble such a collection today.  ■

Nathalie Bondil

፛፛ MICHAL AND RENATA HORNSTEIN, THE FIRST COUPLE 
TO BE HONOURED AS “GREAT MONTREALERS”

On November 22, Michal and Renata Hornstein, our leading pa-
trons, were recognized as Great Montrealers in the cultural sector by 
the Academy of Great Montrealers, which each year honours four 
Montreal luminaries whose contribution to the community and leader-
ship in their respective spheres of activity, whether economic, social, 
cultural or scientific, are well known. During the reception, the Board 
of Trade of Metropolitan Montreal paid tribute to the Hornsteins, these 
committed philanthropists who set an example to everyone and have 
contributed in a remarkable way to the prestige of our city.

The major campaign “150 gifts for our 150th” continues
We are deeply indebted to the donors whose gifts were received in 2012-2013: 

Donors

Anonymous

Boyd, Michael

Brillant Fluehler, Suzanne 

and Hans C. Fluehler

Gagnon, Louis

Guérin, Nicol

Humphrey, Sarah 

and Gerald van Gurp

Menosky, Joseph

Poulin, Roland

Rose, Jeff and Sandra Black

Rosshandler, Leo

Promised gift

Mongeau, Bernard 

and Simone Lévesque

Senator Diane Bellemare 
acknowledged the Hornsteins’ 
gift of their collection to the 
MMFA: 

“[I was asked to name my 
favourite cultural achievement 
in 2012.] It was impossible 
for me to choose just one of 
the many that impressed me. 
One in particular did stand 
out, however, and that was a 
gift from Michal and Renata 
Hornstein, who donated their 
remarkable collection of Old 
Masters to the Montreal 
Museum of Fine Arts. It is 
the largest private donation 
to a Quebec museum in 
modern history. Honourable 
senators… I would ask that 
you join me in congratulating 
the Hornsteins on their gift, 
which will give the public 
access to these priceless 
works.”

●  In the following pages, a red dot before the title identifies gifts for our 150th that were received during the 2012-2013 fiscal year.
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Willem van Aelst
Delft 1627 – Amsterdam (?) after 1687

Still Life with Herring
1666 (?)
Oil on canvas
43.7 x 33 cm
Gift of Mr. and Mrs. Michal Hornstein
2013.8
[ill. 8]

Abraham van Beyeren
The Hague 1620/21 – Alkmaar or Overschie 1690

Banquet Still Life
Between 1650-1660
Oil on canvas
102.3 x 100.1 cm
Gift of Mr. and Mrs. Michal Hornstein
2013.13
[ill. 7]

Jan Both
Utrecht about 1615 – Utrecht 1652

Southern Landscape with Travellers
1649
Oil on copper
41.4 x 54.6 cm
Gift of Mr. and Mrs. Michal Hornstein
2013.12
[ill. 9]

Quiringh van Brekelenkam
Zwammerdam (?) about 1620 – Leiden after 1669

Interior of a Tailor’s Workshop
About 1655-1660
Oil on panel
57.5 x 73.2 cm
Gift of Mr. and Mrs. Michal Hornstein
2013.6
[ill. 1]

Pieter Claesz
Berchem, near Antwerp (or Burgsteinfurt, 
Westphalia?), 1597/98 – Haarlem 1660

A Vanitas Still Life with Skull, Books, Römer, Oil 
Lamp and Pen
1645
Oil on wood
39.7 x 60 cm
Gift of Mr. and Mrs. Michal Hornstein
2012.51
[ill. 4]

Cornelis Cornelisz. van Haarlem
Haarlem 1562 – Haarlem 1638

The Hesperides Filling the Cornucopia
1622
Oil on canvas
68.7 x 99 cm
Gift of Mr. and Mrs. Michal Hornstein
2013.11
[ill. 5]

Allart van Everdingen
Alkmaar 1621 – Amsterdam 1675

Mountain Village by Water
1664
Oil on wood
31.8 x 48.1 cm
Gift of Mr. and Mrs. Michal Hornstein
2013.10
[ill. 6]

Jan van Goyen
Leiden 1596 – The Hague 1656

Sailing Boats on the Maas, with Dordrecht in the 
Background 
1642 or 1643
Oil on wood
31.1 x 41.1 cm
Gift of Mr. and Mrs. Michal Hornstein
2013.9
[ill. 10]

Adriaen Isenbrandt
Antwerp (?) – Bruges 1551 
Active in Bruges from 1510

The Adoration of the Magi
1520s (?)
Oil on wood
33.5 x 27.4 cm
Gift of Mr. and Mrs. Michal Hornstein
2012.49
See page 31

Jan Lievens
Leiden 1607 – Amsterdam 1674

Elderly Scholar in His Study
About 1630
Oil on wood
62.7 x 52.2 cm
Gift of Mr. and Mrs. Michal Hornstein
2012.50
See page 53

Michal and Renata Hornstein donation

1.

3.

2.

4.

works acquired during the 2012-2013 fiscal year
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Nicolaes Maes
Dordrecht 1634 – Amsterdam 1693

Boy Receiving Alms from an Old Man / The 
Almsgiver 
1656
Oil on canvas
84.9 x 67.7 cm
Gift of Mr. and Mrs. Michal Hornstein
2013.7
[ill. 2]

Jacob van Ruisdael
Haarlem 1628/29 – Haarlem 1682

The Skirts of a Forest near a Pond 
Late 1650s
Oil on canvas
58.2 x 72.5 cm
Gift of Mr. and Mrs. Michal Hornstein
2012.52
[ill. 3]

Jan Steen
Leiden 1626 – Leiden 1679

The Return of the Prodigal Son
About 1668-1670
Oil on canvas
119 x 95 cm
Gift of Mr. and Mrs. Michal Hornstein in honour of 
Paul Lavallée
2012.48
See page 55

Gift of the  
Hornstein collection 
to the MMFA  
“For the love of art 
and of Montreal.”

– La Presse

An exceptional gift 
of Old Masters to the 
Montreal Museum of 
Fine Arts.

– Codart, The Hague, 
The Netherlands

To house this outstanding gift and reinstall the collections of European painting and sculpture 
in a coherent manner, the Montreal Museum of Fine Arts has decided to expand once again … 
The empty space left on the walls by these paintings, which are akin to life companions, speaks 
volumes about the donors’ generosity and the philanthropy of the pre-eminent North American 
benefactors who contribute to enriching their museums.

– L’Objet d’art, Paris

”It is very important for us to share our collection  
with the public. People should see the works we have,” 
Hornstein said during a lowkey media conference. Hornstein, 
long a key figure in Canadian art, was active on the boards of 
both the National Gallery of Canada and the MMFA.

– Ottawa Citizen

5.

6.

8. 9.

7.

10.
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Ancient  
Cultures

Eiraku Hozen
1795-1854, active in Kyoto

Tea Bowl (chawan)
Between 1827 and 1849
Earthenware, painted decoration in underglaze iron 
oxide brown over buff slip
7 cm (h.); 12.8 cm (diam.)
Gift of Teruha Kagemori
2012.168.1-6

Kojima Seibei (Shikkōsai)
Active late 18th-early 19th c.

Tea Caddy (ō-natsume)
19th c.
Hiramakie and roiro-nuri lacquer on wood
7.8 cm (h.); 7.1 cm (diam.)
Gift of Teruha Kagemori
2012.169.1-7

CAMBODIA
Khmer, Angkor period

● 3 Bottles and 2 Jars
11th-13th c. A.D.
Stoneware, iron oxide brown glaze
Various dimensions
Gift of the Guérin-van Oenen family in honour of the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.316-320

CHINA
Ming dynasty (1368-1644)

● Pot with Four Handles and Chicken-Head Spout 
14th-17th c. A.D.
Stoneware, white glaze
11.6 x 12.5 x 15.5 cm
Gift of the Guérin-van Oenen family in honour of the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.215.1-2

JAPAN
Late Edo period (1615-1868)-early Meiji period 
(1868-1912)

Incense Box (ko-go-)
Mid 18th-19th c.
Carved lacquer on wood
2.1 cm (h.); 7.7 cm (diam.)
Gift of Teruha Kagemori
2012.170.1-5

KOREA
Yi dynasty (1392-1910)

● Liquor Cup and Saucer (keryangbae)
15th-16th c. A.D.
Stoneware, incised and stamped decoration under 
a celadon glaze
13.3 x 15.6 x 12.1 cm
Gift of the Guérin-van Oenen family in honour of the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.219.1-2

NORTHERN VIETNAM
Late Tran dynasty (1226-1400)-early Lê dynasty 
(1428-1788)

● Bowl and Jar
14th-15th c. A.D.
Stoneware, painted decoration in underglaze 
brown or blue
Various dimensions
Gift of the Guérin-van Oenen family in honour of the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.352, 354

THAILAND, SI SATCHANALAI
Ayutthaya period

● 14 Architectural Ornaments
13th-18th c.
Stoneware (Sawankhalok ware)
Various dimensions
Gift of the Guérin-van Oenen family in honour of the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.213, 218, 222, 248, 305, 308-313, 347, 
349, 383

● 45 Figurines
14th-18th c. 
Stoneware (Sawankhalok ware)
Various dimensions
Gift of the Guérin-van Oenen family in honour of the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.214/345

● 60 Vessels
13th-16th c.
Stoneware, painted decoration in underglaze iron 
oxide brown (Sawankhalok ware)
Various dimensions
Gift of the Guérin-van Oenen family in honour of the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.216/401

● 22 Boxes
16th c. 
Stoneware, painted decoration in underglaze iron 
brown
Various dimensions
Gift of the Guérin-van Oenen family in honour of the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.223-232, 282-283, 297-300, 302-304, 371, 
385, 389

● 2 Lanterns and 3 Lamps
14th-16th c. 
Stoneware, white, brown and celadon glazes
Various dimensions
Gift of the Guérin-van Oenen family in honour of the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.249, 255-256, 350, 367

● 12 Supports and 4 Weights
14th-16th c. 
Stoneware
Various dimensions
Gift of the Guérin-van Oenen family in honour of the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.372-379, 393-400

THAILAND, SUKHOTHAI
Ayutthaya period

● 11 Vessels
15th-16th c.
Stoneware, painted decoration in underglaze iron 
oxide brown 
Various dimensions
Gift of the Guérin-van Oenen family in honour of the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.257, 342-344, 351, 361-366

● 3 Architectural Ornaments
14th-18th c.
Stoneware
Various dimensions
Gift of the Guérin-van Oenen family in honour of the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.359-360, 368

VIETNAM, HAI DUONG PROVINCE
Late Lê dynasty (1428-1788) 
Red River Delta kilns

● 4 Boxes
15th-16th c. A.D.
Stoneware, painted decoration in underglaze blue
Various dimensions
Gift of the Guérin-van Oenen family in honour of the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.355-358

Works  
on paper

Karel Appel
Amsterdam 1921 – Zurich 2006

Untitled
1970s
2 silkscreens, 39/100
Approx. 50 x 65 cm (each)
Gift of Lucien Maréchal and Johanne Drapeau
2012.196-197
© Karel Appel Foundation / SODRAC (2013)

Attributed to 
Carlo Galli Bibiena
Vienna 1728 – Vienna (?) 1787

Study of a Palatial Hallway and Forecourt
Mid-18th c.
Pen and ink, ink wash
21.1 x 16 cm
Gift of Dr. Sean B. Murphy
2012.81

Giuseppe Bernardino Bison
Palmanova, Italy, 1762 – Milan 1844

Neptune
Early 19th c.
Pen and ink, ink wash over traces of graphite
36.9 x 20 cm
Gift of Dr. Sean B. Murphy
2012.182

William Bouguereau
La Rochelle 1825 – La Rochelle 1905

● Self-portrait
About 1879
Chalk and/or charcoal with white chalk highlights
44.7 x 32.4 cm
Gift in memory of Isaac Battat, in honour of the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.78 
See opposite

Félix Buhot
Valognes, France, 1847 – Paris 1898

L’Ensorcelée
Concept for the first frontispiece of the novel 
L’Ensorcelée by Jules Barbey d’Aurevilly
About 1877
Pastel, charcoal and traces of gouache on ink wash
31.7 x 23.2 cm
Purchase, Claude Dalphond Fund in memory of 
Gisèle Lachance
2012.469

 

Concept for the first frontispiece of the novel 
L’Ensorcelée by Jules Barbey d’Aurevilly
About 1877
Etching and drypoint, trial proof, only state
30.8 x 21.4 cm (sheet)
24.7 x 17.7 cm (platemark)
Purchase, Claude Dalphond Fund in memory of 
Gisèle Lachance
2012.470

Charles Michel-Ange Challe
Paris 1718 – Paris 1778

Interior View of an Ancient Temple with the Figure 
of a Goddess
and
Interior View of an Ancient Palace Complex
About 1742-1749
Pen and ink, ink wash 
Approx. 26 x 18 cm (each drawing)
Gift of Dr. Sean B. Murphy
2012.82-83

Jim Dine
Born in Cincinnati in 1935

Vegetables IV
1969
Lithograph, collage, 69/96
45.5 x 41.5 cm
Gift of Susan Watterson
2012.154
© Jim Dine / SODRAC (2013)

Kees van Dongen
Delfshaven, Netherlands, 1877 – Monaco 1968

Illustrated Edition of Les Lépreuses [The Lepers]
Novel by Henry de Montherlant (1895-1972)
1947
26 lithographs
33.2 x 25.7 cm (each)
Liliane and David M. Stewart Collection, gift of  
Luc d’Iberville-Moreau
2012.164.1-2

International Art

▶
150th-anniversary gift

William Bouguereau (1825-1905)
Self-portrait, about 1879

Chalk and/or charcoal with  
white chalk highlights, 44.7 x 32.4 cm

Gift in memory of Isaac Battat, in honour 
of the Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 

150th anniversary
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John Flaxman
York, England, 1755 – London 1826

Oedipus and His Daughters
About 1803
Pen and ink, ink wash
18.6 x 24.6 cm
Gift of Susan Watterson
2012.189

Jacques de Gheyn II
Antwerp 1565 – The Hague 1629

St. Bartholomew Apostle
From the series “Christ, the Apostles and St. Paul”
About 1596
Etching, state I/II
18.5 x 18.5 cm (sheet)
15.3 cm (diam., platemark)
Gift of Dr. Jonathan L. Meakins and Dr. Jacqueline 
McClaran
2012.203

Henry de Groux
Brussels 1867 – Marseilles 1930

Saint Michael the Archangel
1900-1905
Pastel on paper mounted on cardboard
105 x 64.7 cm
Anonymous gift
2012.206

Erich Heckel
Döbeln, Germany, 1883 – Radolfzell, Germany, 1970

Zwei Menschen [Two Persons]
1910
Woodcut, state I/II
49.7 x 38.9 cm (sheet)
37.8 x 32.8 cm (image)
Anonymous gift
2012.422 
© Estate of Erich Heckel / SODRAC (2013)

Joan Jonas
Born in New York in 1936

Untitled
From the performance “Double Lunar Dogs”
1981
Acrylic (?) on paper
96.5 x 126.5 cm (approx.)
Gift of Susan Watterson
2012.146

Katsukawa Shunkō
Edo (now Tokyo) 1743 – Edo 1812

● The Kabuki Actor Onoe Matsusuke I
1770-1780
Woodcut
30.5 x 13.5 cm
Gift of Leo Rosshandler
2013.39

Katsukawa Shunshō
Active in Edo (now Tokyo), 1726-1793

● The Kabuki Actor Ichikawa Danjūrō V
1770-1780
Woodcut, embossing
28.7 x 13.8 cm
Gift of Leo Rosshandler
2013.38

Kitagawa Utamaro
Kawagoe, Japan, 1753 – Edo (now Tokyo) 1806

● Ariwara No Narihira
From the series “Tōsei Kodomo Rokkasen [Modern 
Children as the Six Poetic Immortals]”
1804
Woodcut, embossing
36.2 x 24.6 cm
Gift of Leo Rosshandler
2013.40

Gustav Klimt
Vienna 1862 – Vienna 1918

2 Studies for the Portrait of Adele Bloch-Bauer I
About 1904-1906
Conté crayon
45 x 30.9 cm
31.6 x 45.4 cm
Gift of Francis Gutmann and family
2012.413-414

2 Studies for the Portrait of Adele Bloch-Bauer II
1910-1911
Graphite, Conté crayon (?) 
56.1 x 36.7 cm
55.2 x 35 cm
Gift of Francis Gutmann and family
2012.415-416

Sol LeWitt
Hartford, Connecticut 1928 – New York 2007

Untitled No. 1 and Untitled No. 2
1975
2 etchings, edition of 10, artist’s proofs
Approx. 50 x 50 cm (each)
Gift of Susan Watterson
2012.160-161

John Hamilton Mortimer
Eastbourne, England, 1740 – London 1779

The Tale of Cornelia and Tiberius Gracchus
About 1770
Pen and ink, ink wash
14.6 x 25.4 cm
Gift of Susan Watterson
2012.194

James Northcote
Plymouth, England, 1746 – London 1831 
After Salvator Rosa (1615-1673)

Jesus Healing a Woman with a Flow of Blood 
About 1776-1777
Pen and ink, ink wash over traces of graphite (?)
18.9 x 21 cm
Gift of Susan Watterson
2012.195

Odilon Redon
Bordeaux 1840 – Paris 1916

● Homage to Goya Series
1885
6 lithographs
Approx. 45 x 32 cm (each)
Gift in memory of Isaac Battat, in honour of the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.79.1-7

George Richmond
London 1809 – London 1896

Julia Tatham and Her Sister
1829-1830
Pen and ink
17.6 x 16.4 cm
Gift of Susan Watterson
2012.193

George Romney
Dalton-in-Furness, England, 1734 – Kendal, 
England, 1802

Satan Rallying His Host
1793-1794
Graphite
14.1 x 23.6 cm
Gift of Susan Watterson
2012.191

Study of a Young Girl Seated
1780s
Pen and ink over traces of graphite
21.4 x 15 cm
Gift of Susan Watterson
2012.192

Jan Sadeler I
Brussels 1550 – Venice 1600 
After Hans Bol (1534-1593)

Land- and Riverscapes with Stories of the Old and 
New Testament Series 
After 1572
8 etchings, only states 
Approx. 25.9 x 35.5 cm (sheet) (each)
Approx. 20.5 x 26.7 cm (platemark) (each)
Gift of Dr. Jonathan L. Meakins and Dr. Jacqueline 
McClaran
2012.201.1-8

Julius Schnorr von Carolsfeld
Leipzig 1794 – Dresden 1872

A Medieval Prince (recto)
Study for The Meeting of Jacob and Rachel (verso)
1820
Pen and ink over traces of graphite (recto)
Graphite (verso)
26.4 x 18.7 cm (two sheets conjoined by the artist)
Gift of Susan Watterson
2012.190

Utagawa Kunisada (Toyokuni III)
Edo (now Tokyo) 1786 – Edo 1864

● 2 Prints
From the series “Higashiyama Sakura Zoshi [The 
Higashiyama Story Book]”
1851
Woodcut, embossing
Approx. 37.4 x 25.7 cm (each)
Gift of Leo Rosshandler
2013.41, 43

● The Actor Ichikawa Danjūrō VIII as Natsume 
Shirozaburō
From the series “Shinpan koshi no shiranami”
1851
Woodcut
37.1 x 25.8 cm
Gift of Leo Rosshandler
2013.42

Utagawa Toyokuni I
Edo (now Tokyo) 1769 – Edo 1825

● Chushingura [The Loyal Retainers] (Opening Act)
1800-1810
Woodcut, embossing
31.3 x 21.9 cm
Gift of Leo Rosshandler
2013.37

Jan van de Velde II
Rotterdam or Delft about 1593 – Enkhuizen 1641

March
From the series “The Months”
1616
Etching
16 x 30.7 cm (sheet)
15.7 x 30.4 cm (platemark)
Gift of Dr. Jonathan L. Meakins and Dr. Jacqueline 
McClaran
2012.202

Tom Wesselmann
Cincinnati 1931 – New York 2004

Study for Mouth #10
1967
Liquitex over graphite underdrawing
47 x 42.4 cm
Gift of the Tom Wesselmann Estate 
2012.471 
© Estate of Tom Wesselmann / SODRAC, Montreal / 
VAGA, New York (2013)

international Art (cont’d)

◀
150th-anniversary gift
Elisabeth Frink (1930-1993), In memoriam I and In memoriam II (detail), 1981, bronze, 1/6, 122 x 114 x 76 cm (approx.), 132 x 107 x 75 cm (approx.). Gift in memory of Barry Seymour Boyd. 
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Painting

Photography

Chen Jiagang
Born in Chongqing, China, in 1962

Sample Room No. 1
2010
Ink-jet print, 2/8
127.6 x 207.2 cm (by sight)
Gift of Andrew Lui and family
2012.167

Pierre Choumoff
Hrodna, Belarus, 1872 – Lodz, Poland, 1936

62 Photographs
Between 1912 and 1917
Gelatin silver prints
Various dimensions
Gift of the Neil Shaw family
2012.543-604

Eugène Druet
Paris 1868 – Paris 1917

68 Photographs
Between 1896 and 1900
Gelatin silver prints
Various dimensions
Gift of the Neil Shaw family
2012.475-542

Lee Friedlander
Born in Aberdeen, Washington, in 1934

R. O. Blechman. New York City
1968
Gelatin silver print
28 x 35.4 cm
Gift of Monique Martineau in memory of her 
husband, Michael A. Enzle
2012.184
© Lee Friedlander, courtesy Fraenkel Gallery,  
San Francisco

Richard Mosse
Born in Dublin in 1980

Man Size
2011
Digital chromogenic print, 1/2
180.5 x 225.5 cm (by sight)
Purchase, the Honourable Charles Lapointe, P.C., Fund
2012.37

Anne Poirier
Born in Marseilles in 1942
and 
Patrick Poirier
Born in Nantes in 1942

Col Tempo and Vanitas
1991
2 gelatin silver prints, watercolour or ink highlights, 
2 sheets of music 
64.7 x 50.6 cm (each)
Gift of Susan Watterson
2012.147-148

international Art (cont’d)

Jules de Balincourt
Born in Paris in 1972

Boys’ Club, 2011, oil on plywood, 177.9 x 203.3 cm. Gift of W. Bruce C. Bailey in honour of Stéphane Aquin, Curator. 2012.162

Eugène Isabey
Paris 1803 – Paris 1886

After the Duel
1875 (?)
Oil on wood
40.7 x 32.5 cm
Gift of Philippe and Michèle Stora
2012.212

Peter Klasen
Born in Lübeck, Germany, in 1935

Sink
1967
Acrylic on canvas
100 x 80.8 cm
Gift of Guy Joussemet
2012.171 
© Peter Klasen / SODRAC (2013)

Sculpture

Robert Anning Bell
London 1863 – London 1933

Honeysuckle and The Mermaid
About 1904-1907 (1899, first version)
2 polychromed plaster reliefs 
Approx. 39 x 31 x 3 cm (each)
Purchase, Horsley and Annie Townsend Bequest and 
gift of Daniel Mayer
2012.89-90 
Honeysuckle: see opposite

Aimé-Jules Dalou
Paris 1838 – Paris 1902

The Unacknowledged Truth or The Broken Mirror
First model, 1890s; first edition, 1902 (cast after 
1918)
Bronze
Cast Susse Frères, Paris
14.3 x 8.8 x 12.8 cm
Gift of Philippe and Michèle Stora
2012.211

Elisabeth Frink
Thurlow, England, 1930 – Blandford Forum, 
England, 1993

● In memoriam I and In memoriam II
1981
Bronze, 1/6
122 x 114 x 76 cm (approx.)
132 x 107 x 75 cm (approx.)
Gift in memory of Barry Seymour Boyd
2013.5.1-2 
See page 36

Damien Hirst
Born in Bristol, England, in 1965

Home Sweet Home
1996
Screen print on porcelain, 1496/1500 
Made by Swid Powell, New York, for Gagosian 
Gallery, New York
2.3 cm (h.); 21 cm (diam.)
Gift of Susan Watterson
2012.156 
© Damien Hirst / SODRAC (2013)

Auguste Renoir
Limoges 1841 – Cagnes-sur-Mer 1919
and 
Richard Guino
Gerona, Spain, 1890 – Antony, France, 1973

Fire, Little Blacksmith or Little Shepherd
Between 1914 and 1916 (cast after 1919)
Bronze, edition of 10
Cast C. Valsuani, Paris
31.1 x 30.5 x 19.7 cm
Gift of Philippe and Michèle Stora
2012.208 
© Estate of Richard Guino / SODRAC (2013)

▶
Robert Anning Bell (1863-1933)

Honeysuckle, about 1904-1907 (1899, first version), polychromed plaster relief, approx. 39 x 31 x 3 cm. Purchase, Horsley and Annie Townsend Bequest and gift of Daniel Mayer.







41

Installations

Denys Arcand
Born in Deschambault, Quebec, in 1941 
and 
Adad Hannah
Born in New York in 1971

Safari
2011
6 videos on six monitors, 2 ink-jet prints: Safari 1 
and Safari 10
Duration (each video): 6 min 41 s
Safari 1: 153 x 261 cm
Safari 10: 150 x 200.3 cm
Gift of Denys Arcand and Adad Hannah
2012.172.1-3 
See page 51

Shari Hatt
Born in Halifax in 1962

Breast Wishes
1996
9 chromogenic prints on plastic-coated paper 
(artist’s proofs), 2 videos: Top Removal and 
Bandage Removal
34 x 50.6 cm (each print)
Top Removal: 20 min 51 s
Bandage Removal: 6 min 40 s
Gift of Susan Watterson
2012.153.1-19

Jacques Hurtubise
Born in Montreal in 1939

No. 444 (I, II, III, IV)
1970
Steel, incandescent light bulbs, sequence timer
61.5 x 61.4 x 29.2 cm (each of the four boxes)
Gift of Franceline Fortin and Maurice Jodoin
2012.137.1-4 
© Jacques Hurtubise / SODRAC (2013)

Works on Paper

André Biéler
Lausanne 1896 – Kingston, Ontario, 1989

The Shoe
1931
Charcoal, watercolour
35.5 x 32.8 cm
Gift of Peter Biéler
2013.83

Paul-Émile Borduas
Saint-Hilaire, Quebec, 1905 – Paris 1960

Portrait of Maurice Gagnon
1940
Charcoal
48.2 x 33.8 cm (approx.)
Gift of Pnina and François-Marc Gagnon
2012.175 
© Estate of Paul-Émile Borduas / SODRAC (2013)

Albéric Bourgeois
Montreal 1876 – Montreal 1962

18 Cartoons
About 1905-about 1920
Ink, graphite, gouache
Various dimensions
Gift of Yves Saint Germain
2013.17-34

Alex Colville
Toronto 1920 – Wolfville, Nova Scotia, 2013 

Bell Buoy and Cormorant
1985
Silkscreen, 19/70
23.3 x 57 cm (sheet)
20.3 x 53.3 cm (image)
Gift of Lucien Maréchal and Johanne Drapeau
2012.198 
See page 59

Charles Daudelin
Granby, Quebec, 1920 – Montreal 2001

Untitled
1950 (?)
Pen and ink, ink wash
30.4 x 22.7 cm
Gift of Louise Bissonnette Daudelin
2012.472

Untitled
1947
Pen and ink
27.8 x 21.9 cm
Gift of Louise Bissonnette Daudelin
2012.473

Untitled
1946
Watercolour, pen and ink, ink wash
30.4 x 22.8 cm
Gift of Louise Bissonnette Daudelin
2012.474

Allan Edson
Stanbridge, Quebec, 1846 – Glen Sutton, Quebec, 1888

Rural Landscape with Two Black Women
About 1870
Watercolour with gouache and gum arabic 
highlights on paper mounted on cardboard 
32.5 x 63 cm
Gift of Dr. Sean B. Murphy
2012.42

Mark Igloliorte
Born in Happy Valley-Goose Bay, Newfoundland and 
Labrador, in 1977

Untitled No. 6
From the series “Observational Diptych”
2011
Oil on paper
27.3 x 22.3 cm (each element)
Gift of Susan Watterson
2012.159

Shelagh Keeley
Born in Oakville, Ontario, in 1954

Lung
From the series “Ex-voto”
1990
Wax, pigment, charcoal
26 x 18.5 cm
Gift of Susan Watterson
2012.150

Untitled
From the series “A Space for Breathing”
1993
Pigment, wax, oil stick (?), photo transfer
113 x 76.2 cm (by sight)
Gift of Susan Watterson
2012.151

Madeleine Laliberté
Victoriaville, Quebec, 1912 – Quebec City 1998

Study for Eye
Between 1932 and 1937
Graphite
51.5 x 68.2 cm
Purchase, Arthur Lismer Fund
2012.65

Ozias Leduc
Saint-Hilaire, Quebec, 1864 – Saint-Hyacinthe, 
Quebec, 1955

Open Book
Tailpiece for “Mignonne, allons voir si la rose…” est 
sans épines [Sweetheart, Let’s Go See If the Rose 
Has No Thorns] by Guy Delahaye (1888-1969)
1912
Pen and ink over traces of graphite
26.1 x 20.3 cm
Gift of Pnina and François-Marc Gagnon
2012.176

Naomi London
Born in Montreal in 1963

Study for Head Compartment to Block All Sound 
and Sight
1991
Charcoal, graphite
64.5 x 48 cm (by sight)
Gift of Susan Watterson
2012.157

Study for Body Sock
1990
Charcoal, stump, graphite
63.8 x 48 cm (approx.)
Gift of Constance Naubert-Riser
2012.185 
© Naomi London / SODRAC (2013)

John McEwen
Born in Toronto in 1945

Statues
From the series “Eclipse”
1992
Relief printing and photogravure (?), 3/9
89.5 x 75.5 cm
Gift of Susan Watterson
2012.186

Norman McLaren
Stirling, Scotland, 1914 – Montreal 1987

Mutation VI
1975
Silkscreen, 12/100
66.3 x 66 cm (sheet)
53 x 50.6 cm (image)
Gift of Lucien Maréchal and Johanne Drapeau
2012.200

Alfred Pellan
Quebec City 1906 – Laval, Quebec, 1988

Vertiginous Times
1957
Ink and oil (?) over traces of graphite on paper 
mounted on cardboard
28.2 x 35.4 cm
Gift of Dr. Sean B. Murphy
2012.181 
© Estate of Alfred Pellan / SODRAC (2013)

Herbert Raine
Sunderland, England, 1875 – Montreal 1951

The Peasant Woman, Tréguier, France
About 1925
Drypoint
15.8 x 24.4 cm (sheet)
9.9 x 12.9 cm (platemark)
Gift of Dr. Sean B. Murphy
2012.44

Jean-Paul Riopelle
Montreal 1923 – L’Isle-aux-Grues, Quebec, 2002

Composition
1946
Pen and ink, ink wash
12.6 x 17.4 cm
Gift of Yvon M. Tardif, MD
2012.26

Untitled (Design for a Scarf Created for Aimé and 
Marguerite Maeght)
1974
Collage of lithographs
88 x 84.8 cm
Gift of Yvon M. Tardif, MD
2012.54 
© Estate of Jean-Paul Riopelle / SODRAC (2013)

Acceptance certificate for the “Grand Prix des Arts 
de la Ville de Paris”
1985-1986
Felt pen and watercolour (?) on photolithograph
29.8 x 39.8 cm
Gift of Yvon M. Tardif, MD
2012.55

Arnold Shives
Born in Vancouver in 1943

Homage to Riopelle XVII
2010
Drypoint, stencil, aquatint and/or carborundum
52.5 x 52.7 cm (sheet)
45 x 46 cm (image)
Gift of John K. Grande
2013.2

Homage to Jean-Paul Riopelle
Text by John K. Grande (born in 1954)
2010
Etching, embossing, plate toning, 5/12
Text: drypoint, plate toning, 5/12
46 cm (diam., each sheet)
44.7 cm (diam., each platemark)
Gift of John K. Grande
2013.3.1-2

Jacques de Tonnancour
Montreal 1917 – Montreal 2005

Portrait of a Woman
1944
Ink
15.8 x 12.4 cm
Purchase, gift of the Fournelle family
2012.66 
© Estate of Jacques de Tonnancour / SODRAC (2013)

Painting

Pierre Blanchette
Born in Trois-Rivières, Quebec, in 1953

Painting No. 522
2002
Acrylic on canvas
200.5 x 200 cm
Gift of Pierre Blanchette in memory of Ulysse Comtois
2012.424

William Brymner
Greenock, Scotland, 1855 – Wallasey, England, 1925

● Girl with a Dog, Lower Saint Lawrence
1905
Oil on canvas
48.5 x 60.5 cm
Gift of Sarah Humphrey and Gerald van Gurp in honour 
of the Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.46

Chris Cran
Born in Ocean Falls, British Columbia, in 1949

Self-portrait – Temptation of a Saint
1986
Oil on canvas
137.5 x 168 cm
Gift of the Lazare family collection
2012.140

Maurice Cullen
Saint John’s, Newfoundland, 1866 – Chambly, 
Quebec, 1934

● Biskra
1893
Oil on canvas
53.6 x 81.9 cm
Gift of Suzanne Brillant Fluehler and Hans C. Fluehler 
in honour of the Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 
150th anniversary
2012.139

Quebec and Canadian Art

◀
150th-anniversary gift
William Brymner (1855-1925), Girl with a Dog, Lower Saint Lawrence (detail), 
1905, oil on canvas, 48.5 x 60.5 cm. Gift of Sarah Humphrey and Gerald van Gurp 
in honour of the Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
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David Elliott
Born in Niagara-on-the-Lake, Ontario, in 1953

Fat Chance
2004
Oil on canvas
234 x 422 cm
Gift of the artist
2013.14 
See page 64

André Ethier
Born in Toronto in 1977

Untitled
2006
2 oil on Masonite paintings
Approx. 50.8 x 40.5 cm (each)
Anonymous gift
2012.425, 427

Untitled
2007
Oil on Masonite
50.7 x 40.3 cm
Anonymous gift
2012.426

Adrien Hébert
Paris 1890 – Montreal 1967

Dorchester Street, Montreal
About 1940
Oil on canvas
58.8 x 53.6 cm
Gift of Drs. Pierre-Benoît Tremblay and Andreas 
Ziegenhorn in memory of Ludger Tremblay
2012.45

Tom Hodgson
Toronto 1924 – Toronto 2006

From Leaves
1958
Oil on canvas
123.5 x 167 cm
Gift of François Beauchamp
2012.88

Edwin Holgate
Allandale, Ontario, 1892 – Montreal 1977

Edwin A. Sherrard Playing the Violin
1934
Oil on canvas
77.1 x 76.5 cm
Gift of Elizabeth and Edwin Sherrard in memory of 
David R. Morrice
2012.41

Jean-Paul Jérôme
Montreal 1928 – Montreal 2004

Untitled
1961
Oil on canvas
91 x 71 cm
Anonymous gift
2012.25

Madeleine Laliberté
Victoriaville, Quebec, 1912 – Quebec City 1998

Eye
Between 1932 and 1937
Oil on canvas
57.4 x 70.2 cm
Gift of Marie Lapointe
2012.27

Rita Letendre
Born in Drummondville, Quebec, in 1928

Untitled
1956
Oil on canvas
65.2 x 81 cm
Gift of Rita Letendre
2012.423

John Lyman
Biddeford, Maine, 1886 – Kingsley, Barbados, 1967

2 Pochades
About 1935
Oil on canvas
12 x 14.5 cm
13.2 x 16.2 cm
Purchase, gift of the Fournelle family
2012.67-68

Medrie MacPhee
Born in Edmonton in 1953

Station (for Richa)
1983
Oil on canvas
167.6 x 228.6 cm
Gift of the Lazare family collection
2012.141

Harry Mayerovitch
Montreal 1910 – Montreal 2004

Mexican Child
1939
Oil on plywood
37 x 26.5 cm
Gift of the family of Harry Mayerovitch
2012.38

Recorder’s Court
1948
Gouache and/or tempera and gum arabic (?) on 
hardboard
38.6 x 23 cm
Gift of the family of Harry Mayerovitch
2012.39

Goodridge Roberts
Barbados 1904 – Montreal 1974

Interior
1939
Oil on cardboard mounted on panel
87.5 x 63.3 cm
Anonymous gift
2012.205

Jacques de Tonnancour
Montreal 1917 – Montreal 2005

Untitled (Landscape)
1957
Oil on Masonite
60.5 x 91.6 cm
Gift of Dr. Sean B. Murphy
2012.43 
© Estate of Jacques de Tonnancour / SODRAC (2013)

Photography

Iain Baxter
Born in Middlesbrough, England, in 1936

Xmas Lights
1968
Cibachrome print
50.6 x 61 cm
Gift of Susan Watterson
2012.188

Claire Beaugrand-Champagne
Born in Duvernay, Quebec, in 1948

20 Photographs
From the series “The Army”
1984, print 2012
Gelatin silver prints
27.7 x 35.2 cm or 35.2 x 27.7 cm (each)
Gift of Claire Beaugrand-Champagne
2012.59.1-20

24 Photographs
From the series “Little Projects” 
1971-1995, print 2012
Gelatin silver prints
27.7 x 35.2 cm or 35.2 x 27.7 cm (each)
Gift of Claire Beaugrand-Champagne
2012.60.1-24

22 Photographs
From the series “Le Jour” 
1975-1976, print 2012
Gelatin silver prints
27.7 x 35.2 cm or 35.2 x 27.7 cm (each)
Gift of Claire Beaugrand-Champagne
2012.61.1-22

30 Photographs
From the series “Disraeli: A Human Experience in 
Photography”
1972, print 2012
Gelatin silver prints
27.7 x 35.4 cm or 35.4 x 27.7 cm (each)
Gift of Claire Beaugrand-Champagne
2012.62.1-30

18 Photographs
From the series “Thien and Hung” 
1980-1991, print 2012
Gelatin silver prints
27.7 x 35.2 cm or 35.2 x 27.7 cm (each)
Gift of Claire Beaugrand-Champagne
2012.63.1-18

36 Photographs
From the series “Old People”
1972-1978, print 2012
Gelatin silver prints
Various dimensions
Gift of Claire Beaugrand-Champagne
2012.64.1-36

Serge Clément
Born in Valleyfield, Quebec, in 1950

33 Photographs
From the series “Affichage et automobile”
1973-1977, print 1978, 1980
Gelatin silver prints
27.6 x 35.2 cm or 35.2 x 27.6 cm (each)
Gift of Serge Clément
2012.204.1-33 
© Serge Clément / SODRAC (2013)

Robin Collyer
Born in London in 1949

Storm Sewer
1993
Chromogenic print, 1/5
50.7 x 60.9 cm
Gift of Susan Watterson
2012.158

Éliane Excoffier
Born in Saint-Jérôme, Quebec, in 1971

Game
2012
Gelatin silver prints mounted on cardboard and 
panel, 1/1
102.6 x 123.8 cm
Gift of the Bernard Lamarre family
2012.136

Pascal Grandmaison
Born in Montreal in 1975

Waiting Photography: News from Dacha
2003
Ink-jet print on polypropylene, 2/3
176.5 x 152.5 cm (approx.)
Gift of Diana Nemiroff
2012.419 
See opposite

Spring Hurlbut
Born in Toronto in 1952

Scarlett #1 and Scarlett #2
From the series “Deuil”
2005
2 ink-jet prints, 1/7
56.2 x 108 cm (by sight)
55.7 x 70 cm (by sight)
Gift of Diana Nemiroff
2012.420-421

Arnaud Maggs
Montreal 1926 – Toronto 2012

13 bis & 13, rue de Malte, 11e

1991
Gelatin silver print
180.2 x 47.8 cm (by sight)
Gift of Susan Watterson
2012.187

Brian Merrett
Born in Saint John, New Brunswick, in 1945

24 Photographs
From the series “Urban Landscapes and Architectural 
Environments”
1975-1978
Gelatin silver prints
50.7 x 40.5 cm (each)
Gift of Brian Merrett
2012.58.1-24

Quebec and Canadian Art (cont’d)

▶
Pascal Grandmaison (born in 1975)

Waiting Photography: News from Dacha, 2003
Ink-jet print on polypropylene, 2/3

176.5 x 152.5 cm (approx.)
Gift of Diana Nemiroff
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Richard-Max Tremblay
Born in Bromptonville, Quebec, in 1952

Guido Molinari, 1997, print 2008
Jean-Pierre Gauthier, 2007
BGL, 2008
Geneviève Cadieux, 2009
Rober Racine, 1990, print 2011
Jocelyne Alloucherie, 2000, print 2008
Éliane Excoffier, 2008
Pascal Grandmaison, 2008
Alfred Pellan, 1988, print 2011
David Altmejd, 2006, print 2010
10 ink-jet prints
Various dimensions
Purchase, the Canada Council for the Arts’ 
Acquisition Assistance Program, Pierre and Marie 
Dumas Fund, Françoise Lepage Fund, Judy King, 
Harold Lawson, Marjorie Caverhill, Harry W. Thorpe, 
Mona Prentice, Harold Lawson and Marjorie 
Caverhill Bequests, and Guy Joussemet Fund
2012.126-135

Chih-Chien Wang
Born in Tainan, Taiwan, in 1970

Yushan Framed
2012, print 2013
Ink-jet print, 1/7
111.6 x 136.8 cm
Gift of Yushan Tsai and Chih-Chien Wang
2013.36

Sculpture

Shary Boyle
Born in Scarborough, Ontario, in 1972

The Lute Player
2010
Glazed porcelain, lustre, glass beads, 1/2 
24.5 cm (h.); 23 cm (diam.)
Purchase, Deirdre M. Stevenson Fund and the 
Canada Council for the Arts’ Acquisition Assistance 
Program
2012.87 
See opposite

Ivanhoë Fortier
Born in Saint-Louis-de-Courville, Quebec, in 1931

Untitled
1966
Welded iron
62.7 x 53.1 x 41.8 cm
Gift of Roxane Fortier
2013.1

General Idea (1968-1994)
Jorge Zontal
Parma, Italy, 1944 – Toronto 1994  
Felix Partz
Winnipeg 1945 – Toronto 1994 
AA Bronson
Born in Vancouver in 1946

Test Pattern: T.V. Dinner Plate
1988
Porcelain
Produced by Spiral (Wacoal Art Center), Tokyo, for 
Gagosian Gallery, New York
1.5 x 30 x 22.5 cm
Gift of Susan Watterson
2012.145

Alfred Laliberté
Sainte-Élisabeth-de-Warwick, Quebec, 1878 – 
Montreal 1953

Bust of Napoléon-Charles Cormier
1896
Painted wood
38.6 x 18.6 x 16.9 cm
Gift of Mr. Jean-Pierre Valentin
2012.142

The Embrace of Art
Before 1940
Patinated plaster
41 x 24.2 x 19.5 cm
Gift of Mr. Jean-Pierre Valentin
2012.143

Hot Cockles
Before 1916
Terracotta
23 x 21.6 x 19.1 cm
Gift of Mr. Jean-Pierre Valentin
2012.144

Mario Merola
Born in Montreal in 1931

Petite architecture
1958
Gouache on wood
50.7 x 66.7 x 5.8 cm
Gift of Nicole and Mario Merola
2012.28

Roland Poulin
Born in Saint Thomas, Ontario, in 1940

● In Extenso 2
2007-2008
Polychromed wood
118.3 x 487 x 92 cm
Gift of Roland Poulin in honour of the Montreal 
Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.166 
See page 62

Armand Vaillancourt
Born in Black Lake, Quebec, in 1929

Untitled
About 1960
Cast iron
187 x 506 x 25 cm
Gift in memory of Claire Gohier by her husband
2012.138 
© Armand Vaillancourt / SODRAC (2013)

Laurie Walker
Montreal 1962 – Montreal 2011

Sisyphus, the Dung Beetle
2003
Fibreglass, sheep manure, peat moss, straw, gold 
leaf, “Kheper” scarab beetle with coloured logo 
printed on paper 
105 cm (diam.)
Gift of Evelyn and Lorne Walker
2012.84

Mixed Media

ATSA (Action Terroriste Socialement Acceptable)
Collective founded in Montreal in 1997 
Annie Roy
Born in Quebec City in 1968 
Pierre Allard
Born in Quebec City in 1964

Conspired Attack
From “Attentat no 6 [Attack No. 6]”
2008
Ink-jet print, glass, silicone
78.3 x 110 cm
Gift of the artists
2012.183

Shelagh Keeley
Born in Oakville, Ontario, in 1954

Untitled
From the series “Notes on Healing”
1991
Collage and pigmented beeswax on plywood, 
steel shelf
27.1 x 28.2 cm
Steel shelf: 2.2 x 35.6 x 15.3 cm
Gift of Susan Watterson
2012.149.1-2

Irene F. Whittome
Born in Vancouver in 1942

The Last Cigarette
1973
Graphite, coloured pencil, ink, paper collage, string 
and wool, metal attachments, embossing
58.2 x 89.2 cm (approx.)
Gift of Susan Watterson
2012.155

Video

John Oswald
Born in Kitchener, Ontario, in 1953

After Rembrandt
2008
Colour video, 1/1
Duration: 2 min 22 s
Purchase, anonymous fund
2012.86.1-4

Inuit Art 
Works on Paper

Davidialuk Alasua Amittu
Nunagiirniraq camp, near Puvirnituq,  
Nunavik, 1910 – Puvirnituq 1976

● Legend
1963
Stonecut, 23/30
64 x 83.9 cm
Gift of Leo Rosshandler
2012.29

Luke Anguhadluq
Chantrey Inlet, Nunavut, 1895 – Baker Lake, 
Nunavut, 1982

● Untitled
1970s
Coloured pencil
77.6 x 58 cm
Gift of Leo Rosshandler
2012.30

Tivi Etook
Born in Qirnituartuq camp, Nunavik, in 1928

Caribou and Wolf
1976
Stonecut, 14/50
54.6 x 42.7 cm
Gift of Clément Fortin and Monique Jacques
2012.177

Kiakshuk
South shore of Baffin Island, Nunavut, 1886 – Cape 
Dorset (Kinngait) 1966

● Untitled
1962
Etching, 34/50
33.5 x 49 cm (sheet)
22.8 x 30.4 cm (platemark)
Gift of Leo Rosshandler
2012.32

Annie Mikpiga
Akua, near Puvirnituq, Nunavik, 1900 – Puvirnituq 
1984

● Animal Land
1965
Stonecut
50 x 54.2 cm
Gift of Leo Rosshandler
2012.35

Peter Morgan
Born in Quebec in 1951

The Sculpin
1975
Stonecut, 36/50
53.8 x 74.8 cm
Gift of Clément Fortin and Monique Jacques
2012.178

Parr
Cape Dorset (Kinngait) 1893 – Cape Dorset 1969

● Seated People and Animals
About 1962-1963
Graphite
49 x 46 cm
Gift of Leo Rosshandler
2012.33 
© Reproduced with the permission of Dorset Fine Arts

● Hunter and Dog, Mating Bears, and Other Animals
About 1963-1965
Graphite, coloured pencil
50.7 x 65.5 cm
Gift of Leo Rosshandler
2012.34

Kananginak Pootoogook
Ikirasak camp, Baffin Island, Nunavut, 1935 – 
Ottawa 2010

Loon and Raven
1976
Lithograph, 27/50
23.1 x 31 cm (sheet)
17.2 x 24.8 cm (image)
Gift of Lucien Maréchal and Johanne Drapeau
2012.199

Joe Talirunnilik (Talirunili)
Kuugaaluk River, Nunavik, 1893 – Puvirnituq, 
Nunavik, 1976

10 Pages from a Sketchbook 
About 1970
Felt pen, graphite, coloured pencil, ballpoint pen
35.7 x 28.1 cm (each page)
Gift of Professor Sandra Freedman Witelson
2012.403-412

Isah Ajagutaina Tukala
Nunavik 1905 – Puvirnituq, Nunavik, 1977

● Waiting
1965
Stonecut
46.5 x 18.8 cm
Gift of Leo Rosshandler
2012.31

Inuit Art 
Sculpture

Anonymous
Baffin Island or Taloyoak, Nunavut

Untitled (Two Birds)
1970s (?)
Whale bone, steatite
25 x 33.2 x 19.5 cm
Gift of Bruno M. and Ruby Cormier
2012.418.1-2

Anonymous
Possibly Inukjuak or Puvirnituq, Nunavik

● Untitled (Inuit Child, Seated)
About 1950-1953
Steatite
10.7 x 6.8 x 10.1 cm
Gift of Leo Rosshandler
2012.36

George Arluk
Born in Winnipeg in 1949 
Active in Arviat, Nunavut

● Untitled (Figure on a Snowmobile)
Late 1960s
Steatite
14.8 x 21.2 x 11.4 cm
Gift of Louis Gagnon and his son Alexandre in 
honour of the Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th 
anniversary
2012.40

Attributed to  
Jacob Irkok
Tikirarjua’juaq, south of Arviat, Nunavut, 1927 – 
Arviat 2010

Untitled
About 1970s
Caribou antler
21.3 x 26 x 12.2 cm
Gift of John and Edith Low-Beer
2012.53

Josephee Kakee
Northwest Territories 1911 – Pangnirtung, Nunavut, 
1977

Untitled (Hunter with Seal, Attacked by a Bear)
Early 1970s
Whale bone
39.2 x 44.5 x 22.5 cm
Gift of Paul and Leslie Benjamin
2012.163.1-2

Quebec and Canadian Art (cont’d)

◀
Shary Boyle (born in 1972), The Lute Player, 2010, glazed porcelain, lustre, glass beads, 1/2, 24.5 cm (h.); 23 cm (diam.). Purchase, Deirdre M. Stevenson 
Fund and the Canada Council for the Arts’ Acquisition Assistance Program.
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Lorena Barrezueta
Born in New York in 1979

Triple Dip Dip Dish
From the series “Lush”
and
Munch Dish
Mac’n Cheese Dish
Square Meal Dish
Finger Food Plate
From the series “Fresh”
“Gourmet” Collection
2003
Porcelain
Various dimensions
Gift of Lorena Barrezueta-Carlo and family
2012.73-77

Andrea Bellosi
● Arc-en-ciel Table Lamp
1980
Marble, painted metal, glass
Produced by Studio Alchimia, Milan
30 x 25 x 22 cm
Gift of Joseph Menosky in memory of his wife, 
Diane, and of Shiva and Shelby, in honour of the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.431

Pieke Bergmans
Born in Sprang-Capelle, Netherlands, in 1978

Light Blub
2012
Blown crystal, found objects
120 x 111 x 63.5 cm (approx.)
Purchase, gift in memory of Dr. Alicja Lipecka Czernick 
and her husband, Dr. Stanislas Czernick, and Fiona 
Malins, George MacLaren, Guy Joussemet and the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ Employee Funds
2012.165.1-3 
See opposite

Jean Cartier
Saint-Jean-sur-Richelieu, Quebec, 1924 – Montreal 1996

Bowl
About 1957
Glazed earthenware
14.5 cm (h.); 43 cm (diam.)
Gift in memory of Paul E. Lambert
2012.173

Platter
1957
Glazed earthenware
6.8 x 80 x 22.3 cm
Gift in memory of Paul E. Lambert
2012.174

Giorgio Ceretti
Born in Domodossola, Italy, in 1932
and 
Pietro Derossi
Born in Turin in 1933
and 
Riccardo Rosso

● Torneraj Armchair
From the series “I Multipli”
1968
Polyurethane, Guflac paint
Produced by Gufram, Barolo, Italy
85.5 x 87.5 x 90.5 cm
Gift of Joseph Menosky in memory of his wife, 
Diane, and of Shiva and Shelby, in honour of the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.428

Gianni Colombo
Milan 1937 – Milan 1993

● GEA Table Lamp
About 1970
ABS, methacrylic
Produced by Arredoluce, Monza, Italy 
13.5 cm (h.); 15.2 cm (diam.)
Gift of Joseph Menosky in memory of his wife, 
Diane, and of Shiva and Shelby, in honour of the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.432

Waclaw Czerwinski
Poland 1900 – Canada (Ontario?) 1989 
and 
Hilary Stykolt
Poland 1894 – Canada (Ontario?) 1974

Lounge Chair
1946
Moulded plywood, bent laminated wood
Produced by the Canadian Wooden Aircraft 
Company, Stratford, Ontario
75.8 x 65 x 73.5 cm
Gift of Anne and George MacLaren
2012.180

Riccardo Dalisi
Born in Potenza, Italy, in 1931

● 3 Candlestick Prototypes
About 1985
Painted steel
Various dimensions
Gift of Joseph Menosky in memory of his wife, 
Diane, and of Shiva and Shelby, in honour of the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.453.1-3

Michel Dallaire
Born in Paris in 1942 
and 
Michel Dallaire Design Industriel, Montreal
In collaboration with Cycles Devinci, Chicoutimi, and 
8D Technologies, Montreal

Bixi Bicycle and Dock
2008
Bicycle and dock: aluminum alloys, ferrous and 
thermoplastic metals
Technological base: formed corrosion-resistant steel
Produced by Devinci, Chicoutimi, Quebec
108 x 177 x 67 cm
Gift of PBSC Urban Solutions
2012.80

Michele De Lucchi
Born in Ferrara in 1951

● Tomato Tray
1985
Porcelain
Made by Alessio Sarri Ceramiche, Sesto Fiorentino, 
Italy, for Memphis, Milan
4.1 x 36.1 x 28.5 cm
Gift of Joseph Menosky in memory of his wife, 
Diane, and of Shiva and Shelby, in honour of the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.433

Ebena-Lasalle
Montreal

Expo ’67 Chair
About 1967
Painted wood, steel, resin, upholstery
80 x 81 x 65 cm
Gift of Stéphane Cauchies
2012.47

Al Faux
Ontario 1931 – Toronto 1978

Armchair
About 1964
Oak, plywood, upholstery
71.2 x 57.5 x 55.8 cm
Gift of Wilhelmina Harte in memory of Ernst Roch, 
D.F.A. (h.c.)
2012.71

Léopold L. Foulem
Born in Bathurst, New Brunswick, in 1945

Paire de soupières montées au décor bleu et blanc 
et leurs couvercles
2006
Ceramic, found objects
Approx. 25.4 x 29.4 x 23 cm (each soup tureen)
Gift of Léopold L. Foulem
2013.35.1-2

Jean-Baptiste Gamichon
Dijon (?) – Paris 1832

Miniature Chest of Drawers
Late 18th c.
Walnut, rosewood, amaranth and ebonized wood 
veneers on oak carcass, gilt bronze 
31 x 46 x 23.9 cm
Gift of Philippe and Michèle Stora
2012.209

J. & J. Kohn
Vienna, 1867-1914

2 Chairs
Late 19th-early 20th c.
Bent beechwood, laminated wood
Approx. 85 x 43 x 50 cm (each)
Gift of Wilhelmina Harte in memory of Ernst Roch, 
D.F.A. (h.c.)
2012.69-70

René Lalique
Ay, France, 1860 – Paris 1945

Oranges Vase
1926
Mould-blown glass, painted enamel decoration
Produced by René Lalique et Cie, Wingen-sur-
Moder, France
28.5 cm (h.); 30.5 cm (approx. diam.)
Gift of Philippe and Michèle Stora
2012.207

Michèle Lapointe
Born in Montreal in 1946

And If We Heard Her Tale of “The Many-Furred Creature”
2009
Pontil-shaped glass, Russian birch plywood, linen 
and cotton paper with digital print inclusions
11 pieces: approx. 20 x 45 x 35 cm (each)
Diameter of entire installation: 260 cm (approx.)
Gift of the artist
2012.179.1-11

Angelo Lelii

● Contrast Table Lamp
About 1962-1963
Chromed steel, enamelled metal, magnet
Produced by Arredoluce, Monza, Italy
23 x 7.8 x 8.5 cm
Gift of Joseph Menosky in memory of his wife, 
Diane, and of Shiva and Shelby, in honour of the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.434

Alessandro Mendini
Born in Milan in 1931
In collaboration with Alchimia

● Sirice Mirror
1984
Lacquered wood, mirror
Produced by Zabro, a division of Zanotta, Veneto, 
Italy, for Nuova Alchimia, Milan 
99 x 103 x 4.5 cm
Gift of Joseph Menosky in memory of his wife, 
Diane, and of Shiva and Shelby, in honour of the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.435

● Table Lamp for the Ambrogio Beretta residence, Milan
1983
Painted steel
49.7 x 12.6 x 11 cm
Gift of Joseph Menosky in memory of his wife, 
Diane, and of Shiva and Shelby, in honour of the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.436

Alessandro Mendini
Born in Milan in 1931 
and 
Bruno Gregori
Born in Italy in 1954

● 3 Cicindela Candlesticks
1985
Silver
Made by Zabro Mobili, Fiore, Italy, for Nuova 
Alchimia, Milan
Various dimensions
Gift of Joseph Menosky in memory of his wife, 
Diane, and of Shiva and Shelby, in honour of the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.437.1-3

Jonathan Muecke
Born in Cody, Wyoming, in 1983

Bench
2010
Woven and felted carbon fibre, epoxy resin, 2/16
75.5 x 81.5 x 46 cm
Purchase, Brian Stonehocker Fund
2012.402

Neolt
Founded in Ponte San Pietro, Italy, in 1941

● Desk Utility C Desk Caddy 
1987
ABS
8.4 cm (h.); 21.5 cm (diam.)
Gift of Joseph Menosky in memory of his wife, 
Diane, and of Shiva and Shelby, in honour of the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.452

N.E. Thing Co.
Vancouver, 1966-1978

Plate, Cup and Saucer
Made for the restaurant/art gallery “Eye Scream”
1977
Porcelain
Plate: 3.8 x 31.8 x 23 cm
Cup: 7.3 x 11.3 x 8.3 cm
Saucer: 2.3 cm (h.); 14.5 cm (diam.)
Gift of Susan Watterson
2012.152.1-3

Eleonore Peduzzi-Riva
Born in Basel in 1939

● Spiros Ashtray
1969
Melamine
Produced by Artemide, Milan
8 x 21.7 x 21.7 cm
Gift of Joseph Menosky in memory of his wife, 
Diane, and of Shiva and Shelby, in honour of the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.438.1-2

Gaetano Pesce
Born in La Spezia, Italy, in 1939

● Up 3 Armchair and Up 4 Sofa
1969
Polyurethane foam, nylon jersey
Produced by C&B Italia, Novedrate, Italy
Armchair: 70 cm (h.); 93 cm (diam.)
Sofa: 65 x 172 x 103 cm 
Gift of Joseph Menosky in memory of his wife, 
Diane, and of Shiva and Shelby, in honour of the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.429-430

Decorative Art and Design

▶
Pieke Bergmans (born in 1978), Light Blub, 2012, blown crystal, found objects, 120 x 111 x 63.5 cm (approx.)

Purchase, gift in memory of Dr. Alicja Lipecka Czernick and her husband, Dr. Stanislas Czernick, and Fiona Malins, George MacLaren, Guy Joussemet and the Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ Employee Funds
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Franco Raggi
Born in Milan in 1945

● Chiodino Table Lamp (model 2724) 
1982
Glass, painted steel
Produced by FontanaArte, Milan
46.5 cm (h.); 29 cm (diam.) 
Gift of Joseph Menosky in memory of his wife, 
Diane, and of Shiva and Shelby, in honour of the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.445

Denis Santachiara
Born in Campagnola, Italy, in 1951

● Notturno Italiano Table Lamp
1985
Aluminum, enamelled steel
Produced by Yamagiwa, Japan or Domodinamica, 
Bologna 
19.8 x 24.9 x 16.6 cm
Gift of Joseph Menosky in memory of his wife, 
Diane, and of Shiva and Shelby, in honour of the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.439

Peter Shire
Born in Los Angeles in 1947

● Cupola Table Lamp
From the series “Luci-Lights”
1988
Steel, aluminum, metal, paint 
Produced by Memphis, Milan
37.6 x 30.6 x 20.5 cm
Gift of Joseph Menosky in memory of his wife, 
Diane, and of Shiva and Shelby, in honour of the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.440

Ettore Sottsass
Innsbruck, Austria, 1917 – Milan 2007

● Valigia Table Lamp
1977
Painted steel, rubber 
Produced by Stilnovo, Milan
37.5 x 35.8 x 25.3 cm
Gift of Joseph Menosky in memory of his wife, 
Diane, and of Shiva and Shelby, in honour of the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.441

● Amalfi
1996
Gouache over traces of graphite
45.5 x 57.4 cm
Gift of Joseph Menosky in memory of his wife, 
Diane, and of Shiva and Shelby, in honour of the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.442

● Capodanno Table Lamp
From the series “Bau-haus” 
1979
Brass, wood, plastic laminate, no. 92 
Produced by Studio Alchimia, Milan
42.6 x 47 x 13 cm
Gift of Joseph Menosky in memory of his wife, 
Diane, and of Shiva and Shelby, in honour of the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.443.1-3

● Sinus Table Lamp
1972
ABS
Produced by Stilnovo, Milan
11.2 x 32.7 x 8 cm
Gift of Joseph Menosky in memory of his wife, 
Diane, and of Shiva and Shelby, in honour of the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.444

Tore Svensson
Born in Alfta, Sweden, in 1948

Bowl
1997
Patinated steel
10.1 cm (h.); 21.3 cm (diam.)
Liliane and David M. Stewart Collection, gift of 
Helen Drutt and Peter B. Stern
2012.56

Bowl
1991
Patinated steel, gold plate
15.3 cm (h.); 31.2 cm (diam.)
Liliane and David M. Stewart Collection, gift of 
Helen Drutt and Peter B. Stern
2012.57

Matteo Thun
Born in Bolzano, Italy, in 1952

● Malibu Table Lamp
From the series “Hollywood”
1989
Anodized aluminum
Produced by Tronconi, Corsico, Italy
25.1 cm (h.); 15.1 cm (diam.)
Gift of Joseph Menosky in memory of his wife, 
Diane, and of Shiva and Shelby, in honour of the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.446.1-2

● Pelecanus Canariensis (?) Vase
From the series “Vasi Rari”
1983 (example of 1990) 
Porcelain, 6/20
Produced by Alessio Sarri Ceramiche, Sesto 
Fiorentino, Italy
26.8 x 51 x 7.7 cm
Gift of Joseph Menosky in memory of his wife, 
Diane, and of Shiva and Shelby, in honour of the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.447

● Chad Teapot
1982
Porcelain
Made by Porcellane d’Arte San Marco, Nove, Italy, 
for Memphis, Milan
29 x 22 x 11.5 cm
Gift of Joseph Menosky in memory of his wife, 
Diane, and of Shiva and Shelby, in honour of the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.448.1-2

● Teje Vase
1981
Porcelain
Produced by Memphis, Milan
24 cm (h.); 23 cm (diam.)
Gift of Joseph Menosky in memory of his wife, 
Diane, and of Shiva and Shelby, in honour of the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.449

● Covus Corax Teapot
1982
Porcelain, 1/20
Made by Alessio Sarri Ceramiche, Sesto Fiorentino, 
Italy, for Memphis, Milan
20.9 x 34.2 x 9.7 cm
Gift of Joseph Menosky in memory of his wife, 
Diane, and of Shiva and Shelby, in honour of the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.450.1-2

● Tuja Vase
1981
Porcelain
Made by Flavia, Montelupo Fiorentino, Italy, for 
Memphis, Milan
32 cm (h.); 14 cm (diam.)
Gift of Joseph Menosky in memory of his wife, 
Diane, and of Shiva and Shelby, in honour of the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.454

Verreries Schneider
Épinay-sur-Seine, 1918-about 1935

From the Sandra Black and Jeff Rose Collection,  
gift in honour of the Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 
150th anniversary:

● 10 Vases, 5 Footed Bowls, 2 Candlesticks, 
2 Perfume Bottles, 1 Compote, 1 Goblet and 3 
Miniature Fruits
Between 1918 and 1928
Blown glass, powdered glass inclusions
Various dimensions 
2012.91-93, 102-104, 109-110, 113-118, 122, 
124, 456-463

● Olives Footed Bowl
1920-1922
Blown glass, powdered glass inclusions, applied and 
wheel-ground decoration
21.9 cm (h.); 20.2 cm (diam.)
2012.94

● Coquelicots Vase
1924-1925
Blown glass, powdered glass inclusions, applied and 
wheel-engraved decoration
37.9 cm (h.); 11.1 cm (diam.)
2012.95

● Ciselés Bowl
1928-1930
Blown and chiselled glass, powdered glass 
inclusions
13.2 cm (h.); 24.9 cm (diam.)
2012.96

● Patelles Vase
1922-1925
Blown glass, powdered glass inclusions, applied and 
wheel-engraved decoration
36 cm (h.); 14 cm (diam.)
2012.97

● Filetés Vase
1922-1925
Blown glass, powdered glass inclusions
47.3 cm (h.); 12 cm (diam.)
2012.98

● Vase
1928-1930
Blown glass, powdered glass inclusions, 
sandblasted, acid-etched decoration
25.8 cm (h.); 11.9 cm (diam.)
2012.99

● Pierrot Vase
1928-1930
Sandblasted blown glass, powdered glass inclusions
28.5 cm  (h.); 9.8 cm (diam.)
2012.100

● 2 Pavot Vases
1923-1925
Blown glass, powdered glass inclusions, applied and 
wheel-engraved decoration
29.4 cm (h.); 11.9 cm (diam.)
13.2 cm (h.); 13.2 cm (diam.)
2012.101, 464

● Colliers Pitcher
1927-1928
Blown glass, powdered glass inclusions, acid-etched 
decoration
31.7 x 22.6 x 20.3 cm
2012.105

● Épinette Vase
1925-1927
Blown glass, powdered glass inclusions, acid-etched 
decoration
39.2 cm (h.); 13.2 cm (diam.)
2012.106

● Vase
1929-1930
Blown glass, powdered glass inclusions, acid-etched, 
acid-polished and wheel-engraved decoration
30.2 cm (h.); 14.4 cm (diam.)
2012.107

● Primerolles Vase
1924-1927
Blown glass, powdered glass inclusions, acid-etched 
decoration
31.3 cm (h.); 14.3 cm (diam.)
2012.108

● Pluviose Vase
1924-1925
Blown glass, powdered glass inclusions
38.1 x 17.7 x 14.1 cm
2012.111

● Vase
1918-1920
Blown glass, powdered glass inclusions, acid-etched 
decoration, enamel
36.2 cm (h.); 14.2 cm (diam.)
2012.112

● Bourrelets Vase
1929-1933
Blown glass, powdered glass inclusions
14.1 cm (h.); 25.1 cm (diam.)
2012.119

● Rectangular Bowl
About 1950
Blown bubble glass, powdered glass inclusions
12.5 x 24.9 x 13.8 cm
2012.120

● Larmes Vase
1924-1925
Blown glass, powdered glass inclusions
40.7 x 18.3 x 16.7 cm
2012.121

● Footed Bowl
1928-1930
Blown and cut glass, powdered glass inclusions
13.2 cm (h.); 21.5 cm (diam.)
2012.123

● Compote
1924-1926
Blown glass, powdered glass inclusions, wrought iron
21.5 cm (h.); 30.4 cm (diam.)
2012.125.1-4

● Guirlande Footed Bowl
1924-1925
Sandblasted blown glass, wheel-engraved decoration
15.8 x 30 x 24.8 cm
2012.455

● Fougères Vase
1928
Blown glass, powdered glass inclusions, acid-etched 
decoration
25.5 cm (h.); 19 cm (diam.)
2012.465

● Papillons Vase
1923-1926
Blown glass, powdered glass inclusions, acid-etched 
decoration
44.8 cm (h.); 21.8 cm (diam.)
2012.466 
See opposite

● Nénuphars Vase
1928-1930
Blown glass, powdered glass inclusions, acid-etched 
decoration
45.1 cm (h.); 30.1 cm (diam.)
2012.467

● Pavots Vase
1923-1927
Blown glass, powdered glass inclusions, acid-etched 
decoration
38.1 cm (h.); 25 cm (diam.)
2012.468

Patrick Wadley
Oklahoma 1950 – Austin, Texas, 1992

People Sphere
About 1990
Blown glass, sandblast engraving
30 cm (h.); 31 cm (diam.)
Gift of Dr. Henri Lavigueur
2012.417

Marco Zanini
Born in Trento, Italy, in 1954

● Marilyn Teapot
From the series “Hollywood” 
1984
Porcelain
Produced by Flavia, Montelupo Fiorentino, Italy
15.7 x 24.5 x 11 cm
Gift of Joseph Menosky in memory of his wife, 
Diane, and of Shiva and Shelby, in honour of the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary
2012.451.1-2

Jules Ziegler
Langres, France, 1804 – Paris 1856

Two-handled Perforated Decanter Bottle or Perfume 
Brazier Vessel
About 1840
Salt-glazed stoneware
51.5 x 29.1 x 16.5 cm
Purchase, Claire Gohier Fund, gift in memory of Dr. 
Alicja Lipecka Czernick and her husband, Dr. Stanislas 
Czernick, gifts of Neil Rossy and Mark Anthony Brands
2012.72

BOHEMIA, now CZECH REPUBLIC

Vase
1920s
Flashed glass, wheel-engraved and cut
24.8 cm (h.); 14.1 cm (diam.)
Gift of Pierre and Marie Dumas
2012.85

FRANCE, NEVERS

Urn
Mid-17th c.
Tin-glazed earthenware, painted decoration
27.5 x 27.8 x 22.4 cm
Gift of Philippe and Michèle Stora
2012.210

Decorative Art and Design (cont’d)

◀
150th-anniversary gift
Verreries Schneider (1918-about 1935)
Papillons Vase,1923-1926, blown glass, powdered glass inclusions, acid-etched 
decoration, 44.8 cm (h.); 21.8 cm (diam.). Sandra Black and Jeff Rose Collection,  
gift in honour of the Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th anniversary.
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Museum 
Staff
AS OF MARCH 31, 2013
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Accounting Technicians
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Ioan Ioanovici

André Jalbert

Jean-Christophe Larivée

Daniel Lefebvre

Marcelo Leiva
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BUILDINGS AND 

MAINTENANCE SERVICES

Department Head

Francis Mailloux
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MUSEUM 
FOUNDATION 
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AS OF MARCH 31, 2013

Director

Danielle Champagne

Director of 

Donor Relations

Michelle V. Prévost

Head of Development
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Head of the Museum 

Foundation Office

Jean-Sébastien Bélanger
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VOLUNTEER 
ASSOCIATION 
STAFF
AS OF MARCH 31, 2013

Executive Director

Johanne Lejeune

Co-ordinators

Sylvie Naud

Marie Lise Vallières

Accounting Supervisor
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ARTE MUSICA 
FOUNDATION 
STAFF
AS OF MARCH 31, 2013

General and Artistic 
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Communications Manager
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Miguel Chehuan
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Production Manager
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Technical Co-ordinator, 
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Roger Jacob
Denys Arcand and Adad Hannah, detail of the installation Safari, six videos and two photographs featuring eight Museum employees. 
Gift of Denys Arcand and Adad Hannah.
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It seems as if the ceremonies marking the opening of the new Claire 
and Marc Bourgie Pavilion of Quebec and Canadian Art and Bourgie 
Hall had scarcely drawn to a close when, in September 2012, the 
Museum inaugurated the Studios Art & Education Michel de la 
Chenelière and announced plans for another expansion – the sev-
enth in its history – involving the building of a fifth pavilion devoted 
to international art. The Fifth Pavilion will be home to Michal and 
Renata Hornstein’s unique collection of Old Masters and will open to 
the public in 2017, the same year Montreal will celebrate the 375th 
anniversary of its founding. 

These ambitious projects and their associated operating costs have 
to be financed. From that perspective, the role of the Foundation is 
critical, as is the support of the many donors whose infinite gener-
osity has been an inspiration to the Museum’s management team. 

The Major Fund-raising Campaign that began in 2008 continued dur-
ing the past fiscal year, but it is heading towards its conclusion. Another 
campaign will soon be launched to ensure that the Fifth Pavilion, like 
the Claire and Marc Bourgie Pavilion before it, will be self-funded. 

Note that the MMFA has come up with a particularly remarkable for-
mula for financing the Fifth Pavilion, with 85% of the budget, including 
the value of the gift of the Hornstein collection, to be borne by the 
private sector. The Quebec government’s contribution of $18.5 million 
will be put towards construction costs, while the additional operating 
expenses engendered by the new pavilion will be entirely covered by 
the private sector, following the proven model used for the Claire and 
Marc Bourgie Pavilion. The Montreal Museum of Fine Arts would like 
to express its deepest gratitude to the Government of Quebec for its 
indispensable support in the creation of the Claire and Marc Bourgie 
Pavilion of Quebec and Canadian Art and the future Fifth Pavilion. 

Contributions to the Foundation from the Annual Fund-raising 
Campaign during the 2012-2013 fiscal year totalled $573,000, which 
is $160,000 more than in 2011-2012. The increase in the number of 
members is largely responsible for this, and we would like to thank 
Museum VIPs for their generosity. 

The money raised by the Foundation for the Museum increased 
slightly in 2012-2013, contributing to meeting expenses related to 
the Claire and Marc Bourgie Pavilion, the acquisition fund, education-
al programming and various specific projects. Withdrawals from the 
Foundation’s capitalized funds to cover Museum operations also in-
creased by 6% in 2012-2013. In respect to investment income, buoy-
ant markets generated returns of slightly over 8% in 2012-2013, in 
comparison with a negative return of 1% in 2011-2012.

We would also like to extend our most sincere thanks to the great 
number of donors who contributed during 2012-2013. We hope 
to be able to count on their continuing generosity so that the 
Museum’s various audiences – children, parents, students and adults 
– can benefit from all the activities offered and this, for generations 
to come. Very special thanks go to Michel de la Chenelière for his 
substantial donation, which has enabled the Museum to double the 

area it devotes to educational activities and open the new Studios 
Art & Education bearing his name. Michel has made not only a fi-
nancial contribution, but also a personal one, as he visits these fun 
and engaging new spaces practically every day, including weekends, 
to meet young and not-so-young people in the seven studios, the 
Family Lounge and the exhibition spaces. 

In addition, I would like to take this opportunity to express our grati-
tude to all the collectors who agreed to donate their artworks to the 
Museum so that the public can enjoy viewing them in the galleries 
of our four pavilions. There are far too many to name them all, but I 
extend my warmest thanks to each and every one of them. The value 
of the over 800 works acquired by the Museum in 2012-2013 totalled 
$18.8 million, of which gifts accounted for $18.4 million. These includ-
ed the first from the group of magnificent artworks donated by Michal 
and Renata Hornstein, to whom we extend our heartfelt thanks. 

While, fortunately, the Museum is currently experiencing remarkable 
growth, it is paradoxically in a worrying financial situation. In order to 
accommodate that growth and the new limitations posed by cuts in 
subsidies that will undoubtedly be recurring, despite the Museum’s 
noteworthy achievements, we will have to continually generate new 
sources for our own funding and seek out donations more proactive-
ly in order to put ourselves in a stronger, more secure position in the 
near future. Moreover, given its popularity, the Museum now has 
many opportunities for new partnerships that could prove to be at-
tractive and beneficial. 

That is why the Chairman of the Board of the Museum, Brian M. Levitt, 
and the Museum’s management team, headed by Nathalie Bondil, 
decided that a person should be assigned to seek out such funds 
on a full-time basis. After working as Director of Communications 
at the Museum since 2001, as well as the Director of the Museum 
Foundation since 2008, I will now focus only on the development of 
the Museum Foundation.

In closing, I would like to salute an extraordinary initiative put in place 
by the Foundation this year: the creation of the Young Philanthropists’ 
Circle (YPC). The aim of this new organization is to encourage young 
professionals aged 25 to 45 to take an active part in Museum life 
and help ensure the Museum’s future. It offers innovative and en-
tertaining activities designed to interest future philanthropists. I 
would like to thank Marc-Antoine Saumier, Chairman of the Young 
Philanthropists’ Circle committee, Charles Assaf, Philippe d’Etcheverry 
and Arnaud Granata, Chairmen of the YPC’s sub-committees, as well 
as all the young volunteers involved in the organization and finan-
cing of the YPC’s various “edutainment” activities, which make this 
new generation of professionals aware of art and culture while also 
providing a forum for networking and promoting support of the 
Museum. For the 2012-2013 season, through a variety of events 
with admission fees that are open to the general public – Unplugged 
Events organized in connection with exhibitions, talks with collectors 
or donors of works of art and meetings with professionals from the 
art market – the YPC began fostering a new generation of philan-
thropists at the Museum.  ■

THE MUSEUM FOUNDATION
New Beginnings

Danielle 
Champagne
Director of  
the Montreal Museum of  
Fine Arts Foundation

◀
Previous page

Jan Lievens (1607-1674)
Elderly Scholar in His Study, about 1630

Oil on wood, 62.7 x 52.2 cm
Gift of Mr. and Mrs. Michal Hornstein

▶
Jan Steen (1626-1679)

The Return of the Prodigal Son
About 1668-1670

Oil on canvas, 119 x 95 cm
Gift of Mr. and Mrs. Michal Hornstein 

in honour of Paul Lavallée
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The Montreal Museum of Fine 

Arts extends its sincere thanks to 

donors who pledged a monetary 

gift, or donated one or more works 

of art, books or artist’s files to the 

2008-2013 Major Fund-raising 

Campaign A Great Museum at the 

Heart of a Great City.
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Bélanger, Madeleine

Benjamin, Paul

Birks, F. Ann

Bovet, Jacques and Pierre

Brossard, Michel

Campeau, Michel

Carsley, Margaret K. †

Cataford-Blais, Sylvie

Chagnon, Alain

Chamandy, Amel and Glenn

Charbonneau, Roger

Clark, W. Edmund

Cozic, Yvon and Monic Brassard

Desjardins, Jean-Guy and 

Suzan Moreau

The Estate of Alicja Lipecka Czernic

The Estate of Anne D. Fish

The Estate of Charles 

Arthur Duranceau

The Estate of Claire Dalmé

The Estate of Edith 

Jacobson Low-Beer 

The Estate of Fred Angus

The Estate of Griffith Brewer

Freedman Witelson, Sandra

Gagnon, Gilles †

Gertler Strauss, Ann F.

Guérin, Nicol

Harrison, Michael St.B.

Hartman, George P.

Humphrey, Sarah

Hunter, George †

Jarislowsky, Stephen A.

Lamarre, Bernard

Lamarre, Philippe

Lazare, Jacob

Malo, René and Marie Gagnon

McEwen, Indra

Mercier-Gouin, Pierre

Merrett, Brian

Monkman, Kent

Poulin, Roland

Rajotte, Normand

Raymond, Réal

Renaud, Richard and Carolyne

Rizzuto, Jean

Royer, Raymond and France Denis

Saurel, Patrick

Taillefer, Alexandre  

and Debbie Zakaib

Watterson, Susan

Weatherall, Diana St.B.

Wener, Jonathan I.

Wesselmann, Claire

Yung, Lily †

—

The J.A. DeSève Family Foundation

The Robert H.N. Ho Family 

Foundation

—

Domtar 

La Capitale financial group

Pomerleau 

$50,000 and more
Beauchemin, Suzanne

Benjamin, John

Blain, Dominique

Boisvert, Francis 

Brillant-Fluehler, Suzanne

Bronfman, Marjorie †

Cadieux, Geneviève

Cherix, Anne

Clément, Serge

Coté, Langevin and Lise

Danyliw, Andrew

de Saint-Hippolyte, Iegor 

The Estate of Betty Goodwin

The Estate of Harold Town

The Estate of 

Joy Sedgewick-Shannon

The Estate of Mackenzie McMurray

Furst, Félix J. and Christiane

Gaston, Ellis

Goldfarb, Hilliard Todd

Heenan, Roy L.

Laliberté, Guy

Lapointe, Charles

Lapointe, Pierre

Le Blanc, Guy and Marina Tremblay

Leslie, Barbara

Letendre, Rita

Loevenbruck, Magdeleine

Mailhot, Jacques

Masson, Louise

McEwen, Dominique

Meakins, Jonathan L.

Miller, Daniel S.

Milrad, Aaron

Nemiroff, Diana  

and Jean-Pierre Gaboury † 

Pineau, Marie

Quinn, Marilyn

Redpath, James S.

Ross, Colin

Rosshandler, Leo

Savage Family

Smith, Stephen

Somers, Pierre

Steinberg, Norm and Renée Kessler

Stewart, Liliane M.

Sullivan, Françoise

Tolwell, Larry

Vermette, Marc Karim

—

The Birks Family Foundation 

The Drummond Foundation

—

BPI

Canadian Laurentian Bank 

COGECO

Guillevin international 

Imperial Tobacco Canada 

Letko, Brosseau and Associates

TELUS

$25,000 and more
Aquin, Benoit

Arcand, Denys

Beauchamp, François

Beaugrand-Champagne, Claire

Bragg, John L.

Brault Béland, Denyse

Brown, Stephen

Bruck, Nina

Callaway Smith, Yvonne

Chevalier, Maurice

Corradi, Violaine

Denis, Claire

Desmarais, Paul, Sr., and Jacqueline

Dionne, Claude

Dorion, Hélène

Dumoulin, Herby

The Estate of Jacques Simard

The Estate of Juliette Papineau

The Estate of Trevor C. Thompson

Evans, Sarah-Jane

Favretto, Yolanda

Fleming, Sybil

Fontaine, Yves

Forcier, Madeleine

Fortin, Clément  

and Monique Jacques

Gilchrist Bailey, Janet

Gillson, Ruth

Guillevin Magnier, Vickie

Hannah, Adad

Hutchison, Dawne and Ian †

Marcinkiewicz, Jadwiga  

and Mieczyslaw 

Johnson, Melanie

Kearns, Robert

Kelly, Lise

Kolber, E. Leo

Lacasse, François

Laflamme, Edmund

Laflamme, Guy

Laflamme, Pierre

Laflamme, Richard †

Larivée, France

Legendre, Odette

L’Italien, Michel

Lui, Andrew

Lynn, Jeannie

MacLaren, George R. and Anne

Mailhot, Paul

Malenfant, Mario

Mani, André and Maxine

Martin, Jacques

Matte, Richard

McConnell, Peter G. and Andrea

Melançon, Élisabeth

Menosky, Joe

Morgenstern, Gert

Murphy, Serge

Nemiroff, Diana

Parenteau, Jean M.

Rossy, Larry and Cookie

Sabourin, Jacqueline

Sasseville, J. Serge  

and François Dell’Aniello

Sauvage, Suzanne

Schluep, Walter

Schwartz, Georges

Séguin, Marc

Shearer, Steven

Tardif, Simon

Thiboutot, Suzanne

Torrie, Jill

Valentin, Jean-Pierre

Veilleux, Charlotte

Vermette, Marc

Vuillien, Gérald-Henri  

and Christophe Pilaire

Wait, Julie

Walker, Lorne D.

Webster, Meredith

—

The Hylcan Foundation

The Jacques and Michel Auger 

Foundation

—

Canada Border Services Agency 

(CBSA)

Canmarc Reit Management 

DFS Inc. Architecture & Design

Groupe IBI, Daniel Arbour & 

Associés (DAA)

S.M. Group International

Sœurs de la Charité de Montréal

Sœurs des Saints Noms de Jésus et 

de Marie

$15,000 and more
Agouri, Pierre and Lorna

Arden, Roy

Arsenault, Stéphane

Baier, Nicolas

Bondil, Nathalie

Brossoit, Pierre

Crutchfield, Jean

Des Rosiers, Claude †

Dorion, René

Drapeau, Johanne  

and Lucien Maréchal

Dumas, Pierre and Marie

The Estate of Amalie Huber

The Estate of Ernest Cameron 

Common

The Estate of Jacques Brossard

The Estate of Marie Corinne Gillian 

Bennett

2008-2013 MAJOR FUND-RAISING CAMPAIGN
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The Estate of Rollande 

Guertin-Bussière

The Estate of Thérèse Bourgeois

Grenier, Yves

Groulx, Stéphane

Isherwood, Foster †

Ivory, Joan F.

Kagemori, Teruha

Lande, Margot

Lapointe, Michèle

LaRochelle, Luc

Lavigueur, Henri

Leblanc, Paul

Low-Beer, Susan

Ludmer, Irving

Maxwell, Vera Elizabeth

Merola, Mario

Milette, Richard

Molnar, Andrew

Moos, Julie

Phaneuf, Claude

Régimbald, Denis

Roth, Käthe

Roy, Jean-François

Seal, Barbara and Donald W.

Shore, Michael

Smith, Graham

Stevenson, Patricia L.

Tremblay, Pierre-Benoit

—

The Malouf Family Fund

The Samuel H. Kress Foundation

—

The Arcop Group

Les Rôtisseries St-Hubert 

Nicolet Chartrand Knoll 

Van Berkom and Associates

$10,000 and more
Aquin, Stéphane

Bellerose, Pierre

Anonymous

Blouin, René

Bossé Caillé, Hélène

Bougie, Jacques

Champagne, Danielle

Champagne, Jacques

Cook, Ronald and Katherine

Dalphond, Claude

de Margerie, Jean

Gagnon, François-Marc

Goldfarb, Joan and Martin

Gravel, L. Pierre

Johnson, Robert

Lambert-Lagacé, Louise

Lavallée, Paul

Loriot, Thierry-Maxime

Mackler, Richard J.

Martineau-Enzle, Monique

McConnell, Michael G.

McCutcheon, Elizabeth

Messier, Patrick

Monk, Joan A.

Normandeau, Denyse Saint-Pierre †

Robitaille-Manouvrier, Johanne

Rosengarten, George J. †

Segal, David

Silverberg, Barbara

Stiles, Delores

Stoker, Patrick McG.

Tremblay, Richard-Max

—

The Leacross Foundation

The Protech Foundation

—

Parisian Laundry

Pratt & Whitney Canada

SITQ

$5,000 and more 
Aho, Pierre-Henri

Archambault, Rosaire

Assaf, Charles

Bachand, André †

Beauregard, Martin

Bélanger, Jacques

Bélanger, Marthe

Bellefeuille, Jacques and Helen

Bellefleur, Jacques

Benierakis, Constantin

Bernard, Louis

Billick, Bonnie

Blouin, Michel

Bolduc, Émilien

Brown, Robert E. and Sherrill

Cattelan, Bita

Chamandy, Amel

Champagne, Raymond Beaugrand

Chan, Annie Yu

Charette, Christiane

Coulombe, Gérard

Couture, Hélène

Crawford, Purdy M.

Dansereau, Janine

Décary, Michel

Delisle, Sylvie

Dempsey, Gilles

Dion, Daniel

Dobell, Anthony R.C.

The Estate of Charlotte Mandel

The Estate of Emilie Lalonde 

The Estate of  

Jean Reynald Tessier

The Estate of 

Laurette Tremblay-Grenier

Etheridge, Paul

Filion Véronneau, Pierrette

Fischer, Gustel

Fortier, Michael 

and Michelle Setlakwe

Gagnon, Pnina C.

Garber, Bram †

Gervais, Gilles

Giroux, Richard

Gnass, Inga

Gouin, Serge

Greenberg, Reesa

Hagn, Michael

Hogg, Erin M.

Jaacobi, Shirley

Kramer, Thomas

Lacroix, Ivan

Lacroix, Laurier

Lagacé, Isolde

Lalonde, Fernand and Marie E.

Lapointe, Marie

Leclerc, Albert

Lerch, Michael

Macdonell, Jay

Machnik, Paul

Macneil, Linda

Mathias, Nancy

Mckim Mackintosh, Anne

Ménard, Claire Marie

Ménard, Mario  

and Jean-Pierre Le Clerc

Ménégoz, Gilda C.

Merling, Sheldon

Moisan, Erik

Moore, Lawrence

Muroff, Fredrick

O’Brien, John Wilfrid †

Ouellette, Pierre-François

Pagé, Sonora

Paratte, Henri-Dominique

Parent, Charles S.N.

Parent, Guy

Parent, Monique

Picard, Jean H.

Picton, Nina M.

Pocreau, Yann

Pratte, Caroline

Proteau, Jocelyn

Richer, Naomi

Rinfret, Anne

Saint-Pierre, Guy

Schweitzer, John A.

Séguin, Claire †

Shetty, Bhasker and Satinder

Siegal, Stephanie

Simard, Lise

Stevenson, Deirdre M.

St-Germain, Guy

Stoian, Alexandre

Stonehocker, Brian

Vallée, Lionel

Vary, Lucie

Warnet, Joël

Whittaker, Marian M.

Wilson, Lynton R.

Wolfensohn, Nelu

Wong, Martin

Wong, Pierrette

Zimbel, George S.

—

The Carthy Foundation

The Hay Foundation

—

Association Belgique-Canada

BFL Canada Risk and Insurance 

Conseil des arts de Montréal

Osler, Hoskin & Harcourt 

$2,500 and more 
Archambault, Danièle

Archambault, Michel Paul

Audet, Henri

Baczkowski, Dorothée

Baillargeon, Louise

Anonymous

Beauchamp, Marc  

and Marie-Françoise

Beauchemin, Lucille

Beauchemin, Roger O. †

Beauregard, Andrée

Beauregard, Gilles

Bélanger, Jean-Sébastien

Bellemare, Roger

Berke, Bunny

Bérubé, Jean-François

Binet, Ivan

Bissonnette, Claude

Blais, Régis

Bouchard, Gaétan

Brownstein, Berenice and Morton

Carr, Paul M.

Charoy, Paul G.

Cohen, Rhoda

Cohen-Rose, Sandra

Comtois, Pierre and Micheline

Connolly, Joseph S.

Cormier, Ruby †

D’Amours-Pineau, Adrienne †

Danis, Gabrielle

Danowski, Elizabeth M.

De Neeve, Eileen

De Repentigny, Françoise

Debrun, Laurent

Delisle, Carole M.

Déry, Joanne

Des Rochers, Jacques

Dey, Peter

Dind, Liselène

Dorsey, Dorothy

Doyle, Raymonde

Drummond, Brian P.

Dubois, Daniel

Duhaime, Micheline

Dumoulin, Marcelle

Esar, Joan

The Estate of Françoise Lepage

The Estate of Gysèle Hébert

The Estate of Micheline Legendre

Finkelstein, Ursula

Fish, Aaron M.

Fontaine, Huguette B.

Fossey, John M.

Foulon, Hervé

Gagné, Sandra

Gagnier, Richard

Gagnon, Louis

Gagnon, Nicole

Gagnon Giasson, Thérèse

Anonymous

Gaul, Neil

Giboulo, Karine

Godin, Hubert

Gouin, Louis J.

Gould, Trevor

Gravel, Diane

Grayib, Antoine S.

Greene, Nicole L.

Grégoire, M.-L.

Grondin, Louise

Guyomarc’h, Noël

Han, Pei Yuan

Hart, Anne-Marie

Harte, Wilhelmina

Hecht, Riva and Tom

Houde, Jean

Jablonski, Boguslana

Jolicoeur, Marjory

Jutras, Claire

Kerman, Janis

Konidaris, Ephie

Labelle, Claude and 

Micheline L’Espérance-Labelle

Labrèche, Jacques

Labrecque, Louise

Labrie, Simon

Lacroix, Thérèse

Laferrière, Ginette

Lagacé, Francis

Lambert, Marie L.

Lamonde, Yvan

Laporte, Françoise

Laurent, Jacques and Mimi

Lavigueur, Louise

Lavoie, Francine

Léger, Claire

Leimanis, Ruth

Lévesque, Suzanne

Lucas, John M.

Magnin, Juliette

Mailloux, Francis

Marchildon, Christine

Marsan, Jean-Claude

Marsh, Donna

Martineau, Claudette

Massicotte, Daniel

McGibbon, Arlene

Meloche, Denise

Mendell, Margie

Michaud, Nathalie

Minde, Klaus

Montplaisir, Michelle

Moskowitz, Debbie

Naubert-Riser, Constance

Pagé, Danny

Pagé, Zita

Paillé, Jean

Patry, Manon

Peltomaa, Arthur J.

Perrault, Jean L.

Perron, Gaston

Pilotte, Lana

Plamondon, Guy

Poulin de Courval, Marie  

and Jean‑Marc Milliard

Prénoveau, Yolande

Prévost, Michelle V.

Proulx, Gilles

Racine, Louis

Raizenne, Robert

Régnier, André

Robert, Charles

Rochon, François

Roland, Miriam J.

Rossy, Neil

Roy, François R.

Sachs, Dundi Rachel

Samman, Nadine

Samotis, Linda

Anonymous

Savoie-Dufresne, Estelle

Schubert, François

Schwarz, Ingeborg

Scott, Glenda

Shackleton, Eric B.

Spalding, Jeffrey

Stroll, Claire-Anne

Tabakian, Seta

Trestan, Sheila

Viau, Suzanne

Vice, Kirsten

Vincent, Jeannine

Walker, Robert

Wiener, Devik

Woods, James A.

—

Addenda Capital

Association of Volunteer Guides of 

the Montreal Museum of Fine Arts 

Normandin Beaudry 

Many thanks to the 7,244 donors 

and Museum employees who made 

contributions of less than $2,500.
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We would like to extend our 

sincere thanks to the individuals, 

corporations and foundations 

who made generous financial 

contributions to the Montreal 

Museum of Fine Arts’ Annual Fund-

raising Campaign between April 1, 

2012, and March 31, 2013. 

$25,000 and more
Levitt, Brian M.

—

Great-West Life, London Life 

and Canada Life

$15,000 and more
The Estate of Shirley Baerwald

Hornstein, Michal and Renata

Ross, Colin

$10,000 and more 
Feifer, Sharron

Lamarre, Jacques 

and Céline Robitaille

Orr, Jeffrey and Suzanne Legge

Seal, Barbara and Donald W.

$5,000 and more 
Broadhurst, David G.

Buruiana, Michel

Courtois, Jacques

de la Chenelière, Michel 

Dion, Daniel

Dupré, Marcel

Gawley, David

Greenberg, Reesa

Mayer, Dan

St-Germain, Guy

Warnet, Joël

Weider, Huguette

—

The Protech Foundation 

—

Joe Fresh

$2,500 and more 
Beauchamp, Marc 

and Marie-Françoise

Beauchemin, Roger J.

Bellefeuille, Jacques and Helen

Coulombe, Gérard

Dansereau, Janine

DeCorwin, Hélène

Etheridge, Paul

Fish, Aaron M.

Anonymous

Grayib, Antoine S.

Hagn, Michael

Hecht, Riva and Tom

Ivory, Joan F.

Klinkhoff, Eric J.

Labrecque, Louise

Marchildon, Christine

Montplaisir, Michelle

Néron, Émilien

Raizenne, Robert

Shetty, Bhasker and Satinder

Stevenson, Deirdre M.

Thériault, Christian

—

The Birks Family Foundation

—

HEC Montreal

$1,000 and more
Ainey, Serge

Alexander, Gary L.

April, Annette L.

Archambault, Michel Paul

Assaf, Charles

Azrieli, David J. and Stéphanie

Baillargeon, Louise

Bazin, Geneviève

Beauchemin, Elise

Beauchemin, Lucille

Beckerleg, Michele

Bédos, Jean-Christophe

Bélanger, Nicole C.

Bellerose, Pierre

Berbrier, Shari

Bernier, Gilles

Bessette, Henri

Birks, F. Ann

Blouin, Danielle

Bolduc, Émilien

Bourdeau, André

Bronfman, Barbara B.

Brosseau, Pierre R.

Bruneau, Luc

Brunelle, Micheline

Bossé Caillé, Hélène

Caron, Roselle and Henri Joli-Coeur

Chagnon-Bucheit, Louise

Choquette-Laporte, Monique

Ciancotti, Patrizia N.

Cloutier, Maxime

Connolly, Joseph S.

Couture, Hélène

Demers, Alain

Desjardins, Sophie

Destroismaisons, Sylvie

Dobrin, Melvyn A.

Dugas, Isabelle

Eappen, Roy

The Estate of Gysèle Hébert

Fafard, Joe

Fangor, Anna S.

Finkelstein, Ursula

Fischer, Gustel

Forest, Georges C.

Forget, Claude

Foulon, Hervé

Foumy, Stéfane

Fox, Lillian

Furst, Félix J. and Christiane

Gagnon, Luc

Gagnon Giasson, Thérèse

Goldenberg, Stanislas

Gomery, John H.

Grégoire, M.-L.

Guyatt, Raymond E.

Hayes, Joy and Rod

Hennelly, Nadine

Jacob, Robert

Jasmin, Catherine

Jobin, Luc

Jodoin, Maurice 

and Franceline Fortin

Labelle, Claude 

and Micheline L’Espérance-Labelle

Labrèche, Jacques

Lalime-Morrissette, Hélène

Lamarre, Claude

Lamonde, Yvan

Lamoureux, Claude

Lamulle, Pierre

Lapierre, Louis

Laporte, Donald

Laporte, Francine P.

Le Blanc, Guy and Marina Tremblay

Leclerc, Lucette S.

LeMoyne, Virginia

Leonard, Pierre

Lesage, André

Lucy, William

Maldoff, Eric

Maniatis, Thomas

Marcantonio, Thomas

Martin, Catherine

Martis, Jill and Xeno

Mayers, Alexander and Eunice

McBride, Peter

Melancon, Pierre-Yves

Ménard, Claire Marie

Merizzi, Andrée

Minde, Klaus

Molson, Stephen T. and Nancy

Olivier, Helen

Paradis, Louise

Peacock, John J.

Pelletier, Michèle

Perrault, Jean L.

Pilot, Wakeham D.C.

Plens, Jonathan

Pomeroy, Marnie

Prénoveau, Yolande

Racine, Louis

Reeves, Denis

Régnier, Marc

Remiggi, Frank William

Rivest, André

Rizzuto, Jean

Robichon, Georges

Rocheleau, Serge

Rouleau, Benoit

Roy, Madeleine

Rusgal, Bernadette

Sall, Gurjinder P.

Savard, Guy

Schloss, Melvin and Barbara

Séguin, Claude

Simard, Paul

Skoryna, Jane M.

Soutar, Helgi

Steinberg, H. Arnold and Blema

Stoker, Patrick McG.

Turcot, Maryse

Vennat, Manon

Vincelette, Lucie

Vincent, Jeannine

Vouloumanos, Vickie

Wilson, Lynton R.

Witmeur, Ethel

Woolrich, Keith

Yellin, Mervin M.

—

The A. Pizzagalli Family Foundation

The Gustav Levinschi Foundation

The Hay Foundation

The Henry and Berenice Kaufman 

Foundation

Anonymous

The Yvon Boulanger Foundation

—

CT copieur 

Fédération des cégeps

Mosaiq

Recochem

Rexel North America 

Van Berkom & Associates

$500 and more
Amyot, Bernard

Anonymous

Belisle, Pierre

Bergeron, Patrice

Blouin, Michel

Bondil, Nathalie

Brault, Christiane

Brojde, Anna

Brosseau, Carole

Brzezinski, Alex

Caplan, Judy and Mark

Carmosino, Darren

Champagne, Danielle

Champoux Cadoche, Ariane

Charbonneau, Denis

Charbonneau, Marc

Charron, Daniel

Clarke, Simonne E.

Cleghorn, John E.

Collette, Maurice

Collyer, John

Contant, Cécile

Cormier, Claude

Crépeau, Jean

Deruchie, Douglas M.

Dixon, Lethecia 

Dobell, Anthony R.C.

Dufour, Louise-Aimée

Emond, Louise

Ender, Peter

Forand, Sébastien

Fortier, Gilles

Foss, Thor A.

Fréchette, Denise

Gallop, Mark

Gauthier, Ghislaine

Anonymous

Harnois, Richard

Harrison, Janet

Hofer, John M.

Idziak, Edmund

Joron, Guy

Kavanagh, Judith

Laidley, David H.

Lamarre, Bernard

Lamarre, Céline

Landry, Monique

Laparé, Jacques

Lapointe, Normand

Larin, Luc

Le Bel, Hélène

Leclair, Paul

Lisser, Gerry

Loiselle, Gilles

Lord, Guy

Mailly, Lorraine

Mangiocavallo, Maria

Marrello, Lisa

Martin, Nicole

Mastracci, Angela

Ménard, Marie-Claude

Michaud, Julien

Minasi, Pina

Missala, Krystyna E.

Mongeau, Jean-Pierre

Montas, Lys

Morin, Georges E.

Nadler, Ruth

Ouellette, Alain

Ouimet-Scott, Paule 

and Hugh Scott

Pallascio, Aubert

Paré, Jean

Patoine, Claude

Pelletier, Micheline

Peluso, Maria

Petrelli, Robert

Potash, Barbara

Proulx, Jean-Denis

Renaud, Pierre

Royal, Gisèle

Saia, Jean

Schiffrin, Ernesto

Schwartzwald, Robert

Scott, Glenda

Sharp, Hélène Côté

Shea, Philip

Snell, Linda and Beverly Rowat

Solomon, Augusta

Anonymous

Steiner, Ursula

St-Germain, Jo-Anne

St-Germain, Nicole

Tanguay, Nicole S.

Tétrault, Hope

Thériault-Viger, Nicolas

Turcot, Claude

Turcotte, Michel

Van Fossen, Ann

Viau, Claudette

Vosko, Allan

Winn, Christopher J.

Worms, Roland

Zerbisias, Dionysia

—

HSBC Securities

$250 and more
Aikins, George

Aitken, Allan

Angers, Denise

Aonzo, Jeannine

Avrith, Marilyn

Banon, Marcel

Barbeau, Monique

Barsalou, Pierre

Bastarache, Jean-Yves

Bawab, Veronica

Baxter, Anne B.

Beaulne, Michel

Beauregard, Andrée

Beauregard, Louis

Anonymous

Bélanger, Raphael

Benoit, Aline

Berenson Vineberg, Trina

Bertrand, Gilles

Bertrand, Micheline

Besner, Jean

Besner, Pierre

Bisaillon, Suzanne

Bishop, Trevor H.

Bissonnette, Bernard

Bissonnette, Joanne

Blais, Jocelyn

Blais, Louise

Blais, Nathalie

Boisjoli, Jacqueline

Bossé, Sylvie P.

Bouaziz, Ali

Boucher, Pauline

Boulay, Catherine

Bourbonnais, Jean-Claude

Brady, Thomas

Bricault, Léo

2012-2013 ANNUAL FUND-RAISING CAMPAIGN
A tribute to our benefactors and donors
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Brissette, Suzanne

Brisson, Lucie

Brodeur, Catherine

Brody, K. David

Brossard, André

Brouillet, Luc

Brunelle, Claude

Cadieux, Murielle

Cajolet, Claude

Callaway Smith, Yvonne

Carlens, Nicole

Chalifoux, Simon

Chambers, Gretta

Chancer, Mary

Charbonneau, Lucie

Chéhadé, Albert

Chénard, Viateur

Chevalier, Paul

Choinière, Luc

Cloutier, Pierrette

Comeau, Maurice

Comtois, Pierre and Micheline

Cossette, Pierre-Yves

Couillard, Marcel

Curran, William

Dacougnia, Tiburce

Dansereau, Michelle

Daoud, Aïda

Daoussis, Gerald

Dasnoy-Le Gall, Nicole

de Carvalho, Denyse

De Lamirande, Michèle

Dealy, John

Delsanne, René

Des Groseilliers, Sylvain

Desautels, Adrien

Desautels, Renée

Deschamps, Yvon

Deserres, Monique

Dimitropoulos, Mare

Dionne, Michelle

Djandji, Guy N.

Dongier, Maurice

Druckman, Rozlyn

Dubuc, Yolande M.

Ducros, Pierre

Duhamel, Alain

Duhamel, Marie

Duranceau, Louise

Earle, Arthur P.

Farnell, Gerald W.

Feher, Mary M. J.

Ferland, Lise

Filiatrault, Pierre

Fish, Douglas

Fournier, Louise

Gagné, Paul

Gagnon, Claude

Gagnon, Denise G.

Garel, Patricia

Gaudette, Jean-Guy

Gendron, Danielle

Gendron, Hubert

Germain, Madeleine

Gibeault, Audrey

Girard, Carmen L.

Girard, Gabriel

Girard, Philippe

Girard Deltruc, Nicolas

Gliserman, Rosalind

Glorieux, Francis

Gornitsky, Mervyn

Grace, Anne

Granata, Arnaud

Greene, Nicole L.

Guérin, François

Hadjetian, Diana

Hardy, Henriette

Harris, Jean-Guy

Harvey, Bernard H.

Harvey, Robert M.

Hendery, Janet C.

Henrichon, Julie

Henwood, Robert Blake

Hesler, Nicole D.

Hirbour, Louise

Hivon, Marie-Christine

Hodge, Frances

Hopf, Mary Carmen

Huot, Céline

Hurtubise, Jacques

Iskandar, Hani

Jamois, Yolande M.

Jarry, Paul

Johnson, Lydia M.

Jolicoeur, Sylvie

Jones, Scott

Joubert, Louise

Jubinville, Gérald

Kalichman, Nathan

Kambia-Ekim, Daphné

Keith, Julie

Kirouac, Monique

Kleinman, Robert A. 

and Alice Herscovitch

Kolomeir, Morton

Krieber, Janine

Kwong, Elizabeth

Anonymous

Labrosse, Sylvie

Lachapelle, Normand

Laflamme, Pierre

Lalonde Martin, Hélène

Lamarre, Paul

Lamond, Donald Cameron

Lamoureux, Francine

Lapierre, Nicole

Lauzier, Madeleine

Laverdure, Roger

Ledoux, Chantal

Legault, André

Legault, Guy

Legault, Guy R.

Lemieux, Francine

Letendre, Robert

Levasseur, Raymond

Lévesque, Christian

Lévesque, Régis

Lincourt, Francine

Linteau, Paul-André

Loader, Ralph

Lortie, Sylvain

Lulham, Cynthia

Lussier, Hélène J.

Lutfy, Paul

Lutfy, Sharon

MacDonald, Ian

MacDonald, John J.

Mackenzie, Joan C.

MacLaren, George R. and Anne

Maklan, Irving

Malo, René and Marie Gagnon

Marceau, Alain

Marchand, Jacques

Mariette, Marie-Françoise

Marr, Allan

Marsan, Jean-Claude

Mathias, Nancy

Matte, Jeanine

Matteau, Colette

Mauer, Lillian

Mayrand, Andrée

Ménard, Christiane

Messa, Eleonora

Messier, Pierre

Michot, Jinnie

Miller, John

Miller, Michel

Miron, Nicole

Molson, Carole L.

Morimanno, Elena

Morin, Louis

Morin, Suzanne

Munro, Robert L.

Murphy, Marie

Nadon, France

O’Driscoll, John

Ostiguy, Jean-Hugues

Panaccio, Madeleine

Panet-Raymond, Antoine J.

Pardo, Laurence K.

Pasztor, Valerie

Pellegrino, Michael

Pelletier, Gilles

Pelletier, Yvan

Pépin, Lucien

Perrier, Léopold

Perron, Dominique

Perron-Collins, Olivier

Pilotte, Lana

Pineault, Daniel

Poirier, Louise-Anne

Pommier, Paul

Portugais, Paul

Préfontaine, Marie-Antoinette D.

Prévost, William

Quenneville, Louise

Raymond, Denyse

Raymond, Pierre

Renaud, Suzane

Restler, Peter G.

Riverin, Pierre

Roquet, Anna Maria R.

Rose, Rose

Rosentzveig, David

Rousseau, Caroline

Roy, Maria

Roy, Michel

Ruddick, Margaret E.M.

Sachs, Dundi Rachel

Saint-Martin, Lori

Salomon, Anne

Santerre, Philippe

Sasseville, Huguette M.

Sayeki, Yoko

Schaffelburg, David

Schleiermacher, Hildburg

Schouela, Sheila

Schwartzman, Alex

Shamlian, Arthur

Shapiro, Peggy

Shapiro, Peter

Shearwood, Perry

Sheps, David

Shriqui, Maurice

Sigler, David A.

Sissons, Wendy Ruth

Smith, Glenn B.

Solonysznyj, Peter

Stavert, Margaret

Steers, Reginald

Steinberg, Murray

Stephens, S. Allan

Stikeman, Mary G.

Stockwell, Lynne

Skyes, Henry W.

Takefman, Marilyn

Tétrault, Jean-Paul

Thomas, Maria

Thomas, Peggy-Jean

Tissino, Danilo

Trahan, Anne-Marie

Tran Nguyen, Hoai Thu

Tremblay, Isabelle

Trépanier, Ginette

Trottier, Philippe

Turek, Christine

Vadas, Elizabeth B.

Vaillancourt, Marie-Paule D.

Vanasse, Diane

Vincent, Linda

Wexler, Marvin

Wolff, Eva Ruth

—

The Wellfleet Foundation

—

Norton Rose Fulbright

Many thanks to the 1,914 donors 

and Museum employees who made 

contributions of less than $250. 

▲
Alex Colville (1920-2013)
Bell Buoy and Cormorant, 1985, silkscreen, 19/70, 23.3 x 57 cm (sheet), 20.3 x 53.3 cm (image). Gift of Lucien Maréchal and Johanne Drapeau. © A.C. Fine Arts Inc.
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At the Montreal Museum of Fine 

Arts, it is a tradition to add up 

to the credit of the donor all the 

donations – be they gifts of money 

and/or property – received over the 

years in order to bestow on them 

the title of Distinguished Member. 

According to article 3 of the 

regulation respecting the general 

administration of the Museum, the 

category of Distinguished Member 

includes eight sub-categories, 

with thresholds that vary between 

$2,000 and $500,000.

On March 31, 2013, the Museum 

had 3,634 Distinguished Members. 

We are pleased to publish the 

names of those individuals whose 

annual contribution enabled them 

to attain the status of Distinguished 

Member or accede to a higher 

category. We offer them our 

sincere congratulations.

Major Patrons
cumulative donation of 

$500,000 and more

Sandra Black and Jeff Rose

Michel de la Chenelière

Heir of the Bloch-Bauer family

Mark and Esperanza Schwartz

Patrons
cumulative donation 

between $250,000 and 

$500,000

Anonymous

Gabor Szilasi

Major Benefactors 
cumulative donation 

between $100,000 and 

$250,000

Guylaine and Frédéric Back

Monic Brassard and Yvon Cozic

Hans and Suzanne Brillant-Fluehler

Hélène Caillé Bossé

Louise Daudelin

Jean-Guy Desjardins and 

Suzan Moreau 

Nicol Guérin

Mel and Rosemary Hoppenheim 

Sarah Humphrey 

and Dr. Gerald van Gurp

Jack Lazare

Rita Letendre

Kent Monkman 

Roland Poulin

Normand Rajotte

Réal Raymond

Raymond Royer 

and France Denis Royer 

Susan Watterson

Claire Wesselmann

Benefactors
cumulative donation 

between $50,000 and 

$100,000

Micheline and Serge Clément

Mel and Mitzi Dobrin

Barbara Leslie 

François Schubert and Marie Pineau

Norm Steinberg and Renée Kessler

Jonathan I. Wener

Major Fellows
cumulative donation 

between $25,000 and 

$50,000

Denys Arcand

Michel P. Archambault

Claire Beaugrand-Champagne

Pierre Blanchette

John L. Bragg 

Maurice Chevalier

Yves Fontaine

Adad Hannah

Jacques Lamarre 

and Céline Robitaille

Paul Lavallée

Dr. Henri Lavigueur

Richard Matte

Barbara Seal

Jill Torrie

Guy and Charlotte Veilleux-Picard

Evelyn and Lorne Walker

Fellows 
cumulative donation 

between $10,000 and 

$25,000

Anonymous

Rosaire Archambault

Renée and Pierre Béland 

Nathalie Bondil

David G. Broadhurst

Pierre R. Brosseau

Mrs. Jean Crutchfield

Elizabeth M. Danowski

Janine Dansereau

Jacques Des Rochers

Daniel Dion

Johanne Drapeau 

and Lucien Maréchal 

Gustel Fisher

Roxane Fortier

Léopold L. Foulem

François-Marc Gagnon

Anonymous

Joan and Martin Goldfarb

Michael Hagn 

Wilhelmina Harte

Teruha Kagemori

Jean and Diane Lamarre

Louise Lambert-Lagacé

Michèle Lapointe

Monique Martineau-Enzle

Sheldon and Roslyn Merling

Klaus and Nina Mindea

Elena Morimanno

Paul Simard

Martin S. Steber

Christian Thériault

Dr. Pierre-Benoît Tremblay 

and Dr. Andreas A. Ziegenhorn

Jeannine Vincent

Eminent Supporters
cumulative donation 

between $5,000 and $10,000

Charles Assaf

Lucille Beauchemin

Pierre Belisle

Pierre Bellerose

André Brosseau

Micheline Brunelle

Michel Buruiana

Roselle Caron

Jacques Courtois, Jr.

Joanne Déry

Marcel Dupré

Dr. Roy Eappen

Stéfane Foumy

Gilles Gervais

Noël Guyomarc’h

Catherine Jasmin

Marie Lapointe

Gerry Lisser

Dan Mayer

Harry Mayerovitch Picton

Mario Ménard and 

Jean-Pierre Le Clerc

Andrée Merizzi

Julien Michaud and Lise Brault

Michelle Montplaisir

John J. Peacock

Frank William Remiggi

Anonymous

Anne Rinfret

Linda Snell and Beverly Rowat

Dr. Brian Stonehocker

John Taft 

Life Members 
cumulative donation 

between $2,000 and $5,000

Allan Aitken

Elspeth Angus

Roger J. Beauchemin

Jean-Luc Beauregard

Jacques Bellefleur

Patrice Bergeron

Ginette Bernard

Luc Bertrand

Thérèse Bernatchez

Jean-Louis Bibeau

Claude Bissonnette

Lucie Brisson

Murielle Cadieux

Paul M. Carr

Gérald Charbonneau

Daniel Charron

Patrizia N. Ciancotti

Cécile Contant

Beverly and Ron Courey

Yves M. Dagenais

Gabrielle Danis

Michelle Dansereau

Yolande Delorme-Hess

Gilles Dempsey

Douglas M. Deruchie

Peter J. Dey 

Maurice Dongier

Geneviève Dubuc

Alain Duhamel

Marie Duhamel

Jacqueline M. Duranceau

Peter Ender

Douglas Fish

Angéline Fournier

Thor A. Foss

Louis Gagnon

Pierre Galipeau

Sonia Gaudreault

Anne Grace

Marie-Lucie Grégoire

Raymond E. Guyatt

Samira Hakim

Jean-Guy Harris

Francine Heyen

Frances Hodge

Hani Iskandar

Robert Jacob

Michel Jolicoeur

Judith Kavanagh

Claude Labelle and 

Micheline L’Espérance-Labelle

Odette J. Laberge

Isolde Lagacé 

and Douglas McNabney

Pierre Lamulle 

Louise Laplante

Donald Laporte

Robert W. Laurier

Louise Lavigueur

Francine Lemieux

Claude Létourneau

Stéphane Léveillé

Andrée Lévesque

Francine Lincourt

Ralph Loader

Gilles Loiselle

Suzanne Lussier-Cacan

Thomas Maniatis

Thomas Marcantonio

Alain Marceau

Lisa Marrello

René Martineau

Angela Mastracci

Donald S. McKelvie

Marie-Claude Ménard 

Margie Mendell

Nicole Miron

Lawrence Moore

Robert L. Munro

Margaret Murnighan

Constance Naubert-Riser

Émilien Néron

Alain Ouellette

Jean Paillé

Jean Paré

Jean-Denis Proulx

André Régnier

André Rivest

Madeleine Rocheleau

Neil Rossy

Madeleine Roy

Maria Roy

Nadine Samman

Francyne Savoie

Dr. Melvin and Mrs. Barbara Schloss

Claude Séguin

Perry Shearwood

Wendy Ruth Sissons

Peter Solonysznyj

Patricia Spry-Curran

Hélène M. Stevens

Lucille St-Laurent

Jean-Paul Tétrault

Ruth Tétreault

Peggy-Jean Thomas

Maryse Turcot

Marie-Paule D. Vaillancourt

Ann Van Fossen

Nicolas T. Viger

Madeleine Vinet

Michael V. Whitehead

Marian M. Whittaker

Eva Ruth Wolff

Elaine Zeidel

Deaths
It was with regret that we 

learned of the deaths of 

the following Distinguished 

Members of the Museum:

Jacques Cadieux

Ruby Cordy Cormier

Aimée Danis

Normand Downs 

Dr. Patrice Drouin

Michel Guertin

Kathleen Laing

Mildred Lande

Diane Leprohon

Rachel McLeod

Claude Merineau

Alfred N. Miller

Alexis Nihon II

Thérèse Patry

Allan Raymond

Charlotte Starkey

Suzanne Tanguay

Raymond Tremblay

Barbara C. Walls

Promotions 2012-2013
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Arte Musica Foundation
our second season at Bourgie Hall

The Arte Musica Foundation’s 2012-2013 season ran from September 
13, 2012, to August 17, 2013. This was the Foundation’s fifth year in 
residence at the Museum, and its second year of activity at Bourgie 
Concert Hall. In addition to its primary responsibility, musical pro-
gramming for the Museum, the Arte Musica Foundation manages all 
the services associated with the concerts presented at Bourgie Hall, 
including the ticket counter, reception and logistics, both for its own 
productions and for concerts presented by production companies 
that rent the hall.

During its 2012-2013 season, Arte Musica presented 83 concerts at 
Bourgie Hall: 66 productions (including 12 presented in partnership 
with well-known Montreal musical organizations like the Orchestre 
symphonique de Montréal and the Orchestre Métropolitain), 16 
school matinées presented jointly with Jeunesses Musicales du 
Canada, and a concert for community groups that take part in the 
MMFA’s Sharing the Museum programme.

In keeping with its mission to develop music as an integral part of 
the Museum, the AMF presented many concerts directly related to 
the Museum’s collections and exhibitions. For example, “Spotlight on 
Debussy” in the fall of 2012 echoed the exhibition Once upon a Time… 
Impressionism, and some concerts in the “Musical Canvases” series 
took music lovers on a journey through the music of South America 
during the exhibition Peru: Kingdoms of the Sun and the Moon.

Arte Musica’s varied programme of 66 concerts featured a variety 
of contrasting series, from jazz concerts and world music presented 
at the end of the afternoon as part of the “Musical 5 à 7” series, 
to concerts featuring international artists performing with the ac-
claimed chamber orchestra Les Violons du Roy, as well as more in-
timate recitals in the “Jacques Dansereau” series on the keyboard 
instruments in Bourgie Hall. Three new series were also introduced: 
the “Youth and Pros” series, spotlighting promising young musicians 
who have been paired up with seasoned professionals to perform 
the classics from the chamber music repertoire; “Consonance and 
Dissonance,” which invites the audience to hear works by twenti-
eth- and twenty-first-century composers; and the “Tiffany Concerts,” 
unique, high-quality musical experiences.

Rounding out Arte Musica’s 2012-2013 programme were 34 lectures 
and 11 films about music, presented for free to more than 2,000 
people in the Maxwell Cummings Auditorium.

In addition to concerts produced by Arte Musica, the Bourgie Hall’s 
musical offering in the 2012-2013 season also included 68 concerts 
and musical events presented by 25 organizations that rented the hall 
at very affordable rates.

Some statistics: 

ፚፚ Close to 15% of concerts presented by the AMF were sold out, 
and the average occupancy rate for Bourgie Hall for AMF pro-
ductions was 60%; 

ፚፚ School matinées and shows for young audiences attracted 6,410 
people;

ፚፚ More than a quarter of the tickets were sold at the promotional 
rate offered to the Museum’s VIPs, i.e. a 15% discount on the 
regular price;

ፚፚ The average ticket price was below $30;
ፚፚ A 50% discount was offered for those aged 30 and under for all 

concerts presented by the AMF.

In total, 196 musical events were presented at the Museum. These 
figures confirm that Arte Musica’s programming is a relevant and 
important part of Montreal’s abundant musical offerings.  ■

Isolde Lagacé

General and Artistic Director 
Arte Musica Foundation

Once again, the Arte Musica Foundation will be treating us 
this week, with a concert in its Tiffany series, named for the 
artist who designed the hall’s superb stained glass windows 
(magnificently lit up on concert nights).

– Le Devoir

42,000 
CONCERT-GOERS

135 concerts

34 LECTURES

16 SCHOOL MATINÉES

11 films

2 OPUS AWARDS

CONCERT OF THE YEAR 
Medieval, Renaissance, 
Baroque and Classical 
music category, for the 
Bourgie Hall inaugural 
concert

SPECIALIZED PRODUCER 
OF THE YEAR  
for the Bourgie Hall 
inaugural season

▲
Photo Bernard Fougères
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The results of the Volunteer Association’s sixty-fifth year of operation, 
which was rich in activities and accomplishments, speak for them-
selves. The Montreal community continues to faithfully support the 
Association’s fund-raising activities and events, attending the Museum 
Ball, Benefit Soirées, Christmas concerts and Christmas tree exhibition 
and taking part in the cultural trips and tours.

፛፛ Marie-Josée Lord and Marc Hervieux  
Benefit Soirée

On June 6, 2012, in the first of a series of Benefit Soirées at the 
Museum, soprano Marie-Josée Lord and tenor Marc Hervieux charmed 
425 guests with their infectious humour and evident joy in sharing a 
stage. The cocktail reception following the concert provided an oppor-
tunity for guests to meet the artists.

፛፛ Museum Ball 
On November 3, 2012, the fifty-second Museum Ball lit up the night 
in an entrancing decor designed by Scott Yetman. Rupert Duchesne 
and the Honourable Michael M. Fortier, P.C., served as Honorary 
Co-presidents of this gala event, which was presided over by Alix 
d’Anglejan-Chatillon. The 750 guests enjoyed a sumptuous dinner 
created by Armando Arruda of the Fairmont – Queen Elizabeth and 
danced under the starry sky of the Glass Court.

፛፛ Christmas Activities
Between November 23, 2012, and January 6, 2013, the Museum 
maintained its ever-popular holiday traditions by presenting four 
Christmas concerts and the Christmas tree exhibition in the Michal 
and Renata Hornstein Pavilion. These holiday classics are a unique 
opportunity to discover local talent and soak up the festive atmos-
phere with the whole family, free of charge.

፛፛ Yannick Nézet-Séguin Has Carte Blanche  
Benefit Soirée

On March 16, 2013, Yannick Nézet-Séguin gave a four-hand piano 
concert with his great friend, the virtuoso Jennifer Bourdages, in 
Bourgie Hall. This second edition of the Museum’s Benefit Soirées 
concluded with a cocktail in The Age of the Manifesto Gallery with 
the artists.

፛፛ Cultural Trips and Tours
The Cultural Tours Committee exceeded this year’s goal by raising 
the substantial amount of $24,346 – almost twice as much as last 
year! The Committee revised its guidelines, brilliantly organizing 
many engaging visits: Montreal’s Public Art Collection, Van Gogh: 
Up Close at the National Gallery of Canada, The Art of Entertaining 
with Hainya Wiseman, a tour of the Pavilion of Quebec and Canadian 
Art combined with a concert at Bourgie Hall, a visit to Les Grands 
Ballets Canadiens’ and the Opéra de Montréal’s costume workshops, 
as well as Art and Gastronomy luncheon-lectures on the history of 
Impressionism and “Glorious Peru.”

As a result of all these fundraising activities, the Volunteer Association 
presented a generous cheque of $1 million to the Museum. These 
funds were used to help finance the exhibitions Chihuly and Splendore 
a Venezia, the publication of the catalogues Splendore a Venezia and 
Peter Doig, the publication of an updated edition of the Guide to the 
Collections and the acquisition of works of art, as well as educational 
programming and the purchase of amplifiers for guided tours.

The Volunteer Association extends its sincere thanks to the individuals 
and companies that support our activities and to the members of the 
organizing committees who have ensured their success.  ■

Linda Greenberg 
Alexandra MacDougall

2012-2013 Co-presidents 
The Volunteer Association

VOLUNTEER  
ASSOCIATION  
REPORT

▲
150th-anniversary gift
Roland Poulin (born in 1940)

In Extenso 2, 2007-2008
Polychromed wood, 118.3 x 487 x 92 cm

Gift of Roland Poulin in honour of the 
Montreal Museum of Fine Arts’ 150th 

anniversary 
© Roland Poulin / SODRAC (2013)
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TITLE PARTNER 
Scotiabank

SPONSORS  
AND DONORS
Charton Hobbs

Atma Classique

Lassonde

RBC Foundation

Studio Lézard

BouQuet by Jean-Pascal Lemire – 

Ritz-Carlton Montreal Florist

Eau Saint-Justin

Ian & Linda Greenberg

Iceberg Canada

Metro Inc.

Hugues G. Richard

Patrons
Nicole Allard and Michel Lavoie

Alain Bergeron and Anouk TerBraak

Bio-K + International

Elaisne Blain and Robert Coallier

Marc-André Blanchard 

and Monique Ryan

BMO Capital Markets

Kasia Bogdanowicz 

and Anders Christensen

Cascades Groupe Tissu

Pierre Casgrain

Jean and Sylvie Chagnon

Charron Family

Caroline Charton

CIA Inc. and Valeurs mobilières 

Desjardins

Alix d’Anglejan-Chatillon 

and François Janson

France Denis and Raymond Royer

Denise B. Desjardins

Jean-Luc Desjardins 

and Michelle Raymond

Marcelle Dumoulin

Teresa and Tony Fata

David and Sylvie Forest

Carolina Gallo 

and Erik Richer La Flèche

John and Anne-Marie Hart

Norman Hébert, Jr., 

and Diane Dunlop

Holding Angel Care

Eric R. La Flèche and Michèle Plourde

Daniel Lalonde and Ann Bouthillier

Jean Lamarre and Diane Fugère

Allan and Kerry Lanthier

The Hon. Charles Lapointe

Jean-François Laverdure and 

Natalie Lemire

Suzanne Legge and Jeffrey Orr

Alexandra MacDougall and 

Hubert Colas

Marcelle and Jean Coutu Foundation

Claude Marcotte and Josée Dufresne

Metro Inc.

Suzan Moreau

Eric Morisset and Claire Archambault

Richard Nadeau and Josée Banville

Pierre Paquet and Lyne Rouleau

Jacques Parisien 

and Johanne Champoux

Marie Pineau and François Schubert

RBC Capital Markets

André Roy and France Caron

Luc Sabbatini and Manon Chicoine

Diane Sauvé

Scotiabank

Woods S.E.N.C.R.L

BENEFIT SOIRÉE 
MARIE-JOSÉE LORD AND MARC HERVIEUX 
June 6, 2012 

CORPORATE 
BENEFACTORS

GOLD CORPORATIONS

Aimia 

Banque Nationale 

Corporation Financière Power

Power Corporation of Canada 

RBC Marchés des capitaux

SILVER CORPORATIONS 

Aldo 

Bell 

Bombardier 

Caisse de dépôt et placement du 

Québec

CIBC World Markets 

Corporation Immobilière Kevric Inc. 

Domtar Inc. 

Hydro-Québec 

McKinsey & Company 

Norton Rose Canada 

Power Corporation du Canada 

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Québecor Inc. 

RBC Banque Royale 

Rio Tinto Alcan 

SNC-Lavalin 

Tourisme Montréal 

BRONZE CORPORATIONS

Air Canada 

Anonymous

Astral Media Inc. 

BCF, Avocats d’Affaires 

James W. Beckerleg

Blake, Cassels & Graydon 

BMO Marchés des capitaux

Borden Ladner Gervais 

Brookfield Financial 

Bruce Kent Group

Cogeco Inc. 

Cossette 

Davies Ward Phillips & Vineberg 

Fasken Martineau

Fonds de placement immobilier 

Cominar

Heenan Blaikie 

Loto-Québec 

McCarthy Tétrault 

Metro Inc. 

Miller Thomson Pouliot

Mouvement des caisses Desjardins 

NKF Devencore 

Osler Hoskin & Harcourt

Pomerleau Inc.

Power Corporation du Canada 

Rona Inc. 

Samson Bélair / Deloitte & Touche 

The Sandra and Leo Kolber 

Foundation

SAQ 

Shoppers Drug Mart 

Société Financière Bourgie

Le Square Phillips Hôtel et Suites 

Stikeman Elliott 

Stingray Digital Group

TC Transcontinental 

TD Canada Trust 

TD Valeurs Mobilières

DONORS
The Alan & Roula Rossy Family 

Foundation

Astral Media Inc.

Atrium Innovations 

Bell 

Richard Blatt

BMO Marchés des capitaux 

The Browns Shoes Charitable 

Foundation

Canderel Management Inc.

Celebrations

CN 

The CSL Group Inc.

Alix d’Anglejan-Chatillon and 

François Janson

Garda 

Gaz Metro

George Weston Limited

Groupe Canam Inc.

Holt, Renfrew & Co., Limited

James A. Woods & Associés Inc.

The Jean C. Monty Family

Eric Klinkhoff and Leslie MacDonald

Lavery, de Billy 

L’Oréal Canada

Macdonald Stewart Foundation

Guy Masson

Morgan Stanley

Resolute Forest Products 

Rolls-Royce Motor Cars Québec

Hans-Christoph 

and Alexandra Scheibler

Martin and Jennifer Steber

Alexandre Taillefer

TC Transcontinental 

Scott Yetman

PATRONS
Charles Ahern and Haiffa Araj

Daniel and Silvia Assandri

Erin and Joe Battat

Jean-Christophe and Arianna Bedos 

Vianney Bélanger 

and Karina Ter-Stepanian

Nathalie Bondil

Martin Bündock and 

Elizabeth Lehoux

Paolo and Bita Cattelan

Danielle Champagne

Carole Chapdeleine 

and Julien Champagne 

Alix d’Anglejan-Chatillon 

and François Janson

Charles Décarie 

and Nathalie Schwartz

Michel de la Chenelière

France Denis and Raymond Royer

Rupert Duchesne and Holly Coll-Black

Claudia and Maurizio Favretto

The Hon. Michael M. Fortier, P.C., 

and Michèle Setlakwe

Angeline Fournier and guest

Jean Gattuso and Sophie Labrecque

David Gawley and Linda Leith 

Matthieu Geoffrion 

and Yseult St-Jacques

Richard Giroux 

and Anne-Marie Girard-Plouffe

Eva Hartling and guest

Charles and Georgia Kaufmann

Paul Lavallée

Damien Lefebvre and Karine Vincent

Nathalie Lévesque

Brian M. Levitt

Steve Louis and Leonore Romain

Alexandra MacDougall 

and Hubert Colas

Pierre Mantha and Lauraine Cadoret 

Esther Morin

Michel Nadeau and Lydie Ntap 

Pierre-François Ouellet

Claude Perron and Louise Latreille

Claude Provencher and 

Lucie Bouthillette

Claude and Sylvie Rheault 

Erik Richer La Flèche 

and Carolina Gallo

Susan and Vincent Salvati

François Schubert and Marie Pineau

David Sela and Nadia Moretto

Martin and Jennifer Steber

Julie-Katerine Turcotte

Mr. and Mrs. J. Sebastian van Berkom

Dr. and Mrs. Scott C.A. Watson

Scott Yetman 

and Jean-Michel Lavoie

Yvonne Zacios and Robert Crowley

SPONSORS
BouQuet by Jean-Pascal Lemire – 

Ritz-Carlton Montreal Florist

Boutique et Institut Guerlain de 

Westmount

Compagnie d’assurance Standard 

Life du Canada 

L’International des Feux 

Loto-Québec

Metro Inc.

SAQ 

Scott Yetman Design 

Studio Lézard 

Trudeau Corporation

MUSEUM BALL 
November, 3, 2012

PARTNERS
Scotiabank 

Power Corporation of Canada

DONORS
Bell

Astral Media Inc.

BMO Financial Group

Louise Druckman

The Jean C. Monty Family

Dr. Bernard Shapiro

Louise and Jean-Yves Fortin

SPONSORS
La Presse

Barton & Guestier

Carmen

Atma Classique

simpléchic traiteur

Studio Lézard

Eau Saint-Justin

BouQuet by Jean-Pascal Lemire – 

Ritz-Carlton Montreal Florist

BENEFIT SOIRÉE
YANNICK NÉZET-SÉGUIN HAS CARTE BLANCHE
March 16, 2013



6464

During my term as President of the Association of Volunteer Guides, 
I have come to recognize, more fully, their passion for art and the joy 
they experience in guiding. The 157 active Volunteer Guides (and 58 
associate Volunteer Guides) are committed to the Museum’s educa-
tional mission.

Our focus on this mission has led the Association to explore the expan-
sion of current roles in order to better meet the needs of the Museum 
and its visitors. For example, Guides have recently begun acting as 
resource people in the galleries for specific exhibitions and partici-
pating in the training of new Guides. The Association has also been 
instrumental in developing new activities for school groups in which 
Volunteer Guides and educators work together. Within the context of 
the evolving profile of the Museum’s visitors, the Association is col-
laborating with Education and Community Programmes on the IREGE 
Project (Initiative Renewal: Education for the Guides and Educators). 
The objectives include defining and optimizing the Museum’s educa-
tional mission and activities, as well as building cohesion within the 
educational team through reflection and discussions. 

Amplifiers have proven to be an important tool for the Guides; 
however, the present system is outdated. The Association’s Board is 
actively engaged in fund-raising in co-operation with Education and 
Community Programmes and the Museum’s Volunteer Association in 
order to replace this system.

On the international level, the Association will host the National 
Docent Symposium in October 2017, which also marks the 150th 
anniversary of Canadian Confederation and the 375th anniversary 
of the founding of Montreal. This symposium will provide us with a 
unique opportunity to showcase our city and the Museum.

However, the Association’s main role remains to represent the inter-
ests of its members, while working in collaboration with Education 
and Community Programmes to provide and arrange tours for 
Museum visitors. In addition to its regular activities, the Association’s 
Board has also accepted the task of recruiting Guides to conduct 
tours of the collection and the responsibility of distributing tours 
among the Guides in an equitable fashion.

From the beginning of April 2012 to the end of March 2013, 
Association members gave guided tours to a total of 44,831 Museum 
visitors. The Museum’s collection drew 14,690 visitors (4,725 people 
tooked tours for the general public; 4,634 in groups who reserved a 
tour; and 5,331 in school groups). Four temporary exhibitions saw 
30,141 visitors guided (14,206 people took tours offered to the 
general public; and 15,935 came with a group [3,729 for Lyonel 
Feininger; 3,238 for Tom Wesselmann; 14,068 for Once upon a 
Time… Impressionism; and 9,106 for Peru]).

As President, I owe a debt to the Museum’s Board of Trustees, to 
Education and Community Programmes, to the co-ordinators of the 
volunteer units, to the members of our various committees and to the 
Council of Presidents, which brings together the Association’s past pres-
idents. In addition, I would like to offer my thanks for the support I 
have received from so many of you and from the Association’s Board. 
But mostly, I would like to express my gratitude to the members of the 
Association who, as Guides, met and guided visitors to our Museum.  ■

Mary McQueen Reidy

2012-2013 President 
Association of Volunteer Guides

ASSOCIATION OF 
VOLUNTEER GUIDES’ 
report

▲
David Elliott (born in 1953)

Fat Chance, 2004
Oil on canvas, 234 x 422 cm

Gift of the artist
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
OF THE MONTREAL  
MUSEUM OF FINE ARTS
MARCH 31, 2013, AND MARCH 31, 2012

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Members of The Montreal Museum of Fine Arts

We have audited the financial statements of The Montreal Museum of Fine Arts (the “Museum”), which comprise the statements of 
financial position as at March 31, 2013, March 31, 2012, and April 1, 2011, and the statements of operations and changes in net 
assets and cash flows for the years ended March 31, 2013, and March 31, 2012, and a summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory information.

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Canadian 
accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance 
with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant 
to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Museum as at March 31, 
2013, March 31, 2012, and April 1, 2011, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years ended March 31, 2013, 
and March 31, 2012, in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.

July 29, 2013

1	 CPA	auditor,	CA,	public	
accountancy	permit	No.	A120628

1
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT MARCH 31, 2013, MARCH 31, 2012, AND APRIL 1, 2011

Brian M. Levitt
Chairman of the Board
Trustee

Michal Hornstein
Vice-president
Trustee

Approved by the Board

General	
Fund

Capital	Assets	
Fund

Acquisition	
Fund

Employee	
Benefit	Fund

Total	

March 31, 2013 March	31,	2012 April	1,	2011

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

Assets

Current assets

Cash	and	term	deposits 4,931,879 11,356 — — 4,943,235 1,753,881 1,112,983

Accounts	receivable 788,369 — — — 788,369 2,102,838 1,514,826

Interfund	balances 1,862,997 (3,924,899) 2,286,902 (225,000) — — —

Amounts	receivable	from	the	Foundation,		
non-interest	bearing	and	without	specific	terms	of	repayment

2,237,737 — — — 2,237,737 1,851,118 3,357,971

Grants	receivable 1,229,657 4,362,726 — — 5,592,383 8,339,368 15,972,722

Inventories	of	the	Boutique	and	Bookstore 820,051 — — — 820,051 742,127 787,340

Prepaid	expenses 1,791,999 — — — 1,791,999 1,249,518 1,617,713

13,662,689 449,183 2,286,902 (225,000) 16,173,774 16,038,850 24,363,555

Grants	receivable 4,760,487 19,793,398 — — 24,553,885 25,769,503 8,323,204

Investments	(Note	13) 3,060,586 — 11,234,703 — 14,295,289 13,803,540 14,541,705

Accumulated	interest — 1,600,000 — — 1,600,000 2,000,000 2,400,000

Capital	assets	(Note	5) — 106,341,690 — — 106,341,690 109,830,583 71,897,153

Constructions	in	progress — 118,417 — — 118,417 — 38,229,803

Accrued	benefit	asset	(Note	9) — — — 1,012,300 1,012,300 888,300 761,000

21,483,762 128,302,688 13,521,605 787,300 164,095,355 168,330,776 160,516,420

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Bank	overdraft — — — — — 3,127 1,641,911

Bank	loans	(Note	6) 4,856,880 — — — 4,856,880 7,159,880 25,328,097

Accrued	interest 25,777 355,627 — — 381,404 292,797 366,396

Accounts	payable	and	accrued	liabilities 2,001,940 59,991 60,000 — 2,121,931 2,446,459 5,332,948

Deferred	revenue 2,202,437 — — — 2,202,437 1,984,367 1,467,815

Deferred	contributions 2,697,326 — — — 2,697,326 2,551,672 2,303,914

Advance	from	the	Foundation	(Note	12) 2,839,771 — — — 2,839,771 2,840,201 2,840,201

Current	portion	of	long-term	debt	(Note	7) 833,809 6,396,522 — — 7,230,331 5,949,137 3,361,248

15,457,940 6,812,140 60,000 — 22,330,080 23,227,640 42,642,530

Long-term	debt	(Note	7) 4,760,632 24,330,352 — — 29,090,984 31,855,373 16,363,480

Deferred	contributions	(Note	8) — 71,762,479 — — 71,762,479 73,928,376 64,646,275

Accrued	benefit	obligations	(Note	9) — — — 1,042,100 1,042,100 1,097,700 1,149,200

20,218,572 102,904,971 60,000 1,042,100 124,225,643 130,109,089 124,801,485

Commitments	(Note	11)

Net assets

Invested	in	capital	assets — 25,397,717 — — 25,397,717 25,397,717 22,299,517

Restricted	(Note	10) 3,083,898 — 13,461,605 — 16,545,503 14,545,332 15,214,769

Unrestricted (1,818,708) — — (254,800) (2,073,508) (1,721,362) (1,799,351)

1,265,190 25,397,717 13,461,605 (254,800) 39,869,712 38,221,687 35,714,935

21,483,762 128,302,688 13,521,605 787,300 164,095,355 168,330,776 160,516,420



4

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
YEARS ENDED MARCH 31, 2013, AND MARCH 31, 2012

General	Fund Capital	Assets	
Fund

Acquisitions		
Fund

Employee	Benefit	
Fund

Total	

Operations Restrictions 2013 2012

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

Revenue

General

Admissions	and	special	events 3,098,119 — — — — 3,098,119 3,567,398

Boutique	and	Bookstore 2,275,152 — — — — 2,275,152 2,596,481

Donations	of	works	of	art — — — 18,436,252 — 18,436,252 5,321,557

Donations	and	sponsorships	(Note	12) 2,079,698 — — 1,203,017 — 3,282,715 2,318,844

Donations	from	the	Foundation	(Note	12) 2,382,175 — — 308,594 — 2,690,769 2,547,990

Exhibition	catalogues 673,187 — — — — 673,187 677,792

Annual	memberships 1,953,363 — — — — 1,953,363 1,579,888

Investments	(Note	10) 10,303 261,244 — 970,443 — 1,241,990 4,115

Rental	income 571,509 — — — — 571,509 559,683

Miscellaneous	(Note	12) 1,458,362 — — — — 1,458,362 1,347,441

14,501,868 261,244 — 20,918,306 — 35,681,418 20,521,189

Operating	grants	and	grants	for	specific	projects	and	
acquisitions	(Note	4)

15,518,175 — — 21,200 — 15,539,375 18,015,105

Grants	–	expansion	projects	(Note	4) 97,588 — 1,005,645 — — 1,103,233 765,959

Amortization	of	deferred	contributions	related	to	
capital	assets	(Note	8)

— — 3,555,111 — — 3,555,111 2,147,373

30,117,631 261,244 4,560,756 20,939,506 — 55,879,137 41,449,626

Expenses

Temporary	exhibitions 5,121,024 — — — — 5,121,024 4,912,529

Permanent	collection 2,288,859 — — — — 2,288,859 4,274,726

Security	and	maintenance 5,302,642 — — — — 5,302,642 4,716,811

Administrative	expenses	(including	interest	expense	of	
$52,432;	$39,521	in	2012)

6,662,360 — — — 617,900 7,280,260 7,411,557

Boutique	and	Bookstore 2,147,000 — — — — 2,147,000 2,477,227

Curatorial	services 4,355,740 — — 202,784 — 4,558,524 4,757,701

Communication	services 3,083,398 — — — — 3,083,398 2,976,879

Rental	expenses 501,062 — — — — 501,062 512,581

Amortization	of	capital	assets — — 3,994,627 — — 3,994,627 2,566,344

Amortization	of	works	of	art — — — 18,436,252 — 18,436,252 5,321,557

Acquisitions	of	works	of	art — — — 392,877 — 392,877 1,009,645

Management	fees — 16,451 — 60,454 — 76,905 90,179

Interest	–	projects 97,588 — 1,005,645 — — 1,103,233 1,078,338

29,559,673 16,451 5,000,272 19,092,367 617,900 54,286,663 42,106,074

Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses 
before interfund transfers

557,958 244,793 (439,516) 1,847,139 (617,900) 1,592,474 (656,448)

Interfund transfers:

Contribution	from	Restricted	Funds	to	Operations 147,312 (147,312) — — — — —

Contributions	from	General	Fund	to	Capital	Assets	Fund (439,516) — 439,516 — — — —

Contributions	from	General	Fund	to	Employee	Benefit	Fund (823,200) — — — 823,200 — —

Excess (deficiency) of revenue over 
expenses after interfund transfers

(557,446) 97,481 — 1,847,139 205,300 1,592,474 (656,448)

Endowment contributions — 25,551 — 30,000 — 55,551 65,000

Contributions related to non-amortizable capital assets — — — — — — 3,098,200

Net assets, beginning of year (1,261,262) 2,960,866 25,397,717 11,584,466 (460,100) 38,221,687 35,714,935

Net assets, end of year (1,818,708) 3,083,898 25,397,717 13,461,605 (254,800) 39,869,712 38,221,687
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STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS (CONT’D)

YEARS ENDED MARCH 31, 2013 AND MARCH 31, 2012

General	Fund Capital	Assets		
Fund

Acquisitions		
Fund

Employee	Benefit	
Fund

Total	

Operations Restrictions 2012

$ $ $ $ $ $

Revenue

General

Admissions	and	special	events 3,567,398 — — — — 3,567,398

Boutique	and	Bookstore 2,596,481 — — — — 2,596,481

Donations	of	works	of	art — — — 5,321,557 — 5,321,557

Donations	and	sponsorships	(Note	12) 2,269,344 — — 49,500 — 2,318,844

Donations	from	the	Foundation	(Note	12) 1,647,783 — 312,379 587,828 2,547,990

Exhibition	catalogues 677,792 — — — — 677,792

Annual	memberships 1,579,888 — — — — 1,579,888

Investments	(Note	10) 10,778 (3,493) — (3,170) — 4,115

Rental	income 559,683 — — — 559,683

Miscellaneous		(Note	12) 1,347,441 — — — — 1,347,441

14,256,588 (3,493) 312,379 5,955,715 — 20,521,189

Operating	grants	and	grants	for	specific	projects	and	
acquisitions	(Note	4)

17,988,905 — — 26,200 — 18,015,105

Grants	–	expansion	projects	(Note	4) 94,185 — 671,774 — — 765,959

Amortization	of	deferred	contributions	related	to	
capital	assets	(Note	8)

— — 2,147,373 — — 2,147,373

32,339,678 (3,493) 3,131,526 5,981,915 — 41,449,626

Expenses

Temporary	exhibitions 4,912,529 — — — — 4,912,529

Permanent	collection 4,274,726 — — — — 4,274,726

Security	and	maintenance 4,716,811 — — — — 4,716,811

Administrative	expenses	(including	interest	expense	
of	$39,521)

6,905,957 — — — 505,600 7,411,557

Boutique	and	Bookstore 2,477,227 — — — — 2,477,227

Curatorial	services 4,613,211 — — 144,490 — 4,757,701

Communication	services 2,976,879 — — — — 2,976,879

Rental	expenses 512,581 — — — — 512,581

Amortization	of	capital	assets — — 2,566,344 — — 2,566,344

Amortization	of	works	of	art — — — 5,321,557 — 5,321,557

Acquisitions	of	works	of	art — — — 1,009,645 — 1,009,645

Management	fees — 19,323 — 70,856 — 90,179

Interest	–	projects 94,185 — 984,153 — — 1,078,338

31,484,106 19,323 3,550,497 6,546,548 505,600 42,106,074

(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses 
before interfund transfers

855,572 (22,816) (418,971) (564,633) (505,600) (656,448)

Interfund transfers — — — — — —

Contribution	from	Restricted	Funds	to	Operations 146,988 (146,988) — — — —

Contributions	from	General	Fund	to	Capital	Assets	Fund (418,971) — 418,971 — — —

Contributions	from	General	Fund	to	Employee	Benefit	Fund (684,500) — — — 684,500 —

(Deficiency) excess of revenue over 
expenses after interfund transfers

(100,911) (169,804) — (564,633) 178,900 (656,448)

Endowment contributions — 5,000 — 60,000 — 65,000

Contributions related to non-amortizable capital assets — — 3,098,200 — — 3,098,200

Net assets, beginning of year (1,160,351) 3,125,670 22,299,517 12,089,099 (639,000) 35,714,935

Net assets, end of year (1,261,262) 2,960,866 25,397,717 11,584,466 (460,100) 38,221,687
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
YEARS ENDED MARCH 31, 2013 AND MARCH 31, 2012

2013 2012

$ $

Operating activities

Excess	(deficiency)	of	revenue	over	expenses 1,592,474 (656,448)

Adjustments	for:

Change	in	realized	fair	value	of	investments (206,286) 366,282

Change	in	unrealized	fair	value	of	investments (645,785) 932,182

Amortization	of	capital	assets 3,994,627 2,566,344

Amortization	of	deferred	contribution	related	to	capital	assets (3,555,111) (2,147,373)

1,179,919 1,060,987

Net	change	in	non-cash	operating	working	capital	items 655,218 (642,329)

1,835,137 418,658

Investing activities

Change	in	grants	receivable 3,962,603 (9,812,945)

Net	change	in	investments 360,322 (560,299)

Capital	assets	and	construction	in	progress	acquisition (624,151) (2,269,971)

3,698,774 (12,643,215)

Financing activities

Change	in	bank	loans (2,303,000) (18,168,217)

Increase	of	long-term	debt 3,325,597 20,723,917

Repayments	of	long-term	debt (4,808,792) (2,644,135)

Increase	in	deferred	contributions	related	to	capital	assets 1,389,214 11,429,474

Contributions	received	for	the	acquisition	of	non-amortizable	capital	assets — 3,098,200

Endowment 55,551 65,000

(2,341,430) 14,504,239

Net	increase	in	cash	and	cash	equivalents 3,192,481 2,279,682

Cash	and	cash	equivalents,	beginning	of	year 1,750,754 (528,928)

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 4,943,235 1,750,754

Comprise:

Cash	and	term	deposits 4,943,235 1,753,881

Bank	overdraft — (3,127)

4,943,235 1,750,754

Operations not affecting cash

During	the	previous	year,	construction	in	progress	of	$38,943,645	was	transferred	to	the	capital	assets	following	its	commissioning.
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1. STATUS AND NATURE OF ACTIVITIES

The Montreal Museum of Fine Arts (the “Museum”), a not-for-profit organization, 
encourages the plastic arts and an appreciation thereof and acquires, conserves, 
collects, promotes, and exhibits works of art on behalf of the citizens of Montreal, 
the province of Quebec, Canada and elsewhere. The Museum is incorporated as a 
private corporation under the Loi sur le Musée des beaux-arts de Montréal and 
is a registered charity within the meaning of the Income Tax Act.

2. ADOPTION OF A NEW ACCOUNTING FRAMEWORK

During the year ended March 31, 2013, the Museum adopted the new Canadian 
accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations (the “new standards”) issued 
by the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”) and set out in Part 
III of the CICA Handbook. In accordance with Section 1501 of Part III of the CICA 
Handbook, First-time Adoption, (“Section 1501”), the date of transition to the 
new standards is April 1, 2011, and the Museum has prepared and presented 
an opening statement of financial position at the date of transition to the new 
standards. This statement of financial position is the starting point for the Museum 
accounting under the new standards. In its statement of financial position, under 
the recommendations of Section 1501, the Museum:

a) recognized all assets and liabilities whose recognition is required by the new 
standards;

b) did not recognize items as assets or liabilities if the new standards do not 
permit such recognition;

c) reclassified items that it recognized previously as one type of asset, liability 
or component of net assets, but are recognized as a different type of asset, 
liability or component of net assets under the new standards; and

d) applied the new standards in measuring all recognized assets and liabilities.

The Museum has elected to use the exemption for financial instruments that al-
lows the Museum to account for the fair value of investments at the date of 
transition. 

In accordance with the requirements of Section 1501, the accounting policies set 
out in Note 3 have been consistently applied to all years presented in the financial 
statements. The adjustments resulting from the adoption of these new standards 
were applied retrospectively.

The impact of the adoption of the new standards is as follows:

INVESTMENTS 

Under the new standards, investments in the statement of financial position ac-
counted for at fair value can no longer be classified as available for sale, and the 
change in fair value must be recognized in the statement of operations. Under 
the Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”), the Museum in-
cluded the change in unrealized fair value on available-for-sale investments in the 
statement of changes in net assets. The excess of revenue over expenses under 
Canadian GAAP for the year ended March 31, 2012, has decreased by $932,182, 
representing the change in the unrealized fair value of investments of the year 
ended March 31, 2012. This adjustment had no impact on the net assets as at 
April 1, 2011, and March 31, 2012, with the exception that this amount was pre-
viously presented in a separate section of the statement of changes in net assets, 
which is no longer presented.

EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS

Under the new standards, the transitional asset balances of the future benefit 
plans must be written down at the date of transition. Therefore, the Museum has 
a write-down of the transitional asset of the post-employment benefit plan. The 
impacts of this write-down are as follows:

Initially	
recognized	

balance
Adjustment Adjusted	balance

$ $ $

Statement of financial position

Accrued	benefit	obligations

	 Balance	as	at	April	1,	2011 535,600 613,600 1,149,200

	 Balance	as	at	March	31,	2012 637,600 460,100 1,097,700

Unrestricted	net	assets

	 Balance	as	at	April	1,	2011 (1,185,751) (613,600) (1,799,351)

	 Balance	as	at	March	31,	2012 (1,261,262) (460,100) (1,721,362)

Statement of operations

Administration	charge	

Year	2012 7,565,057 (153,500) 7,411,557

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian ac-
counting standards for not-for-profit organizations and reflect the following sig-
nificant accounting policies:

FUND ACCOUNTING

The Museum uses the deferral method to account for contributions and follows 
the fund accounting method for the presentation of financial information, where-
by resources are classified into funds in accordance with specified activities or 
objectives.

I GENERAL FUND

The General Fund reports the assets, liabilities, revenue and operating expenses 
related to the Museum’s day-to-day operating activities. Endowments, the in-
come from which is to be used to increase the original endowment and for day-
to-day operations, are presented as restricted net assets of the General Fund.

II CAPITAL ASSETS FUND

The Capital Assets Fund reports the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses 
related to capital assets and the restricted contributions specifically related 
thereto.

Deferred contributions of the Capital Assets Fund combine grants and the 
donations specifically restricted for the financing of the capital assets.

III ACQUISITIONS FUND

The Acquisitions Fund reports the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses relat-
ed to acquisitions of works of art and endowments, the income from which is 
to be used to increase the original endowment and to purchase works of art.

IV EMPLOYEE BENEFIT FUND

The Employee Benefit Fund presents the accrued benefit asset and the accrued 
benefit obligations as well as costs related to employee future benefit plans.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MARCH 31, 2013, AND MARCH 31, 2012
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REVENUE RECOGNITION

Restricted contributions are recognized as revenue of the appropriate fund in the 
year the related expenses are incurred. Unrestricted contributions are recognized 
as revenue of the appropriate fund when received or receivable, if the amount can 
be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured.

Endowment contributions are recognized as direct increases in net assets.

Restricted investment income is recognized as revenue of the appropriate fund. 
Unrestricted investment income is recognized as revenue of the General Fund.

Revenue from the sale of goods or services is recognized when the property was 
transferred to the person acquiring or when service rendered.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value when 
the Museum becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial in-
strument. Subsequently, all financial instruments are measured at amortized cost 
except for investments, which are measured at fair value at the statement of fi-
nancial position date. The fair value of investments is based on closing bid prices. 
Fair value fluctuations including interest earned, interest accrued, gains and losses 
realized on disposal and unrealized gains and losses are included in investment 
income.

Transaction costs related to financial instruments measured at fair value are ex-
pensed as incurred. Transaction costs related to the other financial instruments 
are added to the carrying value of the asset or netted against the carrying value 
of the liability and are then recognized over the expected life of the instrument 
using the straight-line method. Any premium or discount related to an instrument 
measured at amortized cost is amortized over the expected life of the item using 
the straight-line method and recognized in the statement of operation as interest 
income or expense.

With respect to financial assets measured at cost or amortized cost, the Museum 
recognizes in the statement of operations an impairment loss, if any, when it de-
termines that a significant adverse change has occurred during the period in the 
expected timing or amount of future cash flows. When the extent of impairment 
of a previously written-down asset decreases and the decrease can be related to 
an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recog-
nized impairment loss shall be reversed in statement of operations in the period 
the reversal occurs.

INTERFUND BALANCES

Interfund balances comprise non-interest-bearing interfund advances, without 
specific terms of repayment.

BOUTIQUE AND BOOKSTORE INVENTORIES

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value, cost is deter-
mined using the first-in first-out method.

ACCUMULATED INTEREST

The interest accumulated during the realization of the expansion project of the 
Jean-Noël Desmarais Pavilion was accumulated separately from the cost of con-
struction and is being recovered through an annual grant from the Ministère de la 
Culture et des Communications.

CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital assets are recorded at cost and are amortized based on their estimated 
useful life using the straight-line method over the following periods:

Buildings 40	years

Furniture and equipment 5	years

CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS

Construction in progress is recorded at cost. All costs incurred during the construc-
tion, both direct and indirect, are capitalized.

EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS

The Museum uses the deferral method to account employee future benefits. The 
cost of the Museum’s defined benefit pension plan and post-employment benefit 
plan are determined periodically by independent actuaries. The actuarial valuation 
is based on the projected benefit method prorated on service, which incorporates 
management’s best estimate of future salary levels, other cost escalation, retire-
ment ages of employees and other actuarial factors. For the purpose of calculating 
the expected rate of return on plan assets, those assets are valued at fair value. 
The post-employment benefit plan is not capitalized.

Actuarial gains or losses arise from the difference between the actual long-term 
rate of return on pension plan assets for the year and the expected long-term rate 
of return on pension plan assets for that year, or from changes in actuarial as-
sumptions used to determine the accrued benefit obligation. The excess of the net 
accumulated actuarial gain (loss) over 10% of the greater of the benefit obligation 
or over 10% of the fair value of the pension plan assets, if this amount is higher 
than the preceding amount, is amortized over the average remaining service per-
iod of active employees, being 11 years (2012 – 11 years).

Past service costs arising from plan amendments are deferred and amortized on a 
straight-line basis over the average remaining service period of employees active 
at the date of the amendments.

DEFERRED CONTRIBUTIONS

Contributions restricted to future period expenses are deferred and recognized as 
revenue in the year in which the related expenses are incurred.

Deferred contributions reported in the Capital Assets Fund include the unamor-
tized portion of contributions received specifically to defray the cost of the related 
capital assets and are amortized on the same basis.

WORKS OF ART

The Museum’s permanent collection comprises paintings, sculptures, drawings 
and prints, and decorative arts. The permanent collection is not reflected in the 
financial statements. Donated works of art are accounted for at fair value based 
on external appraisal reports. They are fully amortized in the year of acquisition.
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FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

Foreign currency transactions are translated into Canadian dollars. Monetary 
assets and liabilities of the statement of financial position are translated at the 
exchange rates in effect at the end of the year. Non-monetary assets and liabil-
ities are translated at historical rates. Revenue and expenses are translated at the 
average rate of exchange prevailing during the year. Gains and losses on these 
translations are recorded in the statement of operations.

USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian accounting 
standards for not-for-profit organizations requires management to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and dis-
closures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements 
and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. 
Among the major components of financial statements requires management to 
make estimates are the accrued benefit asset, the accrued benefit obligations, the 
allowance for doubtful accounts, the amortization of capital assets and deferred 
revenue related to capital assets and the accrued liabilities. Actual results could 
differ from these estimates.

4 .  GOVERNMENT GRANTS
2013 2012

$ $

Operating grants

Ministère	de	la	Culture	et	des	Communications 14,635,260 15,186,200

Conseil	des	arts	de	Montréal 370,000 370,000

15,005,260 15,556,200

Grants for specific projects and acquisitions

Ministère	de	la	Culture	et	des	Communications

Re-installation	of	Quebec	and	Canadian	Art,	Early	and	Modern 100,665 2,234,521

Repair	and	maintenance	of	capital	assets — (44,816)

Department	of	Canadian	Heritage 200,000 —

Canada	Council	for	the	Arts 166,200 171,200

Terra	Foundation	for	American	Art 57,250 98,000

City	of	Montreal	–	Partenariat	Culture	et	Communauté 10,000 —

534,115 2,458,905

15,539,375 18,015,105

Grants for expansion projects

Government	of	Quebec

Ministère	de	la	Culture	et	des	Communications 1,103,233 765,959

5.  CAPITAL ASSETS 

March 31, 2013 March	31,	2012 April	1,	2011

Cost
Accumulated	
amortization

Net		
book	value

Cost
Accumulated	
amortization

Net		
book	value

Cost
Accumulated	
amortization

Net		
book	value

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Land 25,397,717 — 25,397,717 25,397,717 — 25,397,717 22,299,517 — 22,299,517

Buildings 133,590,641 52,960,308 80,630,333 133,190,649 49,142,940 84,047,709 95,821,304 46,747,411 49,073,893

Furniture and equipment 2,819,711 2,506,071 313,640 2,713,969 2,328,812 385,157 2,681,740 2,157,997 523,743

161,808,069 55,466,379 106,341,690 161,302,335 51,471,752 109,830,583 120,802,561 48,905,408 71,897,153
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6.  BANK LOANS

For its current transactions, the Museum could enter into a bank loan based on its 
needs, up to a maximum of $5,000,000, of which $3,450,000 was not used at 
year-end ($3,500,000 as at March 31, 2012, and $2,206,000 as at April 1, 2011). 
This loan is repayable on demand, bears interest at prime rate of 3% as at March 
31, 2013 (3% as at March 31, 2012, and April 1, 2011) and is renewable on an 
annual basis.

Several projects subsidized by the Ministère de la Culture et des Communications 
are currently under way and are all subject to short-term financing at prime rate 
(effective rate of 3% as at March 31, 2013, March 31, 2012, and April 1, 2011) 
from a financial institution:

 ፛ Two projects involving the reinstallation of the collections totalling $1,000,000 
(four projects involving the reinstallation of the collection totalling $2,000,000 
as at March 31, 2012, and as at April 1, 2011), with an unused balance of nil at 
year-end ($400,000 as at March 31, 2012, and $1,533,998 as at April 1, 2011);

 ፛ One project involving the maintenance of assets granted in 2008-2009 in the 
amount of $1,225,400, of which the unused balance at year-end was nil (nil 
as at March 31, 2012, and $7,287 as at April 1, 2011);

 ፛ Another project involving the maintenance of assets obtained in 2009-2010 
in the amount of $1,081,440, with an unused balance of nil at year-end (nil 
as at March 31, 2012, and $303,689 as at April 1, 2011).

For the new Pavilion of International Art, the Museum has a line of credit of 
$18,500,000 (nil as at March 31, 2012, and as at April 1, 2011) from a banking 
institution, at a prime rate (effective rate of 3%), of which $18,500,000 was not 
used at year-end.

For the financing of the new Pavilion of Quebec and Canadian Art, whose con-
struction was completed during fiscal 2012, the Museum had a line of credit of 
$13,000,000 as at March 31, 2012, and two lines of credit of $13,000,000 as 
at April 1, 2011, at a rate of 1.27396%, of which $11,247,000 and $5,927,769 
respectively were not used as at March 31, 2012, and as at April 1, 2011. These 
lines of credit reached maturity during fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012 and the balance 
is nil as at March 31, 2013.

7.  LONG-TERM DEBT
March 31, 2013 March	31,	2012 April	1,	2011

$ $ $

Debts funded by the Government of Quebec

Loans	from	the	Ministère	des	Finances	and	Financement-Québec

Bearing	interest	at	6.334%,	maturing	October	2016	a) i) 6,880,000 8,600,000 10,320,000

Bearing	interest	at	6.076%,	reimbursed	during	the	year — 117,825 235,650

Bearing	interest	at	5.085%,	maturing	October	2013	b) i) 173,211 346,425 519,637

Bearing	interest	at	4.501%,	maturing	July	2020	c) i) 430,108 483,871 537,634

Bearing	interest	at	4.700%,	maturing	December	2021	d) i) 483,871 537,634 591,398

Bearing	interest	at	4.864%,	maturing	December	2017	e) i) 402,820 483,384 563,948

Bearing	interest	at	2.486%,	maturing	December	2018	f) i) 11,973,121 13,303,467 —

Bearing	interest	at	2.486%,	maturing	December	2018	f) i) 5,772,060 6,413,400 —

Bearing	interest	at	2.238%,	maturing	December	2017	f) i) 418,760 503,525 —

Bearing	interest	at	2.238%,	maturing	December	2017	f) i) 418,760 503,525 —

Bearing	interest	at	1.868%,	maturing	November	2017	g) i) 1,004,520 — —

Bearing	interest	at	2,873%,	maturing	July	2022	g) i) 2,323,102 — —

Bank	loans

Bearing	interest	at	3.770%	(3.770%	as	at	March	31,	2012,	and	5.280%	as	at	April	1,	2011),	maturing	December	2016	i) 602,105 739,093 865,174

Bearing	interest	at	5.410%,	maturing	August	2015	i) 112,500 157,500 202,500

30,994,938 32,189,649 13,835,941

Debts not funded

Bank	loans

Bearing	interest	from	4.800%	to	5.420%,	maturing	at	various	dates	through	March	2023 3,186,906 3,426,297 3,643,754

Bearing	interest	at	4.900%,	maturing	on	October	14,	2013	h) 978,855 1,005,763 1,031,387

Bearing	interest	at	4.900%,	maturing	on	October	14,	2013	h) 1,160,616 1,182,801 1,213,646

5,326,377 5,614,861 5,888,787

36,321,315 37,804,510 19,724,728

Current portion 7,230,331 5,949,137 3,361,248

29,090,984 31,855,373 16,363,480
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Principal payments required in subsequent years and the related grants are as follows:

Debt repayment Grants

$ $

2014 7,230,331 4,840,910

2015 4,934,039 4,673,109

2016 5,609,372 4,656,226

2017 4,865,594 4,639,557

2018 2,976,918 2,760,496

2019 and thereafter 10,705,061 9,424,640

36,321,315 30,994,938

a) This debt is in relation to the Jean-Noël Desmarais Pavilion. On June 19, 
1991, the Museum contracted a loan for $43,000,000 from the Ministère 
des Finances du Québec as administrator of the Fonds de financement, and 
this loan was used to reimburse the bankers’ acceptances and accumulated 
interest under the special borrowing by-law enacted on August 23, 1989.

b) On October 15, 2003, the Museum contracted a $1,732,125 loan from 
Financement-Québec as administrator of the Fonds de financement, and this 
loan was used to fund a capital payment of the debt described in a).

c) On October 7, 2005, the Museum contracted a $806,451 loan from 
Financement-Québec as administrator of the Fonds de financement, and this 
loan was used to fund the costs of the repairs and maintenance of capital 
assets, Phase I.

d) On February 22, 2007, the Museum contracted a $806,452 loan from 
Financement-Québec as administrator of the Fonds de financement, and this 
loan was used to fund the costs of the repairs and maintenance of capital 
assets, Phase II.

e) On October 31, 2007, the Museum contracted a $805,639 loan from 
Financement-Québec as administrator of the Fonds de financement, and this 
loan was used to fund the costs of the repairs and maintenance of capital 
assets, Phase III. 

f) On March 30, 2012, the Museum contracted four loans from Financement-
Québec totalling $20,723,917 as administrator of the Fonds de financement, 
and these loans were used to fund the cost of the construction of the Claire 
and Marc Bourgie Pavilion and to reinstall the Museum’s permanent collection.

g) On March 27, 2013, the Museum contracted two loans of $3,325,597 from 
Financement-Québec as administrator of the Fonds de financement. These 
loans were used to fund the costs of the repairs and maintenance of capital 
assets as well as to reinstall the Museum’s permanent collection.

h) On October 14, 2008, the Museum contracted two loans from a financial 
institution for the acquisition of two income properties located respectively at 
2075 and 2085 Bishop Street.

i) In consideration of the loan, the Ministère de la Culture et des Communications 
has pledged a grant enabling the Museum to repay principal and interest ac-
cording to schedule. The capital grant was recorded as a grant receivable.

8. DEFERRED CONTRIBUTIONS

The changes in the balance of deferred contributions related to capital assets for 
the year are as follows:

2013 2012

$ $

Balance, beginning of year 73,928,376 64,646,275

Contributions received during the year 1,389,214 14,527,674

Contributions used to purchase 
non-amortizable assets

— (3,098,200)

Amortization for the year (3,555,111) (2,147,373)

Balance, end of year 71,762,479 73,928,376
 

9. EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS

PENSION PLAN

The Museum has a defined benefit pension plan offered to non-unionized em-
ployees of the Museum. The benefits of this plan are based on years of service 
and final earnings. Management has decided that there would not be any new 
beneficiaries of this plan as of June 1, 2008. As of that date, new, non-union-
ized employees of the Museum benefit from a new defined contribution plan, for 
which the costs and the amounts paid for the year are $27,662 ($38,816 in 2012).

The Museum measures its accrued benefit obligations and the fair value of plan 
assets for accounting purposes as at December 31 of each year. The most recent 
actuarial valuation for funding purposes was performed as at December 31, 2011, 
and the next required valuation will be performed as at December 31, 2012, and 
completed before September 30, 2013. 

Information about the plan is as follows:

March 31, 2013 March	31,	2012 April	1,	2011

$ $ $

Accrued benefit obligations (12,272,300) (10,257,200) (8,888,700)

Fair value of plan assets 9,805,100 8,793,700 8,400,800

Funded status - plan 
deficiency

(2,467,200) (1,463,500) (487,900)

Balance of unamortized 
amount

3,479,500 2,351,800 1,248,900

Accrued benefit asset 
recorded

1,012,300 888,300 761,000

Plan assets consist of:

March 31, 2013 March	31,	2012 April	1,	2011

% % %

Short-term investments 0.0 1.4 3.0

Canadian bonds 69.5 67.3 53.5

Canadian equities 15.3 10.8 16.5

U.S. and international 
equities

15.2 20.5 27.0

100.0 100.0 100.0
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Other information about the Museum’s defined benefit plans is as follows:

2013 2012

$ $

Benefit costs 574,600 453,600

Cash payments recognized 698,600 580,900

Benefits paid by the plan 249,900 226,185

POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT PLAN

The Museum has a post-employment benefit plan offered to all current retirees of 
the Museum. The benefits of this plan are based on years of service and final earn-
ings. Management has decided that there would not be any new beneficiaries of 
this plan as of January 1, 2010.

The Museum measures its accrued benefit obligations for accounting purposes as at 
December 31 of each year.

Information about the plan is as follows:

March 31, 2013 March	31,	2012 April	1,	2011

$ $ $

Accrued benefit obligations (1,121,800) (1,130,800) (1,091,000)

Balance of unamortized amount 79,700 33,100 (58,200)

Accrued benefit obligations recorded (1,042,100) (1,097,700) (1,149,200)

Other information about the Museum plan is as follows:

2013 2012

$ $

Benefit costs 43,300 52,000

Cash payment recognized 98,900 103,500

ASSUMPTIONS

The significant assumptions used by the Museum are as follows (weighted average):

2013 2012

Pension	
plan

Post-
employment	
benefit	plan

Pension	
plan

Post-
employment	
benefit	plan

% % % %

Accrued benefit obligations 
as of December 31:

Discount	rate 4.00 3.50 4.75 4.00

Rate	of	compensation	increase 3.50 — 3.50 —

Benefit costs for the year 
ended December 31:

Discount	rate 4.75 4.00 5.50 5.00

Expected	long-term	rate	of	return	on	
plan	assets

4.00 — 4.50 —

Rate	of	compensation	increase 3.50 — 3.50 —

10. RESTRICTIONS ON NET ASSETS OF THE GENERAL AND 
ACQUISITIONS FUNDS

 

March 31, 
2013

March	31,	
2012

April	1,		
2011

$ $ $

Amounts restricted to the General Fund, 
including endowments ($1,213,087; 
$1,187,536 as at March 31, 2012, and 
$1,182,536 as at April 1, 2011), the 
income of which is used to fund the 
Museum’s day-to-day operations

3,083,898 2,960,866 3,125,670

Amounts restricted to the Acquisitions Fund, 
including endowments ($8,020,370; 
$7,990,370 as at March 31, 2012, 
and $7,930,370 as at April 1, 2011), 
the income of which is used to fund 
the acquisitions of works of art

13,461,605 11,584,466 12,089,099

16,545,503 14,545,332 15,214,769

The endowments were invested. Total income from these endowment investments 
are as follows:

2013 2012

$ $

Income on resources held for endowment

Credited	to	the	General	Fund 271,547 7,285

Credited	to	the	Acquisitions	Fund 970,443 (3,170)

1,241,990 4,115

The investment income on resources held for endowment is as follows:

2013 2012

$ $

Interest and dividends 389,919 1,302,579

Change in realized fair value of investments 206,286 (366,282)

Change in unrealized fair value of investments 645,785 (932,182)

1,241,990 4,115
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11. COMMITMENTS

The Museum leases premises under an operating lease that expires on June 30, 
2013, of which future lease payments total $99,554..

12. RELATED ORGANIZATIONS AND TRANSACTIONS

THE MONTREAL MUSEUM OF FINE ARTS FOUNDATION 

The Montreal Museum of Fine Arts Foundation (the “Foundation”) is considered, 
for accounting purposes, to be a related organization, as certain members of the 
Museum’s Board of Trustees are ex-officio members of the Board of Trustees of 
the Foundation. The Foundation, incorporated on March 24, 1994, under Part III 
of the Companies Act (Québec), is a registered charity. The Foundation is mainly 
involved in soliciting and receiving donations, bequests and other contributions on 
behalf of the Museum and administering its funds. In addition, the Museum has 
entrusted the Foundation with the management of certain investments.

The Foundation organizes and manages a fund-raising campaign (the “Annual 
Campaign”), the proceeds of which are paid entirely to the Museum to finance 
its operations. The Museum’s financial statements show revenue of an amount 
of $519,971 ($665,294 in 2012) which is presented in “Donations and spon-
sorships.” The Museum recorded “Donation from Foundation” for amounts of 
$3,501 ($1,000 in 2012) for acquisitions of works of art and $7,000 (nil in 2012) 
for educational activities and “miscellaneous income” of $7,064 (nil in 2012). 
Finally, $37,725 (nil in 2012) was included in the account “Deferred contributions” 
for the construction of the Claire and Marc Bourgie Pavilion.

The Foundation also organizes and manages major fundraising campaigns. 
From these campaigns, the Museum recorded donations totalling $3,304,957 
(3,819,879 in 2012), of which a portion of $2,680,268 (2,546,990 in 2012) is pre-
sented in “Donations from the Foundation,” $150,000 (nil in 2012) is presented in 
“Donations and sponsorships,” an amount of nil ($126,984 in 2012) is presented 
in “Miscellaneous revenues” and $474,689 ($1,145,905 in 2012) is presented in 
“deferred contribution.” From all these donations, $304,063 ($585,795 in 2012) 
were for the acquisition of works of art, $719,111 ($334,752 in 2012) to support 
educational activities, $857,465 ($950,160 in 2012) for exhibitions, $723,289 
($1,029,607 in 2012) to support the Museum’s day-to-day operations and for 
specific projects and $701,029 ($919,565 in 2012) for the realization of the Claire 
and Marc Bourgie Pavilion.

Also, the Foundation has to repay the expenses of the Foundation that were as-
sumed by the Museum. An amount of $279,790 ($424,782 in 2012) is included 
in “Miscellaneous revenues” of which an amount of $197,094 ($232,189 in 2012) 
was used to repay the operating expenses of the Foundation that were assumed 
by the Museum, and an amount of $82,696 ($192,593 in 2012) was used to 
repay the expenses incurred for the 150th anniversary Campaign. 

VOLUNTEER ASSOCIATION OF  
THE MONTREAL MUSEUM OF FINE ARTS

The Volunteer Association of the Montreal Museum of Fine Arts (the “Association”) 
is a separate not-for-profit entity incorporated under Part III of the Companies Act 
(Quebec). The purpose of the Association is to organize public fundraising events 
for the benefit of the Museum.

The Association made a $1,000,000 donation ($1,000,000 in 2012) to the 
Museum. From this donation, an amount of $950,000 ($1,000,000 in 2012) is 
presented in “Donations and sponsorships” and an amount of $50,000 (nil in 
2012) is presented in “Deferred contributions.” As at March 31, 2013, an amount 
of $200,000 ($200,000 in 2012) is included in accounts receivable.

13. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Museum holds and issues financial instruments such as investments, grants 
receivable and debt instruments. The investments consist of:

March 31, 2013 March	31,	2012 April	1,	2011

$ $ $

Cash 110,126 235,127 145,112

Money Market 37,424 18,258 37,054

Canadian Bond Pooled Fund 3,961,132 3,978,454 4,191,365

Canadian Equity Securities 5,515,058 5,016,365 5,341,604

U.S. and International 
Equity Securities

2,601,358 2,508,211 2,464,063

International Equity Pooled Fund 2,070,191 2,047,125 2,362,507

14,295,289 13,803,540 14,541,705

MARKET RISK

Market risk is the risk investments in mutual funds are exposed to that is caused 
by changes in interest rates, stock exchange indicators and the level of volatility 
of these rates.

CREDIT RISK

The Museum has determined that credit risk is minimal given that the counterparties 
with which it conducts business are mainly government agencies.

INTEREST RATE RISK

In its investment portfolio, the Museum holds interests in bond mutual funds. The 
bonds in these mutual funds bear interest at fixed rates. Consequently, a change in 
market interest rates will affect the fair value of the bond mutual funds.

Interest rate risk related to long-term debt is judged to be low, as most of the debt 
(including interest payments) is subsidized by the Government of Quebec and the 
non-subsidized debt bears interest at a fixed rate.

CURRENCY RISK

In its investment portfolio, the Museum holds interests in U.S. and international 
securities and in mutual funds invested in U.S. and international securities. 
Consequently, a currency fluctuation will have an impact on the market value of 
these investments. Also, accounts payable and accrued liabilities on the statement 
of financial position include an amount of $36,694 ($16,859 as at March 31, 
2012, and $38,017 as at April 1, 2011) denominated in euros and an amount of 
$150,830 ($64,458 as at March 31, 2012, and nil as at April 1, 2011) denomin-
ated in U.S. dollars, and cash include an amount of $517,337 ($193,118 as at 
March 31, 2012, and nil as at April 1, 2011) denominated in U.S. dollars.

14. COLLECTION OF THE MUSEUM

In its mission to attract the widest possible range of visitors, the Museum has, over 
the last 152 years or so of its existence, assembled one of the most significant and 
eclectic collections in North America.

The collection includes mainly paintings, drawings and prints, photographs, sculptures, 
installations, jewellery, woodcraft, ceramics, furniture and precious metal artifacts.

The collection has a global reach and covers all historical eras, from Antiquity to 
the present day.

The value of the collection is not reflected in the financial statements. Acquisitions 
are accounted for as expenses in the Acquisitions Fund. Donated works of art 
are accounted for at fair value based on external appraisal reports. They are fully 
amortized in the year of acquisition (see Note 3).

Restoration costs during the year amounted to approximately $521,909 ($523,670 
in 2012).
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1	 CPA	auditor,	CA,	public	
accountancy	permit	No.	A120628

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
OF THE MONTREAL  
MUSEUM OF  
FINE ARTS  
FOUNDATION
MARCH 31, 2013, AND MARCH 31, 2012

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Trustees of The Montreal Museum of Fine Arts Foundation

We have audited the financial statements of The Montreal Museum of Fine Arts Foundation (the “Foundation”), which comprise the 
statements of financial position as at March 31, 2013, March 31, 2012, and April 1, 2011, and the statements of operations, changes 
in net assets and cash flows for the years ended March 31, 2013, and March 31, 2012, and a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information.

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Canadian 
accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance 
with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant 
to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

OPINION

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Foundation as at March 31, 
2013, March 31, 2012, and April 1, 2011, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years ended March 31, 2013, 
and March 31, 2012, in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations. 

July 31, 2013

1
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Restricted	Funds Total	

General	
Fund

Pavilion	of	
Quebec	and	

Canadian	
Art	Fund

Desmarais	
Exhibition	

Fund

Other	
Exhibitions	

Fund

Acquisition		
Fund

Educational	
Activities	

Fund
Total 2013

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Revenue

Contributions 1,902,411 1,548,527 — 5,874 291,634 926,715 2,772,750 4,675,161

Interest	and	dividends 3,968 210,980 59,307 246,370 78,258 20,354 615,269 619,237

Change	in	realized	fair	value	of	investments 19,020 115,484 32,463 134,856 42,836 11,141 336,780 355,800

Change	in	unrealized	fair	value	of	investments 60,599 387,131 108,823 452,069 143,597 37,348 1,128,968 1,189,567

1,985,998 2,262,122 200,593 839,169 556,325 995,558 4,853,767 6,839,765

Expenses

Donations	to	the	Museum 2,306,773 266,730 123,052 489,373 249,726 724,354 1,853,235 4,160,008

Investment	management	fees	and	safekeeping	charges — 43,823 12,319 51,173 16,255 4,228 127,798 127,798

Financial	expenses 4,947 — — — — — — 4,947

2,311,720 310,553 135,371 540,546 265,981 728,582 1,981,033 4,292,753

Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses (325,722) 1,951,569 65,222 298,623 290,344 266,976 2,872,734 2,547,012

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2013 

Restricted	Funds Total	

General	
Fund

Pavilion	of	
Quebec	and	
Canadian	Art	

Fund

Desmarais	
Exhibition	

Fund

Other	
Exhibitions	

Fund

Acquisition		
Fund

Educational	
Activities	

Fund
Total 2012

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Revenue

Contributions 2,324,499 1,735,592 — 5,885 387,329 704,080 2,832,886 5,157,385 

Investments 28,143 243,604 93,504 387,587 113,357 28,914 866,966 895,109 

Change	in	realized	fair	value	of	investments — 162,122 62,229 257,945 75,441 19,243 576,980 576,980 

Change	in	unrealized	fair	value	of	investments 107,047 (439,212) (168,585) (698,810) (204,381) (52,131) (1,563,119) (1,456,072)

2,459,689 1,702,106 (12,852) (47,393) 371,746 700,106 2,713,713 5,173,402 

Expenses

Donations	to	the	Museum 3,182,098 245,100 137,088 567,972 413,946 364,752 1,728,858 4,910,956 

Investment	management	fees	and	safekeeping	charges — 39,566 15,187 62,952 18,410 4,696 140,811 140,811 

Financial	expenses 5,794 — — — — — — 5,794 

3,187,892 284,666 152,275 630,924 432,356 369,448 1,869,669 5,057,561 

Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses (728,203) 1,417,440 (165,127) (678,317) (60,610) 330,658 844,044 115,841 

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2012
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Restricted	Funds

General	
Fund

Pavilion	of	
Quebec	and	

Canadian	
Art	Fund		

with	clause

Desmarais	
Exhibition	

Fund	
with	clause

Other	
Exhibitions	

Fund	
with	clause

Acquisition		
Fund

Educational	Activities		
Fund

Total Total

with	clause
without	
clause

with	clause
without	
clause

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Net assets as at April 1, 2011 598,826 5,062,695 2,912,140 12,065,522 2,671,874 652,344 688,500 — 24,053,075 24,651,901

Excess	(deficiency)	of	revenue	over	expenses (728,203) 1,417,440 (165,127) (678,317) (54,936) (5,674) 21,198 309,460 844,044 115,841

Net assets as at March 31, 2012* (129,377) 6,480,135 2,747,013 11,387,205 2,616,938 646,670 709,698 309,460 24,897,119 24,767,742

Excess	(deficiency)	of	revenue	over	expenses (325,722) 1,951,569 65,222 298,623 242,558 47,786 62,641 204,335 2,872,734 2,547,012 

Net assets as at March 31, 2013** (455,099) 8,431,704 2,812,235 11,685,828 2,859,496 694,456 772,339 513,795 27,769,853 27,314,754

*Consisting	of:

Restricted,	with	clause — 6,480,135 2,747,013 11,387,205 2,616,938 — 709,698 — 23,940,989 23,940,989

Restricted,	without	clause — — — — — 646,670 — 309,460 956,130 956,130

Unrestricted (129,377) — — — — — — — — (129,377)

(129,377) 6,480,135 2,747,013 11,387,205 2,616,938 646,670 709,698 309,460 24,897,119 24,767,742

**Consisting	of:

Restricted,	with	clause — 8,431,704 2,812,235 11,685,828 2,859,496 — 772,339 — 26,561,602 26,561,602

Restricted,	without	clause — — — — — 694,456 — 513,795 1,208,251 1,208,251

Unrestricted (455,099) — — — — — — — — (455,099)

(455,099) 8,431,704 2,812,235 11,685,828 2,859,496 694,456 772,339 513,795 27,769,853 27,314,754

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
YEARS ENDED MARCH 31, 2013, AND MARCH 31, 2012

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
YEARS ENDED MARCH 31, 2013, AND MARCH 31, 2012

2013 2012

$ $

Operating activities

Excess	of	revenue	over	expenses 2,547,012 115,841

Adjustments	for:

Change	in	realized	fair	value	of	investments (355,800) (576,980)

Change	in	unrealized	fair	value	of	investments (1,189,567) 1,456,072

1,001,645 994,933

Net	change	in	non-cash	operating	working	capital	items

Accounts	receivable	 150,000 (149,852)

Due	to	the	Museum 386,619 (1,506,853)

1,538,264 (661,772)

Financing activities

Net	variation	in	investments	 (979,754) (328,672)

Increase	(decrease)	in	cash 558,510 (990,444)

Cash,	beginning	of	year 634,686 1,625,130

Cash, end of year 1,193,196 634,686
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Restricted	Funds Total	

General	Fund

Pavilion	of	
Quebec	and	
Canadian	Art	

Fund

Desmarais	
Exhibition	

Fund

Other	
Exhibitions	

Fund

Acquisition		
Fund

Educational	
Activities	

Fund
Total

March	31,	
2013

March	31,	
2012

April	1,		
2012

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Assets

Current	assets

Cash 1,193,196 — — — — — — 1,193,196 634,686 1,625,130

Accounts	receivable — — — — — — — — 150,000 148

Due	from	the	Museum — — — — 2,840,201 — 2,840,201 2,840,201 2,840,201 2,840,201

Interfund	balances — 34,716* — — — 515,783* 550,499* — — —

1,193,196 34,716 — — 2,840,201 515,783 3,390,700 4,033,397 3,624,887 4,465,479

Investments	(Note	4) 1,016,334 8,396,988 2,833,369 11,767,748 734,304 770,351 24,502,760 25,519,094 22,993,973 23,544,393

2,209,530 8,431,704 2,833,369 11,767,748 3,574,505 1,286,134 27,893,460 29,552,491 26,618,860 28,009,872

Liabilities

Current	liabilities

Due	to	the	Museum 2,237,737 — — — — — — 2,237,737 1,851,118 3,357,971

Interfund	balances 426,892* — 21,134* 81,920* 20,553* — 123,607* — — —

2,664,629 — 21,134 81,920 20,553 — 123,607 2,237,737 1,851,118 3,357,971

Net assets

Restricted,	with	clause — 8,431,704 2,812,235 11,685,828 2,859,496 772,339 26,561,602 26,561,602 23,940,989 23,400,

Restricted,	without	clause — — — — 694,456 513,795 1,208,251 1,208,251 956,130 652,344

Unrestricted (455,099) — — — — — — (455,099) (129,377) 598,826

(455,099) 8,431,704 2,812,235 11,685,828 3,553,952 1,286,134 27,769,853 27,314,754 24,767,742 24,651,901

2,209,530 8,431,704 2,833,369 11,767,748 3,574,505 1,286,134 27,893,460 29,552,491 26,618,860 28,009,872,

Michel Décary
President
Trustee

Brian M. Levitt
Trustee

Approved by the Board

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT MARCH 31, 2013, MARCH 31, 2012, AND APRIL 1, 2011

* These amounts are not included in the total column since they offset each other.
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1. STATUS AND NATURE OF ACTIVITIES

The Montreal Museum of Fine Arts Foundation (the “Foundation”) is incorporated 
as a not-for-profit organization under Part III of the Companies Act (Quebec). The 
Foundation is a registered charity and a public foundation within the meaning of 
the Income Tax Act. The Foundation is involved mainly in soliciting and collecting 
donations, bequests and other contributions on behalf of the Montreal Museum of 
Fine Arts (the “Museum”) and in administering its funds. In addition, under Article 
4 of the agreement between the Foundation and the Museum, the Museum has 
entrusted the Foundation with the administration of certain investments. These 
investments are excluded from the Foundation’s financial statements.

2. ADOPTION OF A NEW ACCOUNTING FRAMEWORK

During the year ended March 31, 2013, the Foundation adopted the new Canadian 
accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations (the “new standards”) issued 
by the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”) and set out in Part 
III of the CICA Handbook. In accordance with Section 1501 of Part III of the CICA 
Handbook, First-time Adoption, (“Section 1501”), the date of transition to the 
new standards is April 1, 2011 and the Foundation has prepared and presented 
an opening statement of financial position at the date of transition to the new 
standards. This opening statement of financial position is the starting point for 
the Foundation accounting under the new standards. In its opening statement of 
financial position, under the recommendations of Section 1501, the Foundation:

a) recognized all assets and liabilities whose recognition is required by the new 
standards;

b) did not recognize items as assets or liabilities if the new standards do not 
permit such recognition;

c) reclassified items that it recognized previously as one type of asset, liability 
or component of net assets, but are recognized as a different type of asset, 
liability or component of net assets under the new standards; and

d) applied the new standards in measuring all recognized assets and liabilities.

The Foundation has elected to use the exemption for financial instruments that 
allows the Foundation to account for at the fair value of investments at the date 
of transition.

In accordance with the requirements of Section 1501, the accounting policies set 
out in Note 3 have been consistently applied to all years presented in the financial 
statements. The adjustments resulting from the adoption of the new standards 
have been applied retrospectively.

The impact of the adoption of the new standards is as follows:

INVESTMENTS 

Under the new standards, investments in the statement of financial position ac-
counted for at fair value can no longer be classified as available for sale, and 
the change in fair value must be recognized in the statement of operations. 
Under the Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”), the 
Foundation included the change in unrealized fair value on available-for-sale 
investments of the year in the statement of changes in net assets. The excess 
of revenue over expenses under Canadian GAAP for the year ended March 31, 
2012, was $1,571,913 and this excess of revenue over expenses has decreased 
by $1,456,072, representing the change in the unrealized fair value of invest-
ments of the year ended March 31, 2012. This adjustment had no impact on 
the net assets as at April 1, 2011, and March 31, 2012, with the exception that 
this amount was previously presented in a separate section of the statement of 
changes in net assets, which is no longer presented.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Under the new standards, the statement of cash flows is disclosed, while it was 
not previously.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian ac-
counting standards for not-for-profit organizations and reflect the following sig-
nificant accounting policies:

RESTRICTED FUND ACCOUNTING

The Foundation follows the restricted fund method, whereby resources are classi-
fied into funds in accordance with specified activities or objectives.

I GENERAL FUND
The General Fund reports the assets and liabilities, revenue and expenses re-
lated to the Foundation’s day-to-day operating activities as well as any other 
unrestricted fund item or restricted fund item, the materiality of which does 
not justify separate reporting.

II RESTRICTED FUNDS
Each restricted fund reports its assets and liabilities, revenue and expenses in 
accordance with its respective activities and purpose.

The funds report the allocation of restricted donations with a minimum ten-
year conservation clause and those with no similar clause separately. These 
donations are recorded in the statement of operations in the fund corres-
ponding to their restriction.

The Foundation contributes to funding the Museum’s operations through the 
earnings on the investments in accordance with the objective of each fund.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and liabilities are initially recognized at fair value when the 
Foundation becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial in-
strument. Subsequently, all financial instruments are measured at amortized cost 
except for investments, which are measured at fair value at the statement of fi-
nancial position date. The fair value of investments is based on closing bid prices. 
Fair value fluctuations including interest earned, interest accrued, gains and losses 
realized on disposal and unrealized gains and losses are disclosed in the statement 
of operations.

Transaction costs related to financial instruments measured at fair value are ex-
pensed as incurred. Transaction costs related to the other financial instruments 
are added to the carrying value of the asset or netted against the carrying value 
of the liability and are then recognized over the expected life of the instrument 
using the straight-line method. Any premium or discount related to an instrument 
measured at amortized cost is amortized over the expected life of the item using 
the straight-line method and recognized in the statement of operations as interest 
income or expense.

With respect to financial assets measured at cost or amortized cost, the Foundation 
recognizes in the statement of operations an impairment loss, if any, when it de-
termines that a significant adverse change has occurred during the period in the 
expected timing or amount of future cash flows. When the extent of impairment 
of a previously written-down asset decreases and the decrease can be related 
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously rec-
ognized impairment loss shall be reversed in the statement of operations in the 
period the reversal occurs.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MARCH 31, 2013, AND MARCH 31, 2012
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CONTRIBUTED SERVICES

Volunteers contribute a significant amount of time each year to the Foundation, 
and the Museum’s resources and premises are made available to the Foundation. 
Because of the difficulty of determining their fair value, contributed services are 
not recognized in the financial statements.

INVESTMENT INCOME

Investment income is recognized as revenue when earned.

USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian accounting 
standards for not-for-profit organizations requires management to make esti-
mates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial state-
ments and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting 
period. Actual results could differ from these estimates. 

4. INVESTMENTS

March 31, 2013 March	31,	2012 April	1,	2011

$ $ $

Cash 188,760 374,323 223,975

Money Market 64,147 29,177 57,547

Canadian bonds 6,789,554 - -

Canadian Bond Pooled Fund - 6,357,748 6,509,461

Canadian Equity Securities 8,857,377 7,372,178 8,295,856

U.S. and International 
Equity Securities

4,458,843 4,008,130 3,826,849

Canadian Equity Pooled Fund 595,680 644,201 -

International Equity 
Pooled Fund

3,548,399 3,271,501 3,670,423

Foundation of Greater 
Montreal Fund

1,016,334 936,715 960,282

25,519,094 22,993,973 23,544,393

5. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Donations made by the Foundation to the Museum are presented separately in 
the statement of operations.

The due from the Museum has no specific terms of repayment and interest.

The Museum pays certain expenses of the Foundation. These expenses are re-
imbursed to the Museum and are presented as an increase in donations to the 
Museum and amount to $279,790 ($424,782 in 2012).

These transactions are made in the normal course of operations and are recorded 
at the exchange amount.

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Due to its financial assets and liabilities, the Foundation is exposed to the follow-
ing risks related to its use of financial instruments.

MARKET RISK

Market risk is the risk to which investments are exposed that is caused by changes 
in interest rates, stock exchange indicators and the level of volatility of these rates.

CURRENCY RISK

The Foundation holds investments in U.S. and international securities and in mu-
tual funds invested in international securities. Consequently, fluctuations in curren-
cy will have an impact on the market value of these investments. It is the same for 
the income from these investments.

CREDIT RISK

The credit risk is due to the fact that the Foundation owns bonds. Therefore, there 
is a risk that the bond issuer will be unable to pay its obligations towards the 
Foundation, and this would have an impact on the assets of the Foundation.
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